
COUNCIL
AGENDA

Venue: Millom Palladium, St George's Road, Millom. LA18 5DW 
Date: Monday, 9th September, 2019
Time: 6.00 pm
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby           Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 25 June 2019 1 - 12

3. Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items 

4. Chairman's Announcements 

5. Petitions 

6. Questions from Members of the Public 

To receive questions from members of the public.  Maximum time allowed 
30 minutes.  Questions must be submitted to the Head of Governance and 
Commercial  at least three working days prior to the meeting.

7. Questions by Members 

a) Written questions to the Mayor or any other Member of the Council 
in relation to content of any recommendations or reports before 
the Council.  Questions must be submitted in writing to the Head or 
Governance and Commercial at least three working days prior to the 
meeting. (45 minutes allowed) – Procedure Rule 11.2.

b) Oral questions to the Mayor on any matter where the Council has 
powers or duties or which affects the Borough.  (60 minutes allowed 
plus any unused time from (a) above) – Procedure Rule 11.1.

8. Mayor's Executive Report 13 - 36

9. Former Assembly Rooms, Howgill Street 37 - 48

10. Code of Conduct Update 49 - 58

11. Bi-Annual Monitoring Officer Report 59 - 68

12. Constitution Changes Relating to Planning 69 - 82

Public Document Pack



13. 2019 - 2023 Commercial Strategy 83 - 118

14. Contract Standing Orders 119 - 160

15. Date and Time of the Next Meeting 

The next meeting of Council will be held on Monday 2nd December 2019 at 
2.00pm in Cleator Moor Civic Hall and Masonic Centre, Market Square, 
Cleator Moor, CA25 5AR.

Membership: Councillors David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, 
Sean Cullen, James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, 
Jeanette Forster, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, Joan Hully 
(Chair), Linda Jones-Bulman, John Kane, Charles Maudling (Deputy Chair), Ged McGrath, 
Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, 
Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson, Carl Walmsley, 
Eileen Weir, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



COUNCIL

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 25 JUNE 2019

Present: Councillor Joan Hully (Chair), Mayor Mike Starkie, Councillors David Banks, 
Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, James Date, Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster, 
Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Tom Higgins, John Kane, Charles Maudling, Michael McVeigh, 
Sam Meteer, Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, 
Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Eileen Weir, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson.  

Officers: Pat Graham (Chief Executive), Julie Betteridge (Executive Director, Operations), 
Steven Brown (Chief Financial Officer), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Mike Graham (Political 
Advisor), Nick Hayhurst (Planning Development Manager), Clive Willoughby (Democratic 
Services Officer), Lesley Taylor (PA to the Mayor), Rose Blaney (Electoral Services Officer), 
Michaela Peet (Assistant Solicitor) and James Young (Scrutiny Officer).

C 19/8 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jackie Bowman, Gemma Dinsdale, 
Linda Jones-Bulman, Ged McGrath, Peter Tyson and Carl Walmsley.

C 19/9 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 May 2019 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 May 2019 be signed by the Chair as 
a correct record.

C 19/10 Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items 

Councillor Joan Hully declared a non-pecuniary interest in Agenda Item 8 (Executive Report) 
due to being a Cleator Moor Town Councillor and Agenda Item 4 (Chair’s Announcements) 
due to her son being in the Armed Forces.

C 19/11 Chair's Announcements 

The Chair reminded Council that Saturday 29 June is Armed Forces Day and was proud to say 
that Copeland Council would again be flying the Armed Forces Flag at the Copeland Centre.

To reaffirm the commitment to a culture of mutual support between the members of the 
Armed Forces past and present and the Copeland community, Council had been asked to re-
sign the Armed Forces and Community Covenant on the community’s behalf.

Cumbria County Council, the county’s district councils and community partners were also 
doing the same.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



The Chair stated that it was her pleasure to sign the original covenant, alongside Councillor 
Geoff Garrity, in 2013. 

Mayor Mike Starkie and the Armed Forces Champion, Councillor Allan Forster, were then 
invited to re-sign the document to re-affirm this commitment.

Following the signing, the Chair stated that a copy of the covenant would be circulated to all 
members.

C 19/12 Petitions 

It was noted that no petitions had been received from members of the public.

C 19/13 Questions from Members of the Public 

The following question was asked by Mr Chris Reay: -

“As Mayor, I know that you will have many priorities for the improvement of the borough. 
However, can you tell me what is your number one priority to be achieved before the next 
council elections, i.e. within the next four years. Will you please make it known to the 
residents of the borough through the press, and, also keep everybody, not just councillors, up 
to date with progress.”

In response, the Mayor stated “My priority is to serve the people of Copeland and their best 
interests to the best of my ability for the entire four years I am in office. There are a number 
of priorities within that, not least working with all councillors across Copeland to support the 
most vulnerable in our community, which has always been a high priority from the day I first 
took office. To make sure we work hand in hand with all the volunteers and partners who 
provide the funding to deliver on some of these tremendous programmes that we’ve done in 
supporting the most vulnerable in our society.

There are a whole range of issues we will be looking at we will be looking to continue to 
attract investment, support entrepreneurs because that generates the wealth that support 
those in vulnerable positions so economic regeneration and our programme of growth within 
the borough prospers and be seen to be growing in all aspects.  All of this is drawn up in the 
Strategic Plan, which will be refined and developed as we go with the same core principles 
that have served us well for the last four years – this will be at the heart of what we do for the 
next four years.  What we will really be trying to do is raise ambitions of the people of 
Copeland and the Council.  It’s a time of huge opportunity and we will make sure we are doing 
everything in our power to seize those opportunities as they present themselves.”

In a supplementary question, Mr Chris Reay thanked the Mayor for his wide ranging ideas and 
for putting them forward.  He then asked that the Mayor tried to get them recognised by the 
press.

The Mayor said “I think it’s fair to say we get our fair share of publicity and I’m not shy in 
trying to promote the council and Copeland.”

Page 2



C 19/14 Questions by Members 

a) Written Questions 

Councillor John Kane asked the following question to the Mayor: -

" Both Whitehaven and Copeland councils are working together for the betterment of our 
major town Whitehaven with many exciting, innovative projects planned. However the 
dramatic increase in what can only be described as undesirables congregating in the heart of 
the town centre is turning it into a no go area for residents and visitors alike. Could I please 
ask what plans the collective agencies are putting in place to combat this and return the 
heartbeat of our community back to the people.”

In response, The Mayor stated:- 
“I like many people have become increasingly concerned about the anti-social behaviour 
taking place in Whitehaven Town Centre and my office has received a number of complaints 
in respect of anti-social behaviours and these, where appropriate, have been passed on to the 
police. In an e-mail dated June 10th 2019 from the police it states:-

Cumbria Constabulary have been aware of issue with drug users / drinkers hanging around the 
bus stop on Lowther Street and St Nicholas’ Gardens amongst other complaints in the Town 
Centre relating to drug use and antisocial behaviour.  Whitehaven has been declared a priority 
location for both the police and our partners in the Copeland Local Focus Hub and we have 
been working hard to deal with the issues at hand across a multi-agency platform.  We are 
working closely with our partners to resolve some of those issues in the town centre.  The 
Neighbourhood Policing Team as a whole have been involved in obtaining 10 civil injunctions 
sought by Home Group to keep prolific offenders and drug users out of Town Centre 
properties. 

As a responsible council, we have played our part ensuring public space protection orders are 
now in place.  These will help provide the police with the enforceable powers they need to 
combat those perpetrators of anti-social behaviours.  I want the police to know they have my 
100% support in the actions they are taking to ensure our streets parks and open spaces are 
free and are able to be enjoyed by everyone.  I want those that carry out these vile 
behaviours to understand that neither the police nor this Council will tolerate this kind of 
behaviour, not just in Whitehaven, but right across the borough.”

b) Oral Questions 

Question from Councillor Andy Pratt:  “Could the Mayor update us where we are with the 5 
year land supply work undertaken by Chris Hoban and when that document will be available? 

In response the Chief Executive stated “The five year land supply issue is something that is 
continuously monitored, we are pulling together a position statement on that at the moment 
which will be published next month.”

Question from Councillor Charles Maudling:  In relation to the anti-social behaviour in 
Whitehaven, it is Copeland Homes that have housed these people initially and they need to 
look at their leasing policy.  Shoplifting is a major problem, Copeland Homes need to be more 
pro-active

Page 3



The Mayor replied: “I accept what you are saying and we are taking a multi-agency approach 
with all the constituent parts around the table in the hub.  We are starting to get real 
successes with that approach. Collaborative working.  Your points are taken on board.”

Question from Councillor John Kane: “Over the last three years, out of 414 properties built 
only 21 of those are affordable homes.  That is only 5%.  Our policy is 15 – 25%.  Where are 
we with that?

In response the Mayor said: “Copeland is the 6th best borough in the country for affordable 
housing.  Our issue is not affordable housing it is a full range of housing across all spectrums.  
Affordable housing is not the biggest issue we have as we are already within the top 10 in the 
country for affordable properties.”

Response Chief Executive:  15% is in our adopted local plan.  When we discuss affordable 
homes we have to demonstrate a need.  There is a complexity around affordability in this 
borough.  There are parts of the borough where there is no need for affordable housing and 
parts where there is a requirement.  We have not met the target. There are also issues 
around developer viability in our housing market.  We have been encouraging and driving 
more development in the borough because we have been losing population out of this 
borough, into neighbouring boroughs and beyond. Priority and focus to meet all requirements 
of the housing market assessment where it is required and where the scheme is not made 
unviable. We have had an equal focus on the delivery of executive homes to retain some of 
those huge salaries that leave the borough.  The target will be reviewed, we are in the process 
of developing a new look plan and hope to go out to consultation towards the end of the 
year. The targets are historic.

C 19/15 Mayor's Executive Report 

In asking the Mayor, Mike Starkie to introduce his Executive Report, Members were advised 
that questions would be taken at the end of each portfolio report.  

Questions were invited on the Mayor’s portfolio

Question from Councillor Joan Hully:  Regarding the public realm work which is progressing 
with outline schemes agreed in Whitehaven, Cleator Moor, Millom and Egremont the Mayor 
was asked when this was agreed by Cleator Moor Town Council?

The Mayor confirmed this was in April/May 2019 and undertook to provide Councillor Hully 
with the date in writing.

Questions on Councillor David Moore’s portfolio were invited.

Question from Councillor Sam Meteer: With regard to GDF and Council’s position.
Have we received any response from Government regarding long-term storage and what 
remedial works will be carried out?  The storage facilities will not last until 2040.

Councillor David Moore replied: We have had nothing from Government; we have had 
discussions with Sellafield Ltd with regard to time zone stores.  We are well aware they may 

Page 4



need to extend the time of some of the storage facilities of the buildings and that will have to 
come forward.  GDF is still listed for 2040.  That is the Government position.  
We have a presentation to all Members shortly from RWM – they will be better placed to 
answer questions on behalf of the Government.
Councillor Moore undertook to chase the Government for a reply.

Question from Councillor John Kane:  Regarding the NDA Socio Economic Policy – it does not 
give a timeframe and how long that policy is for. We need a bit more meat on it.  I understand 
there was a meeting on 11th June – was there any more information on that?

In response Councillor David Moore stated:  This was part of the consultation.  NDA is 
currently consulting on it nationwide.  We have articulated our position, they are still 
developing their strategy.

In a supplementary question Councillor John Kane stated:  We are 70% of NDA estate.  We do 
not get the treatment we deserve and that warrants 70% of the estate.

Responding, Councillor Moore said:  the others think they are badly done to when they see 
the percentage of funding that is spent here in this area,  some sites receive very little 
funding. When the strategy comes out, I’m sure it will be reflected.

Question from Councillor Fee Wilson:  Progress on plutonium consolidation, storage and 
disposition.  Any further details on this position

In response Councillor David Moore stated:  “The position on plutonium is not clear.  
Government has not defined its position whether it’s a waste or a fuel.  We have been clear in 
West Cumbria that we believe it’s a fuel. And suggested a letter from the Mayor and MP be 
sent to pressurise Government to make clear decisions.”

Question Cllr Dave Banks:  A lot of plutonium at Sellafield is Military Plutonium. Every time we 
have asked to discuss what is going to happen to that plutonium we get silence. Two meeting 
have been arranged with the MoD and they have backed out of both.  Is it possible to do 
something else with military plutonium?

In response Councillor David Moore said This was raised at a Nuleaf meeting. The MoD need 
to be open and transparent. The NDA wants to talk to the MoD.
An offer has also been made by this Council to the MoD to come and discuss. 

In a supplementary question, Councillor Dave Banks asked if we can enquire whether 
anything else can be done with military plutonium?

Councillor Moore agreed to find out, and will provide a written answer.

Questions on Councillor Michael McVeigh’s portfolio were invited.

Councillor Joan Hully declared a personal interest at this stage of the meeting due to being a 
Social Housing tenant.

Question from Councillor Fee Wilson:  Concern that the site visit to Millom has been 
requested to Home Group several times in the last months, but has not yet happened.

Page 5



In response Councillor Mike McVeigh said Home Group have been notified of their failure to 
liaise with ward councillors and will raise at the next meeting in July.

Questions on Councillor Gwynneth Everett’s portfolio were invited.

Question from Councillor Andy Pratt:  Regarding The Beacon, Are we putting the 
Beacon Portal to the best use and promoting in the best way as a facility?

Responding, Councillor Gwynneth Everett stated that Schools make good use of the facilities 
that are there and agreed to provide Councillor Pratt with the figures.

The Mayor added that the Portal is not being used to its capacity or anywhere near. It’s a 
relatively new building.  We are using the building ourselves and next month the Future 
Opportunities Group meeting is taking place and the reason for that is that it will be full of the 
Chief Executive’s and senior players  of all the major organisations in Copeland and making 
people more aware through use of what the facility can offer.  We are looking at exploring 
ways to market the Portal.  It is a fantastic facility.

Question from Councillor Fee Wilson:  I’d like to see Well Copeland/Well Millom not just a 
Well Whitehaven. An invitation was extended to the Portfolio Holder to go to Millom for a 
walk-around.

Councillor Gwynneth Everett:  said she would be delighted to accept the invitation.  

The Mayor added that the Well Whitehaven programme is part of the Well North Programme 
run by Lord Mawson.  We were very fortunate to become part of, there was lots of central 
funding and the demographics led to that being the exact place on Mirehouse where that 
project was held.  In terms of a Well Copeland, we do all kinds of things in this Council which 
could come under the title of Well Copeland. The Realising our Potential programme is just 
one.  Part of that is based in the Beggars Theatre in Millom right through to being 
administered at the Lakes College right on the other tip of the borough.  That’s one example 
of a fantastic project we are delivering for the whole of Copeland.

Howgill, Pre Birth and Beyond, the social isolation projects they were all Copeland wide.  
There are many things we could badge as Well Copeland.  It could be a tag line we could use.  
It would be remiss of me not to let anyone lose sight of the massive impact we have had 
throughout this borough in tackling social isolation and deprivation, domestic violence and all 
the other blights on society.  Over the last four years, I am more proud of what we have done 
in that area than any other from Millom to Distington.  It will remain an absolute priority for 
every inch of this borough for the next four years.

Questions on Councillor Steven Morgan’s portfolio were invited.

Councillor Morgan began by thanking the Parks and Open Spaces team for the outstanding 
work they did in St Nicholas’ Gardens, Whitehaven.

Question from Councillor Sam Meteer:  Concerning the amount of money from green waste 
recycling, if there is any money to be made and, going in the commercial direction, we should 
look at that in more detail rather than giving it to a private contractor.

Page 6



In response Councillor Steve Morgan agreed that it sounds very practical and he would look 
into it. Councillor Meteer was thanked for his comments. 
 
Question from Councillor Graham Calvin: “I’ve heard that there is going to be a review of 
some of the satellite recycling stations. When will this review take place and is this factual?”

Responding Councillor Steve Morgan stated that it is factual, and that he had been informed 
that the study had begun.  He was not sure when it would be finished but undertook to find 
out and provide Councillor Calvin with that information.

RESOLVED: That the Mayor’s Executive report be noted.  

C 19/16 Social Inclusion Policy 

Consideration was given to a report revising the Social Inclusion Policy. A revised policy was 
attached to the agenda item which included a revised social inclusion programme.

Mayor Mike Starkie moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor David Moore.

Councillor Dave Banks declared an Interest due to being a Director of Phoenix Enterprise 
Centre and having a daughter employed by Calderwood House.

RESOLVED: that 
a) The revised Social Inclusion Policy be approved, and
b) The 2019/2020 Social Inclusion Programme be noted.

C 19/17 Annual Scrutiny Report 

Consideration was given to the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2018-2019.

Councillor Fee Wilson highlighted the work completed by a number of Task and Finish Groups 
and by Councillors who are no longer on the Council. It was stated that Task and Finish 
Groups are open to all Councillors, not just those on Overview and Scrutiny and encouraged 
all Councillors to get involved.
 
Councillor Fee Wilson moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor Brian O’Kane.

RESOLVED: that the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2018-2019 be noted.

C 19/18 Constitution Changes relating to Planning 

Consideration was given to a report proposing changes to the Council’s Constitution relating 
to Planning.

Councillor David Moore moved the report, which was seconded by Mayor Mike Starkie.

Page 7



Councillor Graham Calvin asked why a process that works was being changed.

Councillor David Moore replied that it was about legalities and defending appeals.  Making 
sure decisions are sound legally and bringing Copeland back into line with other neighbouring 
local councils.

The Chief Executive, supported by the Solicitor, then provided Council with a summary of the 
proposed changes and the reasons why those proposed changes were being put forward, 
which was to protect the Planning process. 

During consideration of this item Members felt that this should be looked at by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

It was moved by Councillor Andy Pratt by way of an amendment duly seconded and on a 
show of hands 

RESOLVED – That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be asked to look at the proposed 
changes to the Council Constitution Relating to Planning and report back to Council.

C 19/19 2019/2020 Capital Programme update 

Consideration was given to the 2019/2020 Capital Programme Update Report.

Mayor Mike Starkie moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor David Moore.

Councillor Tom Higgins asked for clarification regarding the ‘borrowing the Council has 
already taken out’, what and when?

The Chief Finance Officer replied that borrowing of £5M was taken out in 2002 that has not 
been utilised. It is proposed to use £950,000 of that.

RESOLVED: that changes to the 2019/2020 Capital Programme giving a revised budget of 
£8.961m as set out in the agenda report be agreed.

C 19/20 The Gambling Act 2005 - Statement of Licensing Policy 

Consideration was given to the Gambling Act 2005 – Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy.

Councillor Andy Pratt as Chair of Licensing Committee moved the report, which was seconded 
by Councillor Dave Banks.

Councillor Sam Meteer requested that a separate map for Thornhill be included.

Councillor Hugh Branney expressed his pleasure that the report included ‘vulnerable young 
adults’.

Councillor John Kane stated that there was no evidence of consultation with voluntary 
organisations or training given to staff of betting companies.  

Page 8



Councillor Andy Pratt replied that a full list of consultees was included in the report and 
undertook to take the policy back to the Licensing Committee to include any organisation 
missed in future consultations.

Councillor Doug Wilson asked if the Overview and Scrutiny Committee could form a working 
party to look at provisions and safeguarding.

In reply the Solicitor advised Council that by law, licensing is reserved for the Licensing 
Committee and only they can deal with this matter. Councillor Pratt indicated that the 
Licensing Committee would consider the request. 

Councillor Joan Hully declared an interest at this point due to helping with a vulnerable group.

RESOLVED: that the revised Gambling Act 2005 – Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy be 
approved and adopted.

It was then moved by Councillor Joan Hully duly seconded and agreed that a 10 minute 
adjournment take place and the meeting stood ADJOURNED.

(Note: Councillor Jeffrey Hailes left the meeting.)
 
RECONVENED

C 19/21 Local Government Ethical Standards 

Consideration was given to a report updating Council on Local Government Ethical Standards.

Councillor David Moore moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor Steven Morgan.

Councillors Joan Hully and Graham Calvin advised Council that they had attended a Standards 
training event in Carlisle on 24 June 2019 which they considered was excellent and 
recommended that all Councillors should attend.

Council thanked the officers for all the training sessions that had been arranged since the 
election.

The Chief Executive thanked Members for their feedback and agreed to look into the 
possibility of arranging further training sessions regarding Standards. 

RESOLVED: that

a) The report be noted, and
b) The Monitoring Officer consider the list of best practice recommendations and discuss 

with the Cumbrian Monitoring Officers Group and CALC any potential revisions to the 
existing code of conduct and/or guidance to take account of these recommendations 
and report back to the Standards and Ethics Committee.

Page 9



C 19/22 Beacon Commercial Funding Arrangements 

Consideration was given to a report regarding the Beacon Museum Commercial Funding 
Arrangements.

Councillor Gwynneth Everett moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor Steven 
Morgan.

Councillor Hugh Branney commented that The Beacon was a wonderful advert for the Council 
and blockbuster exhibitions also bring in huge benefits to the local economy.

RESOLVED: that

a) The update on the Beacon Museum and its plans for 2019/20 be noted, and
b) It be agreed to receive and spend an annual grant of not more than £325,000 for the
       next five years as complementary to the commercial lease and agreed for the 
       Sellafield Story under delegation to the Council’s lawyer.

C 19/23 Exclusion of Press and Public 

RESOLVED – That the press and public be excluded for the remaining item items of business in 
view of likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 of part 1 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

Note: Julie Betteridge (Executive Director Operations) and Steven Brown (Chief Finance 
Officer) left the meeting. 

C 19/24 Restructuring of Senior Management 

Consideration was given to a report introduced by the Chief Executive regarding the Re-
organisation of the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT). 
 
Mayor Mike Starkie moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor David Moore.
 
RESOLVED – that 

a)      the Re-organisation of the Corporate Leadership Team report be supported and
         recommended to Full Council,

b)      the Head of Paid Service be delegated to make (a) any required amendments to the Job 
         Descriptions of newly created posts and (b) in consultation with the Chair of the 
         Standards and Ethics Committee, amendments required to the Council’s Constitution to 
         reflect the reallocation of responsibilities (in accordance with the revised structure) and 
         name changes,

c)     the designation of the statutory roles of Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer to the 
        Director of Financial Resources and the Director of Corporate Services and Commercial
        Strategy respectively be agreed, and

Page 10



d)      following the 14 day consultation period referred to in paragraph 1.7 of the agenda
          report that CLT review the responses in accordance with the Council’s Managing 
          Changing Policies and that if no substantial comments have been received that final 
          agreement to the proposals be made by the Head of Paid Service with the agreement of 
          the Chair of the Personnel Panel; that if substantial comments are made that the matter 
          be considered by the Personnel Panel.

In public

C 19/25 Date and Time of the Next Meeting 

It was noted that the next meeting of Council would be held at 6:00pm on Monday 9th 
September 2019 at the Millom Palladium, St George’s Road, Millom.

The Meeting closed at 4.25 pm 

Chair

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Full Council 090919

1

Executive Report to Full Council – 9 September 2019

Strategic Leadership - Mayor Mike Starkie

Communications 

We publicised the announcement of our ambitious vision to transform Whitehaven, in a 
multi-million pound scheme, highlighting the success of our Future High Streets bid. We will 
now receive £150,000 to develop a full business case for the proposal and will continue to 
help keep all parties informed. The announcement was met with praise for our Economic 
Regeneration team and wide spread media coverage across the borough. This wasn’t our 
only announcement for the team in July with Eric Barker appointed to lead the Connecting 
Cumbria’s Hidden Coast project. The proposed year-round challenge route continues to gain 
positive coverage as new developments occur.

The Communications team has supported our Housing team in the design and production of 
our newly launched Housing Strategy. The strategy is a pillar document for the council and 
will provide the focus and direction for our Housing team over the next four years. We have 
also helped publicise the work of the team in relation to the newly formed Cumbria and 
Lancaster Community Led Housing Hub and the administration of 150 Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFGs).

Our Parks and Open Spaces team have benefited from the support of the Communications 
Team in celebrating ‘Love Parks Week’ in mid-July. A series of events was held for staff, 
members and the public to celebrate our green spaces with the events widely covered by 
the media. This wasn’t the only success for the Parks and Open Spaces team this summer 
with the announcement of a £60,000 investment, from the ‘Get Cumbria Buzzing’ project. 
The project aims to help to join the fight in protecting and reintroducing pollinators in West 
Cumbria, with the announcement receiving positive praise from residents and the media.  

The Communications Team supported colleagues in elections with the annual canvas 
communications, helping to ensure residents are informed and do not lose their right to 
vote. This coupled with an ongoing public consultation into our polling arrangements has 
seen our Elections team thrust into the spotlight with our Electoral and Democratic Services 
Manager featured in a bespoke media piece educating readers in the rules and regulations 
of the elections processes.

A council-wide staff survey has taken place gathering the thoughts and opinions of 
colleagues across our services. The communications team has been integral in the creation 
and execution of the survey and will work alongside our Corporate Leadership and Human 
Resources teams to evaluate the findings, which will help shape the future of our 
organisation. 

The Council’s Pride of Place campaign, to tackle issues that blight our communities, 
continues to go from strength-to-strength with a fixed media campaign secured for a second 
year running. The weekly full-page spread in local publication, The Whitehaven News, shines 
a light on the work of our services, partners and residents to combat low-level nuisance 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



Full Council 090919

2

issues in the borough and showcase our building grants scheme which has transformed our 
borough’s high streets. 

Other notable media coverage for this period includes:

 The rise in homelessness in our borough 
 The success of our domestic abuse support service
 The Council’s successful procurement process overhaul  
 Planning approval for the crematorium revamp
 The Council’s record success in planning appeals
 Copeland Hub’s Junior Award Scheme for schools project
 A business boost for Copeland with 129 business opened or launched over the last 

year

Finance 

The draft Statement of Accounts were published on our website on 31 July 2019, the 
accompanying Annual Governance Statement will be issued shortly.  Once the Audit Reports 
have been issued a final set of Accounts will be published for both 2017/18 and 2018/19.

Remote work has started on the External Audit for 2017/18 with the Finance team working 
on providing all the necessary evidence to Grant Thornton as quickly as possible.

Cumbria LEP

Cumbria LEP is starting negotiation with Government towards agreeing a Cumbria Local 
Industrial Strategy (LIS).  The LIS has been developed with support and input from partners, 
including ourselves as members of the Steering Group, which continues to meet and 
consider Government feedback and will be updated on the negotiations as they progress.  

The LEP will be hosting an open Annual General Meeting on 27th September 2019.  It will 
open at 1:30pm with a networking lunch, before moving into the formal AGM at 2pm.

Diversification and Growth:

Copeland Tourism Sector Development

Our new Tourism Sector Development Officer will join the Council on 16th September to 
support diversification of the Copeland economy and to stimulate growth in our tourism 
sector.  The new programme will support the promotion of existing attractions and tourism 
infrastructure; address and reduce current challenges within the tourism sector; create new 
products, market opportunities and increase visitor numbers to Copeland, working closely 
with our Connecting Cumbria’s Hidden Coast Programme.

Page 14



Full Council 090919

3

We are linked into discussions with Cumbria LEP, Cumbria Tourism, LDNPA and our MP 
towards supporting a Tourism Sector Deal and promoting Cumbria as part of a Tourism 
Action Zone and were part of a recent workshop led by the Lake District National Park to 
draw partners together to vision the potential for tourism along the west coast.

Connecting Cumbria’s Hidden Coast Programme

Eric Barker has been appointed as our Programme Officer to oversee the delivery of the 
Hidden Coast initiative.  The different elements of the Hidden Coast Programme are now 
being developed including the creation of a Challenge route, which is currently out to tender 
through the Chest.  The Wheels for All initiative, which aims to improve access to the route 
as it develops, has appointed a worker to develop the scheme, plus we are currently 
developing commissioning processes to support the implementation of creative arts along 
the trail and for the design and build of the Silecroft café.

Town Centre Regeneration:

High Streets Funding

Following confirmation from MHCLG that our Future High Streets Fund Expression of 
Interest (EOI) was successful, we have been starting the process of developing our scheme 
to underpin the submission of a full business case for funding in the new year.  The scheme 
will focus on connecting our town centre with the harbour and developing new uses of key 
buildings and reframing our high street from King Street to the harbourside.  We are still 
waiting for the detail of funding that is available to develop the business case and anticipate 
receiving further information in early September.  

In July we submitted an EOI to Historic England to develop a High Streets Heritage Action 
Zone in Cleator Moor.  The EOI details a scheme for Cleator Moor town square to bring 
vacant buildings back into use; deliver public realm and heritage skills and an engagement 
programme, as well as creating a community hub through the central buildings.  We 
anticipate hearing the outcome in September.

Copeland Pride of Place – Town Centre Improvement scheme

The Building Grants scheme has continued to deliver across the Borough and we have now 
awarded 112 building grants, totalling £313,906, with a final two still to process that are in 
our planning system.  Of those awarded 87 are now complete, with the Council paying out 
£236,236 in grants across our borough, attracting over £361,955 in private match funds.

The public realm work is paused in Whitehaven and Cleator Moor to fall in line with 
timelines against the above High Streets funding applications, while schemes for Millom and 
Egremont will continue to be drawn up as costed designs for further engagement with the 
Town Councils and localities.  

Page 15



Full Council 090919

4

Nuclear and Corporate Services – Deputy Mayor Councillor David Moore

Nuclear Projects Updates

The Moorside Project

Members will recall that Toshiba/NuGeneration Ltd ceased any further development of the 
Moorside Project in March this year, when the site returned to the ownership of the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority (NDA).

Since then there are two developments for Members’ interest.

 Regulated Asset Base (RAB) model for new nuclear projects

On 22 July, Government launched a consultation process seeking views, on their proposals 
for a Regulated Asset Base (RAB) funding model for new nuclear projects, and to seek views 
from stakeholders on its high-level design principles. 

In recognition of the difficulties experienced by developers of large-scale nuclear power-
generation projects Government have developed a revised funding model that they propose 
will be sustainable and represent value for money for consumers. RAB-funded infrastructure 
schemes have attracted investment from the private sector of around £160 billion over the 
last 30 years. The RAB model involves an economic regulator granting a licence to a 
company to charge a regulated price to users of the infrastructure. 

The Government has concluded that by providing regulated returns a RAB model has the 
potential to reduce the cost of raising private finance for new nuclear projects, thereby 
reducing consumer bills and maximising value for money for consumers and taxpayers. The 
consultation closes on 14 October. 

In the introduction to the consultation, Government identifies the important role that 
nuclear power plants play currently, in generating around 20% of our power needs and in 
the future to meet growing demands and contribute to our targets around zero greenhouse-
gas emissions by 2050. The document states that Government ‘should be prepared to 
support further new nuclear projects in the years ahead, if they can be delivered at a 
competitive price and each individual project represents value for money’.

The primary objective of a nuclear RAB model would be to enable the delivery of new 
nuclear projects and reduce the cost of this additional nuclear capacity. This would be 
achieved through: 

a) attracting private capital to finance new nuclear projects in the UK; 
b) incentivising the private sector, through robust regulatory mechanisms and 

competition where possible, to deliver new nuclear projects on time and to budget; 
and 

c) enabling a financing structure and cost of capital, which is as efficient as possible in 
order to reduce the total financing costs of new nuclear projects to consumers.  

Page 16



Full Council 090919

5

The Government envisage that in order to attract low cost capital at the scale required a 
nuclear RAB model would have the following key elements: 

a) Government protection for investors and consumers against specific remote, low 
probability but high impact risk events, through a set of contractual arrangements 
(the ‘Government Support Package’ or ‘GSP’); 

b) A fair sharing of costs and risks between consumers and investors, established 
through an ‘Economic Regulatory Regime’ (ERR);  

c) An economic regulator (the ‘Regulator’) to operate the ERR; and 
d) A route for funds to be raised from energy suppliers to support new nuclear projects, 

with the amount set through the ERR, during both the construction and operational 
phases (the ‘Revenue Stream’).

Whilst the consultation is clearly aimed at nuclear new build developers and financiers it is 
proposed that the Council submit a high-level response to the consultation. Following 
discussion at the most recent SNEB meeting the final submission will be agreed between the 
Chair of SNEB, the Chief Executive and myself.  

 New Nuclear Local Authorities Group (NNLAG) – Conference and Hinkley Point 
Longitudinal Study

The New Nuclear Local Authorities Group (NNLAG) is a special interest group of the Local 
Government Association. Its membership is made up of those local authorities who are 
involved in and/or impacted by proposals for new large-scale nuclear new build projects. 
Copeland Borough Council is a member, and the Isle of Anglesey County Council currently 
lead the organisation’s secretarial and administrative support. 

NNLAG recently held its biennial conference in Somerset between 19 and 21 June.  The 
Council was represented by myself Cllr Moore, Nuclear and Corporate Services Portfolio 
Holder and Mitchell McCombe, Nuclear Sector Development Officer. The conference 
received a presentation from Chris Bowbrick, Deputy Director for Nuclear Generation Policy, 
Sector Deal and International at the Department for Business Energy and Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) on the Government’s clean growth and zero carbon ambitions and the case for 
nuclear new build. There was then an opportunity to answer questions on the Energy White 
Paper and Regulatory Asset Base model for nuclear projects.  The conference also included 
updates from all local authorities hosting proposals for new nuclear sites. Additionally the 
conference heard from the Heart of the South West LEP, the National College for Nuclear 
Southern Hub and the local Construction, Skills, & Innovation Centre. Delegates were then 
provided with an opportunity to visit these facilities as well as visit the Hinkley Point C 
construction site.

The conference also heard an update from consultants from Oxford Brookes University 
appointed to carry out a ‘Longitudinal Study’ of the economic impacts of Hinkley Point C 

Page 17



Full Council 090919

6

power station development. Members may recall that the Council agreed to be a 
contributing partner to the study which will provide useful learning and recommendations 
for future NNB projects, and will be helpful to us if/when the Moorside project comes back 
on stream.  It could also be relevant for other NSIPs and major projects. The final draft of 
the report is expected in September. 

Finally, publication by Government of a revised National Policy Statement (NPS) for new 
nuclear power stations to cover the period 2026 to 2035 is still awaited. The NPS as well as 
providing the planning and development guidance for developers to develop their proposals 
for a Development Consent Order application and the Planning Inspectorate to assess those 
applications, should also confirm the nomination of the Moorside for inclusion within the 
range of sites expected to be deployed within this period.

Geological Disposal Infrastructure Siting Process

Members will recall that in December of last year, Government published the policy 
document ‘Working with Communities: long term management of higher activity radioactive 
wastes’, which explains how Government will engage with local authorities and 
communities throughout the siting process, to find a willing community and a suitable site 
for a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF). Since then a number of briefing sessions have been 
held with Members to explore the details of the new process, including the most recent 
held on 17 July when officials from Radioactive Waste Management (RWM) Ltd attended. 
Members will recall that RWM are tasked by Government with taking forward the 
implementation of the Government’s policy

Members are reminded that the Council’s current position regarding the Government’s 
process to find a willing community and suitable site for a GDF is as per the Council 
Statement following Government’s launch of ‘Implementing Geological Disposal – Working 
with Communities’ in December 2018 which is repeated below.

The Council supports the Government’s approach to the safe disposal of higher radioactive 
wastes through the provision of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) and, as host community 
for the vast majority of the wastes that would be disposed of in the GDF, we will continue to 
press the Government to progress the process, recognising the risk to the environment and 
local communities that the current interim storage of this waste and the continued delay in 
bringing forward a site for a GDF, presents. 

At this stage, the Council has no preference or position with regard to the location of the 
GDF locally or nationally but recognises that the Copeland community is affected regardless 
of the final choice of site for a GDF. 

The Council takes the view that the current planning assumption date for the provision of 
the GDF of 2040 is unrealistic and will seek from Government a more realistic timescale and 
information on what the plans are for long-term storage of these waste materials.

Page 18



Full Council 090919

7

 National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal Infrastructure

In July, Government published the ‘National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological Disposal 
Infrastructure’ (see link https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-policy-
statement-for-geological-disposal-infrastructure). This followed a period of consultation 
between January and April on a draft document, on which the Council, through discussion at 
meetings of the SNEB, provided comments. Members will recall that the proposal for a GDF 
had previously been determined as a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) 
under the Planning Act 2008 and as such, Government is required to prepare a NPS. The aim 
of the NPS is to:

1) Guide the developer (RWM Ltd) in preparing any application for development 
consent;

2) Guide the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) to consider the application; and
3) Provide the framework to allow the Secretary of State to consider the 

recommendation from PINS and make a decision on the Development Consent 
Application.  

The NPS for geological disposal covers:

 Any deep geological facility for disposing of waste; and
 The deep borehole investigations necessary to characterise the geology at a 

particular site to enable assessment of the site’s suitability.
The NPS sets out:

 The Infrastructure covered by the NPS;
 Considerations for (a) borehole investigations and (b) the development of the GDF 

itself along with related sustainability and habitats considerations as assessed by the 
Strategic Environmental

Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessments (HRA);

 The policy framework for the GDF and the need for geological disposal 
infrastructure;

 Assessment principles including those around Health, Safety, Security and 
Environment; and

 Impacts and Mitigation across a broad range of economic, social, health and 
environmental considerations.

As with any Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project, the role of local planning 
authorities is limited.  However, within any NSIP there are requirements to consult 
communities, statutory bodies and other interested parties:

 Before submitting an application for development consent, the Planning Act 2008 
requires that the development must be publicised, and a ‘Statement of Community 
Consultation’ produced.

 Once the application for development consent is submitted to the Secretary of State 
(SoS), the Planning Inspectorate has a period of 28 days to decide if the application 

Page 19



Full Council 090919

8

meets the standard required to be accepted for examination. During this period, 
local authorities will be invited to make representations to the SoS regarding their 
view on whether consultation was adequate.

 If an application is accepted, there will be a 3-month ‘pre-examination’ phase during 
which the public will be able to provide their views on the application. Everyone who 
makes a relevant representation will be invited to attend a meeting chaired by an 
Inspector.

 The Planning Inspectorate then has 6 months to carry out their examination of the 
application. Relevant local authorities will be able to submit Local Impact Reports 
and those who made representations in the ‘pre-examination’ phase will be able to 
provide more information on their views. Chapter 5 of the NPS for the GDF provides 
policy and guidance on generic impacts that may assist Local Planning Authorities in 
preparing Local Impact Reports.

 Further Member briefing sessions

At the Member briefing session in July a number of questions relating to the technical 
aspects of a GDF were raised. In view of this and as part of the continuing programme to 
understand the reasons why GDF is the Governments chosen long term management 
option, an invitation to representatives from the Committee on Radioactive Waste 
Management (CoRWM) to attend a future Members briefing session and this has been 
arranged for Tuesday 1st October at 5pm at Egremont Rugby Club.

Future Missions

 Small Modular Reactors (UK SMR)+

On 22 August, Cllr Moore and Copeland’s Nuclear Sector Development Manager attended a 
meeting called by Copeland MP, Trudy Harrison, with representatives from the UK SMR 
project, along with Britain’s Energy Coast Business Cluster and supply chain representatives. 
This was an initial engagement to showcase Copeland’s nuclear capability, and to 
understand the potential for West Cumbria to support the project.

 Advanced Modular Reactors

There has been a delay to the announcement of the technology vendors who will progress 
to Phase 2 of the governments Advanced Modular Reactor competition, which was 
expected in June. Council officers continue to engage through a “Team Cumbria” approach.

Page 20



Full Council 090919

9

Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board (SNEB) 

At the meeting of the Board (12th August), Members received reports on;

 The Nuclear Decommissioning Authority’s Mission Progress Report, which highlights 
estate-wide progress against the NDA’s 5-year strategy. Members had the chance to 
question NDA representatives directly, and feedback has been sent by letter to the 
NDA;

 An update on developments relating to the Nuclear Sector Deal, including the 
announcement of £18m of Industrial Strategy Challenge Funding for the UK Small 
Modular Reactor project, and the publication of a National Decommissioning and 
Waste Management Pipeline;

 An update from the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership Nuclear Sector Panel;
 An update on the Council’s Nuclear Prospectus, which is under development. It was 

agreed that a focus group session will be arranged for members of SNEB to input to 
this process;

 Progress on the annual update to the Council’s Nuclear Position Statements ,which 
aim to provide a consistent position for Members and officers of the Council’s 
engagement with our nuclear partners, communities and supply chain, and which 
recognize the significant impact that the nuclear sector has on the well-bring of 
Copeland and its communities.

NDA Updates

 NDA Socio-Economic Strategy

As part of the response to the report of the Government’s Public Accounts Committee, the 
NDA have committed to preparing a revised socio-economic strategy and are working with 
partners to gather inputs to the draft strategy in advance of a consultation process later this 
year. Further to the initial meetings in June, a further session has been arranged in 
September, which will focus on skills.

Sellafield Updates

 Sellafield Ltd Transformation Programme

Officers continue to work alongside Sellafield colleagues on a range of initiatives to ensure 
that the impacts of Transformation on the local economy and local communities are 
minimised and the opportunities for future business opportunities and diversification are 
maximised.

 Programme and Project Partners

The Programme and Project Partners framework, which will deliver up to £7Bn of capital 
projects over the next 20 years to support decommissioning of the Sellafield site, is in the 

Page 21



Full Council 090919

10

mobilisation phase. The five Lot Partners, including Sellafield, are developing integrated 
strategies for Labour, Supply Chain and Social Impact. The Council continues to push for 
early engagement in the development of these strategies, particularly Social Impact. 

 Transport and Movement Strategy and Plan

In response to the Council’s comments on the draft Transport and Movement Plan, 
Sellafield Ltd has commissioned a travel survey to underpin the revised plan. Council officers 
continue to engage with Sellafield Ltd.’s spatial planning teams to progress this work.

 Member’s Site Visit

On 14th August, Sellafield Ltd welcomed Members on a site visit, including a walk-round of 
the Separation Area, the location of the site’s historic nuclear facilities. Over lunch, 
Members met with Jamie Reed, Sellafield Head of Development and Community Relations, 
and former Copeland MP.

Other Updates

On 4 September, the Council’s Nuclear Sector Development Manager supported a 
workshop, led by Britain’s Energy Coast Business Cluster, to bring together local technology 
companies to understand the challenges to innovation in the nuclear sector. The output of 
this workshop will provide a local perspective to the work of the Nuclear Sector Deal 
Research & Development subgroup, to meet the UK’s legacy cost reduction targets.

Human Resources Update 

The key activities within the Section since June 2019 has been:

Support to the Management of Change Process

Area Update
Corporate Leadership Team Consultation is complete and key roles have been 

assimilated from 1st August 2019.  Next stage is to 
recruit for the Head of Operations and Commercial 
Services.

Information Communications 
Technology

Consultation has finished on 23 August 2019.  Next 
stage is to implement the recommendations.

Finance Consultation has finished on 21 August 2019.  Next 
stage is to implement the recommendations.

Page 22



Full Council 090919

11

Vacancy Management

There has been key recruitment activity for 12 positions in operational areas of Community 
Services, Open Spaces, Strategic Planning, Beacon, ICT, Strategic Housing and Copeland 
Community Fund.

Continue to review the Human Resources Policies and Processes

We are currently working on the review of the Agile Working Policy with a proposed 
implementation date of October 2019.

Embed the Aim High Process

The People Strategy has been developed and has identified key areas to address so that the 
Council can deliver an effective, modern, 21st century business raising income through 
commericialisation where possible.   

The Council is still delivering our Core Curriculum of learning and development for all 
employees and since June has delivered skills on focused on increasing skills within health 
and safety including mental health first aid. The next quarter priorities are updated 
Safeguarding Level 1 and IOSH working safely courses.  

Developing the Staff Survey

The employee survey has been launched, with a deadline at the end of August.  The results 
will be briefed to the workforce in September 2019.

Maintaining a Safe Environment

The Council has started its journey towards achieving ISO 45001. This measurable
scope will be:

 Completed Occupational Health & Safety (OH&S) Policy that reinforces the 
objectives of the organisation while taking into account its internal and external 
contexts

 Establishment, implementation, and maintenance of an OH&S management 
system

 Continual improvement of OH&S performance
 Assured conformity to the OH&S policy
 Demonstration of compliance with this ISO Standard

To start the journey a health and safety survey has been launched with an end of August 
deadline, the results will be briefed to the workforce in September 2019.

Page 23



Full Council 090919

12

Electoral and Democratic Services

Annual Canvass

The team are currently busy undertaking the annual canvass, with publication of the new 
electoral register due on 1 December 2019. Household enquiry forms have been sent to a 
total of 33,000 properties, with 10,800 reminder forms issued on 28 August 2019.   

Polling District Review

The review of polling districts and polling places, as required under Section 18 of the 
Representation of the People Act 1983 is ongoing. 
The second (and final) consultation period runs until 23 September 2019 and all details can 
be found at:  www.copeland.gov.uk/section/polling-district-and-polling-places-review

Elections

A by-election for the Sneckyeat South Ward of Whitehaven Town Council will take place on 
a date to be confirmed by the Returning Officer. 
  
Preparation work has commenced for the Police and Crime Commissioner Elections taking 
place in May 2020.

Page 24

http://www.copeland.gov.uk/section/polling-district-and-polling-places-review


Full Council 090919

13

Environment and Place – Councillor Michael McVeigh

Strategic Housing

Review of the CBC Homelessness Strategy

The team have been working on a review of the Council’s Homelessness strategy.  The 
Council is required by the MHCLG to have such a strategy and publishes a new one every 5 
years.  This will be Copeland Councils 4th document and will cover 2019-2024.  The Strategy 
has been through consultation with our partners and was presented to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 22nd August, once changes have been made as a result of any OSC 
feedback, it will be presented to the Executive.  A further update will be provided in the next 
Portfolio Holders report.

The strategy sets out our priorities over the next 5 years and is supported by an operational 
delivery plan.  This will be overseen by the Copeland Housing Partnership and OSC.  

Achievements

It is important to recognise the achievement made under the last strategy and action plan:

 Partnership work gone from strength to strength means more supported housing 
has been delivered: 

1) Re-opening of Lowther Street hostel for under 24s
2) Opening of Bakewell House homes for Young Mums
3) Opening of Calderwood Move-on flats at Wollston Hall

 Copeland Police/ASB hub has greatly improved work with and management of risky 
and hard to engage homeless people

 Rough Sleeper provision has been strengthened as a result of CBC grants

 The Domestic Abuse Project has supported over 70 adults and over 100 children to 
leave of abusive situations at home

Current Environment

2018 saw the biggest change in homelessness legislation since the 1970’s, we now have a 
duty to help everyone facing homelessness for a longer period of time, not just those with 
children or vulnerable through abuse or illness as under the previous law.   

Copeland has always gone over and above its basic legal duties and so the transition has 
been less challenging for this Council than for some other.  Nevertheless, the new law has 
brought an increase in customers through greater demand for our advice services.  For 
instance, in 2016 we placed 23 households in temporary accommodation.  In 2018 that rose 
to 40.

Locally our challenges are not necessarily the same as the big cities where you may see 
rough sleepers in every doorway.   Thankfully, it is rare to see a truly street homeless 

Page 25



Full Council 090919

14

person, though of course they do exist from time to time in Copeland.  However, we do 
have a massive problem with hidden homeless people – sofa surfers, young people being 
asked to leave home, relationship breakdown and those who struggle to get and hold down 
a tenancy, due to previous rent arrears or behaviour issues.  

This strategy is, as much about the wrap around services we need to put in place with our 
partners to tackle these issues as it about meeting our basic legal duties to provide a roof 
over someone’s head.

Priorities

Aim of New Strategy

• Reduce levels of hidden homelessness
• Prioritise homeless prevention - avoiding people becoming homeless in first place
• Ensure appropriate accommodation - especially for those hard to reach, higher risk 
people

We are in the process of developing a detailed delivery plans to ensure we can tackle these 
challenges with practical changes and new initiatives that will make a real different day to 
day to our customers

Empty Homes 

Success

The latest figures for returning long term empty homes (over two years empty) has now 
exceed 100 and stands at 116 since last September when our new officer commenced in 
post.  One of the visual success is the property next to the Copeland Centre on Irish Street.

One of our longest empties, the three-storey town centre Georgian house shown below, has 
been empty over twenty years causing a blight on a main thoroughfare in Whitehaven. It is 
located within a much-loved heritage area.  Following persistence from Officers in tracing 
the owners to encourage action, it has recently been sold at auction and is currently 
undergoing a full refurbishment.  It will be wonderful to see the restoration of this historic 
property, enhancing the area and reflecting the care and pride shown in neighbouring 
houses.

Page 26



Full Council 090919

15

Challenges

Whist it is not a statutory requirement in itself to reduce empty homes, and we receive no 
direct funding from Government as we do with Homelessness, there are powers available to 
the council to tackle the problem.  Funding is in place presently to meet the cost of the 
specialist role meaning we are able to assist in numerous ways.  However, we are seeking a 
budget to enable targeted intervention, incentives and legal enforcement action where all 
other attempts to get owners to engage positively has failed.

We are also looking at how we can utilise these empty homes to address some of the 
Housing need in the districts and this is covered in the next section.

Community Led Housing (CLH) & Empty Homes

The CLH Advisory Group that comprises key stakeholder, officers and members, is 
overseeing a project around empty homes.  The group wishes to explore how we can bring 
empty homes into use under a community led model for local people with a need for 
affordable housing.  Our delivery partners ACT are researching the Initiative and will be 
working with CBC officers to produce an options appraisal, which will go back to the 
Advisory Group later this year.  

We are in touch with officers of Preston Borough Council who have developed an 
interesting model for bringing empty homes back into use as part of their large-scale 
regeneration of central Preston.  The model brings the council together with a specialist 
housing provider and uses funding from developer contributions and other sources to 
purchase or lease properties.  The aim is to obtain one property a month and then carry out 
the repairs and let or sell them to local people.  We are working to understand this model 
and what funding options may be available to Copeland to do something similar.  It is 
possible we can adapt and learn from their experiences to develop Copelands own model in 
future. Members will be kept informed of progress.

Page 27



Full Council 090919

16

Inclusive Communities – Councillor Gwynneth Everett

Leisure Contract Update

The updating work within the Cleator Moor Activity Centre in the past year has resulted in a 
very positive summer with wide range of residents participating in the activities and the new 
gym.   We have been targeting activities to increase participation and ensure people with 
limited mobility are able to access more activities in support of their wellbeing.

The project to upgrade the outdoor pitch area has been through a local consultation with 
the Council and GLL working together to understand the full physical requirements for the 
pitch.  The best value replacement option has been identified as replacing the current sand 
based pitch with 3G.  The project scoping is looking at a phased approach in line with 
resources, which will be to replace the pitch first and follow with a phase of upgrading 
lighting, mending fencing and providing an outdoor changing facility.  Final timetable for 
work will be confirmed once all site assessment activity is completed.

We now have commitment from the NHS Trust of their intention to move their outfacing 
physio service into the planned development and upgrade of the Whitehaven Sports 
Centre.   The funding options for this additional work and the detailed design to meet the 
requirements for this move are being developed with the intention for an integrated 
approach within the facility.   The public consultation exercise undertaken by GLL on the 
proposed plans has completed and feedback incorporated into the design particularly 
relating to the gym and weights provision.

Health and Well Being 

The Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum has a strong commitment to enabling social 
prescribing and working closely with the two Integrated Care Communities (ICCs) within 
Copeland to develop this approach.   To this end, the Council has successfully bid to the 
Copeland Community Fund for funding to undertake a two-year project with the community 
based providers of activities available for social prescribing.  We are finalising the match 
funding and linking with good practice in other parts of the country to develop the project 
detail in readiness for recruiting project staff to undertake the work through the Forum 
framework.

Social Inclusion

Well Whitehaven

Following a third community priority event to allocate Well Whitehaven spend in 
Mirehouse, the community has also been involved in a World Café event to discuss the 
issues that they wish to see addressed in Mirehouse through Well Whitehaven.  Progress 
continues to be made against a variety of schemes, including upgrading the local play area, 
refurbishing the Community Centre and creating connections across the generations.  The 
final tranche of funding has been secured from Well North and with further commitments 

Page 28



Full Council 090919

17

from Arup and West Cumbria Mining, bringing the programme budget to the target £1M 
outlined with Well North and Public Health England.   

Copeland Work & Skills Partnership

Following the completion of the Copeland Work & Skills Partnership programme of activities 
(2016-2019), supported by Copeland Community Fund (CCF) and Copeland Borough Council, 
the last couple of months have been a transition period towards being ready for the next 3 
years of programme supported through CCF and Sellafield Ltd’s Social Impact programme.

The new programme will address gaps in provision identified through external research 
commissioned through the Partnership and has been designed to reach wider cross sections 
of the community and address some of those issues brought on by the introduction of 
Universal Credit.  It will also provide bespoke employability support services to key target 
groups such as the over 50s and those long term unemployed with health conditions.

The programme comprises of the following six workstreams:

 Supporting young people into apprenticeships at levels 2 & 3;
 Sector development including sector-based work academy delivery;
 An employability support fund designed to overcome financial barriers of individuals;
 Upskilling workers in NVQs in existing partner organisations;
 Employer wage subsidies for unemployed adults helping them gain the skills and 

experience needed to gain and retain employment;
 Bespoke support & pilot initiatives tailored towards specific client groups or those 

individuals not picked up through other programmes.
The ongoing activity of the Copeland Work & Skills Partnership has significant relevance on 
the wider skills agenda in Cumbria, including the Cumbria LEP Skills Investment Plan and 
Local Industrial Strategy. The work will further inform and link into new emerging strategies, 
as well as helping to close skills gaps in other local sectors, such as health.  

Beacon Museum Summary

Summer update

Ongoing projects and exhibitions

Summer 2019 Vikings exhibition

Jorvik’s Discover the Vikings exhibition has been universally well received at the museum, 
with customer feedback being the strongest and most frequent that the museum has ever 
received. Over 6500 people visited during the first six weeks of the exhibition, and outlay for 
bringing the exhibition to the museum was covered within month one of three. Events have 
largely been delivered at minimal cost with local collaborations proving extremely successful 
for all involved. Local re-enactment groups even went as far as to create a bespoke film 
used to promote the exhibition, which has been viewed over 50 thousand times. Storytelling 

Page 29



Full Council 090919

18

and performance events have been regularly sold out, and our own object handling sessions 
have proven popular. Other activities have included metal detecting sessions and book 
readings from a successful author who has previewed his Viking novel over the summer 
within a range of events. For the first time this summer, online ticket sales have been used 
for events, generating wider interest and revenue in museum events. 

Beacon Digitisation Programme

We will be entering the initial research and design stage for the first roll out of digital 
interactives within the museum this September. Visitors will see changes from January 
2020, with a digital refit of the 4th floor being the first step in a process that will complete in 
autumn 2020. 

In January, visitors will see a new digital touchscreens with 3D town reconstructions, and 
these will be accompanied by immersive digital experiences, games, and a new weather 
experience on the mezzanine area. 

In October 2020, visitors will see a similar refit of the third floor gallery, with Virtual Reality 
experiences sat alongside a host of new touchscreens, games and interactives. These are 
not replacements for current exhibits but rather additions, so the hands on elements of the 
museum will not be lost. 

We are currently awaiting confirmation of further funding from the RDPE to enable a second 
implementation phase in the museum’s permanent galleries from 2021. This is with the 
overall aim of increasing public engagement and commercial output via using more 
innovative and experiential technologies to tell the story of Copeland. If successful, phase 2 
will focus on creating more flexible digital spaces for community led content, so to draw 
engagement from schools and community groups and enable more scope for collaboration. 

Volunteering at the Beacon Museum

A new community volunteering framework for the Beacon Museum has been developed. 
This will allow passionate individuals more freedom to volunteer at the museum. 

Ian Hislop- Autumn 2019 Satire exhibition/ Conversations on Satire event

Satirist and television personality Ian Hislop will officially launch the British Museum 
Spotlight loan at the museum on Friday 18 October. This sold out event has generated 
income for the museum. 

The exhibition itself marries collection objects from the British museum with local Georgian 
artefacts within an exhibition that highlights the origins of modern satire from Georgian 
times- when many consider Whitehaven to have been at its industrial peak.

Accompanying events include a young people’s museum takeover in November, working 
with Lakes College, as well as feature speaking events from academic leaders in the field of 
historical discourse and satire. We have also at early stages with a young people’s media 
organisation called HOLLR, who hope to do a media focus on the exhibition, presenting the 
museum in a rather different way than seen before.  

Page 30



Full Council 090919

19

Royal Society of Chemistry: Periodic Table

The aim of this project is to engage all ages in the value of the Periodic Table on the 150th 
anniversary of its inception by Mendeleev. If granted an attempt, we will pursue a Guinness 
World Record on this project. 

UCLAN Social Science Celebration

UCLAN have successfully bid for funding to deliver a festival of social sciences and we are 
hosting a celebration event across the museum.

Collections/Museum

A researcher from Oxford University and an analytical Archaeologist from the University of 
Southampton undertook analysis of the Beckermet Norse Hoard.  The hoard was taken 
down to Southampton earlier this year.  The results are being analysed and the report being 
written up by the Researcher.  The purpose of the research is to determine the source and 
origin of the various metals in the silver (silver, lead, gold, bismuth) etc.  The relative 
proportions can reveal where the material came from originally (e.g. Russia thus tracking 
the reach of Norse travels across Europe and beyond.

A local man has donated a portrait of his late mother- in- law by the artists J D Kenworthy.  
This adds to the collection of Kenworthy’s already held.  The lady was housekeeper to J D 
Kenworthy.   The donor also kindly and most generously paid for the cleaning, restoration 
and framing of the painting.  Conservation was undertaken by specialist painting 
conservators in Wigtown (D&G) and framing undertaken locally.  The museum has 
developed a good relationship with a local framer who is now working to museum 
standards. 

The Museum Director is preparing the “Curator’s Choice” exhibition, showing in October. 
This will draw on items from the collection, little if ever seen before and will include 
engagement activities for visitors and seeking their help to increase our knowledge of the 
items in the collections and their origins. 

The museum received a monetary donation from a regular American visitor who is a fan of 
John Paul Jones.  The donation will be used to fund the creation of some kind of visitor trail 
relating to John Paul Jones in Whitehaven. 

Page 31



Full Council 090919

20

Commercial Services – Councillor Steven Morgan

Parks & Open Spaces 

Hensingham Play Area 

Hensingham play area has featured in the media recently following vandalism to the play 
area surface in April and June.  Sadly, significant damage has resulted in the play area being 
closed due to safety concerns.  A specialist contractor has now been appointed to carry out 
the repair works at a cost of £8,820, this cost would exceed the Council’s overall budget for 
play area maintenance but fortunately, this year the Council has received a one-off Parks 
Improvement Grant of £10k from central government.   This grant will allow us to meet this 
cost on this occasion and allow the facility to be repaired and re-opened for use by October.  
The media coverage has provided an opportunity to promote the value of these important 
community assets and to encourage all to work together to prevent these kind of incidents 
of vandalism.

Distington Hall Crematorium: Second Cremator & Crematorium Improvements

The Bereavement Services Investment Programme continues to progress well and, following 
a range of complex enabling works, the installation of a new second cremator was 
successfully completed in July.  This is a significant investment in our crematorium, which 
will increase our resilience and operating performance.  

In addition, works to install a new filtration equipment within the cremator to improve our 
environmental performance is currently on track for completion by October 2019.  The 
Council’s Planning Panel approved a planning application, outlining other building 
improvement works within the crematorium, in July.  This approval now allows the project 
team to prepare a detailed package of building improvements for tendering in October this 
year.  These works aim to enhance the experience for guests and improve the operational 
areas within the building and include: 

 an enlarged opening in the chapel and lobby to allow for extra seating for larger 
funerals

  new covered entrance area for guests to congregate prior to the arrival of the 
funeral cars, and 

 improvements to the chapel and other public and operational areas.  

Communicating regularly with our key stakeholders is a key element of our programme of 
works.  In addition to our bi-monthly Bereavement Services bulletin, the team continue to 
hold stakeholder engagement sessions to provide updates on the investment programme to 
members of the clergy, funeral directors and representatives from Copeland Disability 
Forum.  

A copy of the presentation featured in this recent session can be requested by emailing the 
team direct at DistingtonHallAdmin@copeland.gov.uk

Page 32

mailto:DistingtonHallAdmin@copeland.gov.uk


Full Council 090919

21

Parks and Grounds Maintenance

The Parks and Open Spaces team has been busy throughout the season maintaining 
Copeland’s green spaces across the borough this includes, grass cutting and hedge cutting 
on CBC land. 

This year we have been working closely with Town and Parish Councils to deliver a range of 
contract work to provide seasonal flower displays in locations including Egremont, Cleator 
Moor and Whitehaven with some of these displays participating in the county’s Cumbria in 
Bloom competition.  Over 50,000 bedding plants have been planted in hanging baskets, 
planters and flowerbeds in these areas to produce vibrant displays of colour throughout our 
towns.  The team has received many compliments from visitors and residents on the quality 
of work and the displays.  

Community Engagement

The Council celebrated the national ‘Love Parks Week’ campaign in July with a host of 
activities enjoyed by residents, councillors and employees.  Activities featured a community 
litter pick, a ‘mile a day’ walking event for staff and members in Castle Park, and a family 
event in partnership with Cumbria Wildlife Trust to identify local pollinators as part of a 
‘let’s get buzzy walk’.   Alongside these activities, the Open Spaces Officer has been 
engaging with park users to complete a park survey and inviting them to tell us what they 
like about the park and suggestions for what could be improved, and to direct visitors to 
other walking routes or highlights within the park.

Also in July, the team attended a ‘World of Work’ event at Whitehaven Academy and 
participated in a ‘speed dating’ exercise with over eighty young people to promote and 
discuss career opportunities within the parks and grounds maintenance industry.

Community Services 

Resources and Waste Strategy for England 

Following the release of the Resources and Waste Strategy for England in December 2018 
and a number of high profile consultations in the spring, the Government have now 
released their review of the consultation responses. They have now given indicative 
timescales for some of the changes they intend to progress while saying they need to look 
further into a number of their proposals including whether green waste should be a 
statutory service and provided free of charge for all and whether bin colours should be 
standardised across England.

Some of the proposed changes will have a major impact on the Council’s waste collection 
service and even if fully funded, as is stated, will provide a challenge to implement.

Page 33



Full Council 090919

22

The key proposals in terms  of impact on the Council are the introduction of separate weekly 
food waste collections by 2023 and a potential extension to the mandatory materials for 
recycling. There is also an expectation that two tier working arrangements will be improved. 

A commitment that a deposit return scheme for all drinks containers up to 3 litres will be 
introduced by 2023 has been given and Council’s will need to understand how that will work 
and what the impacts are likely to be on existing recycling services in terms of the material 
and volume/income.

A briefing on this topic will be held for members in late September.

Procurement

Executive have recommended the new draft Contract Standing Orders to this Council 
meeting for adoption, to replace the previous version approved in 2012.  The new rules 
have been updated to encompass changes in legislation, lessons learnt and business 
efficiencies and support the Council’s draft Commercial Strategy.  

The approval of the revised Contract Standing Orders will ensure our procurement 
processes are strengthened and streamlined.  Procurement will take the lead in ensuring the 
adoption of the new procedures via workshops and training and will offer advice on all 
Contract Standing Order considerations; as well as continuing to provide best practice 
procurement guidance relative to each project.  

Commercial

Developing Commercial Awareness workshops

Commercialisation continues to be a key priority for Copeland Borough Council over the 
next four years, and our new draft commercial strategy (2019-23) has now been launched.  
Achieving this ambition is as important as ever in protecting and sustaining front line 
services.

To support staff and Members in this, the Commercial team worked with CIPFA to create 
the “Developing Commercial Awareness” workshop.  In July 35 delegates from across the 
Council attended two half-day sessions.  Introduced by the Mayor and delivered by Lisa 
Forster from CIPFA, delegates were able to:

 Understand what commercialisation means to CBC and why it is so important.
 Understand the financial challenges faced.
 Discuss opportunities, challenges and share ideas on how CBC could generate 

additional income.

Both workshops received positive feedback and as a result will be adapted to be delivered 
to all staff and Members in the coming months.  This will form just part of a wider, inclusive 
campaign for all staff and Members in gaining momentum to drive the CBC ambition to 
become a commercially thinking, financially self-sufficient Council.

Page 34



Full Council 090919

23

Commercial Skills Training Programme

Commercial and HR are working together to develop a core Commercial Skills training 
programme. Previous workshops delivered have included Better Business Cases and 
Principles of Contract Management.

The programme will be made available to all staff and Members to ensure CBC has the in-
house skills and knowledge to develop, grow and sustain commercial thinking and activity 
going forward.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



FULL 090919

FORMER ASSEMBLY ROOMS, HOWGILL STREET

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Cllr David Moore / Cllr Gwynneth Everett
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive 

Communities
REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive 

Communities 

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?

The Council has a community leadership and enabling role with regard to social 
inclusion and regeneration opportunities.  This proposal will ensure a long term
 physical resource for women to access a wide range of services in a safe space and 
ensures the work undertaken by the Council in leading and driving a women’s access to 
services network is able to enhance its impact through a women only Centre in 
Whitehaven, a key service centre for our residents.  The Centre will be focused on 
supporting and improving the access to services, opportunities and wellbeing benefits 
for female Copeland residents.
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO FULL COUNCIL?

Council are being requested to extend the offer agreed at Full Council in September 
2018 of the above property, a Council owned asset within Whitehaven Town Centre, 
on a peppercorn lease arrangement as the location for Women Out West Women’s 
Centre. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Council are requested to

a) note the Council’s leadership role and support the partnership approach in ensuring 
women centred approaches through improving women’s access to services in 
Copeland and in particular the aim to develop safe spaces as part of the work to 
ensure women can access services safely and in a supportive environment;

b) note the successful delivery of a Women Out West Women’s Centre through the 
partnership and the hard work of Rachel Holliday and accountable body role of Time 
to Change in receiving and using Ministry of Justice, PCC and Francis C Scott funding; 
and

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



c) agree to extend the offer of 14 – 15 Howgill Street for the Women Out West 
Women’s Centre development and confirm the proposal to pursue a peppercorn lease 
will be open for a further 24 months and subject, as previously agreed to the final sign 
off of best consideration, viability of the business plan and governance for this 
element of Women Out West and for this to be delegated to the Council Solicitor in 
liaison with the S151 Officer, Portfolio Holders and Director of Growth and Inclusive 
Communities.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Full Council at its September 2018 meeting agreed to a 12 month offer from that 
meeting of the former Assembly Rooms at 14-15 Howgill Street on a peppercorn 
lease basis for a new women’s centre in Whitehaven.  The offer required a 
number of actions with decision delegated to the Borough Solicitor in liaison 
with members of Executive and senior officers Council requested a report on 
progress at the end of this 12 month period.

1.2 The subject property, 14 – 15 Howgill Street, was originally the Whitehaven’s 
Assembly Rooms building and is dated 1736.  It was previously listed as premises 
of ‘British Legion the Women's Section’.  Latterly the property was known as the 
Howgill Centre and used as a Family Centre and the headquarters of the Howgill 
Family Centre, a registered charity.  There is no car parking with the property but 
there is a small walled garden to the rear.  The property is Grade II listed (Listing 
NGR: NX9723017868).  The current rateable value is £4,950 as a Day Centre and 
Premises, effective from 1 April 2017.  

1.3 The property has been empty since January 2015, is a heritage asset within 
Whitehaven town centre and in line with our conservation area activity and 
enforcement role is a property the Council is interested in developing.  It was 
reported to Full Council in September 2018 that the property is not readily 
lettable and if anyone were to lease it, they would either require the Council to 
put it into repair or would require a significant rent-free period and/or a grant to 
undertake the extensive works required.   It was also reported that if the Council 
were to leave the property as it stands, but with at the very least a minimal 
maintenance regime, ie keeping it wind and watertight, the property would 
remain dated and a liability to the Council.

1.4 The Council has since 2016 been working with partner agencies through our 
facilitation of an access to women’s services network.  This has been focused on 
identifying the issues for women accessing services in a safe and supportive 
environment and how to enable improved access and women only access where 
needed and desired.   The Council has been engaging for a number of years with 
the Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office in their vision for a profile 

Page 38



of women’s centre provision across Cumbria able to offer a one stop shop to 
support their commissioned activities alongside local service provision and 
personal development opportunities.  

1.5 The Council has been clear that it would not wish to provide a women’s centre 
facility and felt that a more sustainable model is for a community based 
approach of which we may be a partner offers the best option and is in line with 
the learning of Barrow and Carlisle women’s centre approaches.   The challenge 
to look at the viability for a women’s centre has been predicated on the ability to 
find a location which is central but discrete and affordable.  The opportunity for 
the Council to use its social inclusion policy and approach with a building, central 
but discrete, which has been empty for over three years and is need of 
refurbishment and use was a key factor in offering the former Assembly Rooms 
at Howgill Street as an opportunity to consider viability for a Copeland Women’s 
Centre.  

2. PROPOSALS

2.1 In the past year, the challenge for a community and voluntary sector led 
approach to a women’s centre has been picked up by Time to Change who own 
and deliver Calderwood House.  They have successfully received and used 
Ministry of Justice funding to refurbish a unit on Haig Enterprise Park, 
Whitehaven.  The decision to take this approach was made by Time to Change as 
recipients of the funding in liaison with its partners including the Council to 
ensure the funding was not lost and delivery of a safe women’s space for 
agencies to deliver their services and support would be met.   The refurbished 
space was completed in June 2019 with a soft launch during July and August.

2.2 The space at Haig Enterprise Park, branded Women Out West, is developing with 
agencies delivering services to women across West Cumbria including our 
domestic abuse service operating from the space one day a week.  The Access to 
Services for Women Network, facilitated by the Council, continues to meet and 
assist in developing the working model for space spaces under the Women Out 
West brand.  The Council had been working with the Police and Crime 
Commissioner in advance of a community led project emerging and the PCC are 
now working closely with Time to Change as the accountable body for Women 
Out West with revenue resources to enable the lease on the space and core 
staffing to develop the facility.  This has been matched by a grant from Francis C 
Scott through fundraising from Time to Change.  The Access to Services for 
Women Network have worked closely with Time to Change to recruit a manager 
for the Centre.  The successful candidate will take up post in September 2019.

 2.3 The very positive opening of a West Cumbria Women Out West facility offers a 
core safe space base from which the delivery and opportunities will now develop 

Page 39



over the next year with the finalising of women’s led governance and ongoing 
business and development planning integrated with the access to services 
network.   Women Out West is drawing on the experiences of other women’s 
centre facilities around the country but specifically in Cumbria, namely Women’s 
Community Matters in Barrow and the Facility in Carlisle.  Both are different 
models but have experience and learning from their development and success 
and are keen and willing to share with Women Out West (WOW).  After the 
share of policies and procedures in the past six months which have informed the 
Whitehaven operational arrangements the ‘Beautiful Me’ personal development 
courses run by Barrow are planned to pilot and run at WOW this Autumn.

2.4 The wide range of partners are signed into the concept of safe women’s spaces 
which ensures our rural west cumbria area can use a Women Out West hub in 
Whitehaven with other facilities and available safe spaces on a spoke approach.   
The newly refurbished space at Haig Enterprise Park is an important success and 
a strong step in the development of the concept of safe spaces for women’s 
services.  As highlighted in 2018 the need for continued development of safe 
spaces and women centre service delivery needs four key issues to be addressed 
to ensure viability: 

a) property that is central and affordable, ie community asset transfer on 
a long lease term at a peppercorn rent and which is able to attract grants 
to ensure a fit for purpose refurbishment;
b) an opportunity to ensure a commercial income element which with 
grants and service contracts will ensure longer term sustainability;
c)  a final governance model able to ensure the project is women and 
community led, robust, enter into a lease and able to access grants, own 
and manage contracts and partnership arrangements effectively;
d)   is connected into a network and range of partners around women’s 
access to services and the potential for safe space to deliver sensitive 
support and local services from a range of public, voluntary and 
community providers.  

2.5 The Access to services for Women Network being championed and facilitated by 
the Council as part of its social inclusion programme has considered and 
supported the importance of finding a range of willing partners with venues to 
develop and open up safe space and times within their existing delivery 
arrangements and locations which could act as a network of safe spaces for 
women only services and activities.  This is an ongoing development activity 
currently and important in line with the geography and need for access to 
services throughout the borough.  Any safe space times and locations will 
continue to be developed and able to act as spokes to a central women’s centre 
within Whitehaven as our major town.   The Haig location is not central and over 
time as the anticipated growth of Women Out West in line with Barrow 

Page 40



Women’s Community Matter happens this resource becomes a focused spoke 
resource to the development of the former assembly rooms as the core Hub. 

2.6 Full Council in September 2018 supported the proposal that the property of 14 – 
15 Howgill Street is offered for let to a Development Trust (full detail on the 
emerging governance for Women Out West trust to be confirmed) for a term of 
30 years to support a partnership agreement between the Council and the trust 
relating to the development and set up of a women’s centre.  The lease would be 
for a nominal annual rent (£1).

2.7 At this point we have interest in the property by the local development trust who 
has taken up our challenge and acted as drivers and accountable body for the 
Haig Women Out West facility.  They have a track record of leasing, refurbishing 
and managing property and obtaining and managing capital and revenue grants. 
Whilst the proposal is still in development it is not confirmed if this will be the 
final lead partner for the Former Assembly Rooms or if the option to set up a 
separate development trust legal structure for the women’s centre will be the 
final choice by the partners engaged.  A peppercorn lease will be in line with the 
final governance structure decided on as part of the business plan.   

2.8 As highlighted in the report to full council last September 2018, granting a lease 
to a Development Trust for 30 years at a rental of £1 per annum would be 
classed as a disposal and may be seen as a disposal at less than best 
consideration.  Currently the property at 14 – 15 Howgill Street is registered as 
an investment asset able to provide a commercial income.  As highlighted earlier 
in this report the property has been empty for over three years and is not in a 
condition able to be rented as an investment property without a range of work.  
Generally, the Council has not offered assets with an investment rating on 
peppercorn leasing arrangement although it has offered arrangements at less 
than best value and in line with partnership activity and community benefit eg 
our lease with Phoenix Enterprise Centre in Cleator Moor.  However, in this 
instance we believe that the condition of the building, the intention to obtain 
grants to bring the property up to a good standard and the proposal for its use as 
a needed and evidenced community led provision targeted at residents being 
able to access a wide range of services under one roof and in a safe space makes 
this property an ideal consideration as a less than best value lease arrangement.

2.9 As the proposal is essentially a disposal and the estimated market value of the 
freehold is below £100,000 the consent of the borough solicitor and the Section 
151 Officer is required.  The property currently has an asset value of £65,000.

Page 41



3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

3.1 The options for the former Assembly Rooms were set out to Council in 
September 2018 to inform the decision made at this meeting and are 
reproduced here for information.  Council has the following primary options;

 To retain the property and keep it, at least, wind and watertight; 
 To refurbish the property and use it for the delivery of Council services, 

make it available to let or for sale; or
 To offer the property for sale as it stands; or
 To let the property to an organisation that can lever in funds to bring the 

property back into beneficial use and to deliver public services to the 
local community.

3.2 The “Do Nothing” option was the current position in September 2018, however, 
the property is a grade II listed building within a conservation area and the 
Council, as custodian of the property and Local Planning Authority owes a duty of 
care to look after the property.

3.3 The cost of basic maintenance and minimal refurbishment of the property would 
need to be ascertained, however, recent estimates are understood to have been 
in the order of over £80,000. This does not address the requirements for 
inclusive access throughout the space.  Early projections for the development of 
the space to provide a fit for purpose women’s centre are over seven times the 
basic refurbishment cost.  It is understood that there is currently no requirement 
for this space for the delivery of direct Council services.  There may well be a 
market for the property in a refurbished condition and this would need to be 
more than basic maintenance and refurbishment in line with our earlier 
marketing experience, but the Council would need to be prepared to accept the 
risks of speculative development.

3.4 The property is likely to attract bids in the region of £65,000 if it were to be 
offered for sale now.

3.5 Maintain the asset and work in partnership with an organisation that provides 
community and public services that complement and deliver to the Council’s 
strategic aims and objectives at the same time as bringing the property back into 
beneficial use is clearly a worthwhile option.  In particular, the opportunity to 
deliver sensitive services including domestic abuse support in a safe space will 
greatly enhance our existing service delivery.  This was the option chosen and 
agreed by Full Council in September 2018.

Page 42



4.     CONCLUSIONS 

4.1 As highlighted last year, the best and preferred option for the Council from a 
property point of view, given the history of the property, it’s location, it’s current 
state or repair and the absence of a competitive market for this type of 
accommodation, is to retain the asset and enter into a partnership arrangement 
(see 3.5) with a view to securing a long term lease at a nominal rent (£1) that 
requires the tenant to refurbish the property and make it available for the 
delivery of complementary community and public services.  Council has already 
supported the recommendation to offering 14 – 15 Howgill Street on a 30 year 
lease at a nominal rent for the purposes of a Copeland women’s centre.  Council 
is now being requested to consider extending this offer for a further 24 months.

4.2 Council is asked to note the leadership and facilitation role we have already 
taken in delivering against our social inclusion commitment of women centred 
approaches to service delivery and access.   The opportunity for the Council to 
continue to support the development of the women’s centre approach and 
ensure and enable a needed central but discrete location through this property 
for a community led facility for women to access services in a safe space has 
been set out.  The new WOW space is for West Cumbria and in line with Barrow 
development will quickly out grow its space and require a more accessible 
Copeland women’s centre able to develop a commercial offering for 
sustainability and which will act as a hub and be supported by a network of safe 
spaces and targeted services by a wide range of organisations and arrangements 
including the first WOW facility at Haig Enterprise Park.  The Council through its 
officers and the Mayor’s Office has been championing the opportunities for such 
a facility to ensure local residents will be able to access our services, particularly 
domestic abuse support, through a safe space.  We are actively engaged in the 
project.  

4.4 An extension to an already agreed offer of the property will ensure the Council is 
a key funder and partner through its ability to provide a physical location offer 
that is affordable and underpins the sustainability of the project.  The final 
viability assessment and business plan is required to ensure the Council is able to 
ensure this proposed lease arrangement is viable and sustainable and Council is 
asked to note and support this in line with the delegation for final sign off of the 
lease.  The Council is being asked to support an approach which leaves the offer 
on the table for a further 24 months whilst the development of the existing 
Women Out West Centre embeds and the development of the project is 
completed and the lease prepared.  A progress report will be provided in a 
further 12 months.

Page 43



5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 Legal Comment:  The proposal is to grant a 30 year lease at a peppercorn. This is 
therefore not at best consideration. Such a disposal is only permitted under the 
Local Government Act 1972 if the Secretary of State's consent is given. In 2003 
the Secretary of State issued a general disposal consent (circular 06/03) allowing 
less than best disposals to be made if (a) the unrestricted value of the land to be 
disposed of and the consideration for the disposal is less than £2m (the amount 
of the undervalue) – in this case this appears to be so; and (b) the local authority 
considers that the purpose for which the land is to be disposed is likely to 
contribute to the achievement of any one or more of the following objects in 
respect of the whole or any part of its area, or of all or any persons resident or 
present in its area  namely the promotion or improvement of economic, social or 
environmental well-being. Such categories of 'well-being' are undefined. In this 
case the Council will need to be satisfied that the proposal when presented in its 
final form promotes such well-being and that any lease includes performance 
requirements or outputs to ensure the delivery of such well-being with 
consequential powers of termination if there is a failure to meet the outputs or 
the project moves away from its original purpose to one which does not readily 
support the specified well-being powers. Prior to granting any lease the Council 
will also need to ensure that the European Commission's State aid rules are 
complied with. 

5.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:  The Council is being asked to support 
the principle and agree to retaining an asset and disposing of it through a less 
than best value lease.  The involvement of Council in the decision is both linked 
to the fit with corporate strategies and policies and the value of a 30 year term 
nominal value lease arrangement.  The Council’s regulations enable this decision 
to be delegated.

5.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  This report sets out the case for 
retaining the asset and entering into a partnership arrangement (see 3.5) with a 
view to securing a long term lease at a nominal rent (£1) that requires the tenant 
to refurbish the property and make it available for the delivery of 
complementary community and public services.  The property currently has an 
asset value of £65,000 and as the proposal is essentially a disposal and the 
estimated market value of the freehold is below £100,000 the consent of the 
Section 151 Officer is required. The resource implications have been set out in 
this report and the proposed recommendations represent value for money for 
the Council.

5.4 EIA Comments:   The proposal fits with the Council’s Equality Scheme and an EIA 
will be undertaken once the final business plan is submitted in line with our 
Equality Scheme and EIA process.  

Page 44



5.5 Policy Framework:  The Council has set out clearly its active commitment to 
social inclusion, its values of working with partners and treating everyone 
equally, fairly and with respect.  This initiative delivers directly to these and 
specifically ensures that all four ambitions are combined through ensuring a 
dilapidated historic town centre building is brought back into use and through a 
community asset transfer approach is delivering our ambition to enable 
employment, skills and social wellbeing whilst ensuring a commercial approach is 
taken by the partnership approach of governance for this proposal and ensures 
the Council is using available policies and joint working to maximise benefit from 
our approach and the way we operate.

 
5.6 Other Consultee Comments, if any:  Consultation within the women’s access to 

services network is ongoing and the partners to this are engaged with active 
consultation on the draft business plan.

6.       HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW 
ARE THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED?

6.1 At this development stage the women’s centre project is being developed and 
managed through a partnership approach with a local development trust taking 
the lead.  The Council is engaged through a number of active routes including its 
leadership of the women’s access to services network, its management of the 
Copeland Hub, thematic working on housing and domestic abuse and in enabling 
location opportunities. 

6.2 The Council has an officer group on social inclusion with a smaller task group 
engaging with the women’s centre project requirements from the Council.  
Depending how the project develops the Council’s role may change including the 
potential to take the lead in managing the physical refurbishment activity.  
Throughout this development full attention will be paid to the Council’s 
governance and financial procedures requirements.   In particular, this group 
draws officers from across the Council to consider the key risks for the Council in 
letting the property on a peppercorn lease approach and any other role or 
activity by the Council.  This will ensure the final sign off of the viability through 
the women’s centre business plan and governance arrangements will be fully 
assessed in terms of risk, responsibilities and forward role for the Council. 

7.       RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

7.1 The Council is being asked to support the proposal to offer 14 – 15 Howgill 
Street, Whitehaven on a less than best value peppercorn lease for a women’s 
centre in Copeland.  This would require the Council to provide the facility at this 
peppercorn rental arrangement for a minimum of 30 years.  This time is the 

Page 45



minimum required to offer the project an appropriate lease term to attract both 
capital and revenue grants to set up and enable the project to forward plan and 
deliver a sustainable operating model.

7.2 The anticipated engagement from the Council to the project in support of 
offering the property on a lease arrangement is staff time which is currently in 
place.  This includes for development related staff time and engagement.  The 
Council through its existing social inclusion activities and facilitation of the 
women’s access to services network offers staff time and will be participating 
with the service planning for such a Centre to enable relevant activities and 
services of the Council to operate from the facility once in place. 

7.3 The Council have previously offered the dilapidation sum received from the 
previous and last tenants of £60,000 to a new commercial tenant to ensure the 
let and provide a contribution to the necessary works to bring the property back 
into use.  The Council has this resource earmarked for this property and will be 
looking to offer this to any new tenant including the proposal set out here for a 
peppercorn lease to a Trust tenant.  As the viability and business plan and 
consequent development of the women’s centre progresses any active 
discussion on a lead role for the Council as asset owner to undertake and/or 
project manage any aspect of the refurbishment or physical redevelopment of 
the property will need to be prepared and brought back through Executive and 
Full Council.  This potential physical development role will only be taken if there 
is a full cost recovery approach within the external funding obtained for this 
capital works. 

8. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 
REPORT?

8.1 The Council will be meeting its commitment to social inclusion and the 
economic, environmental and social wellbeing for residents, communities and 
localities of Copeland through engagement with this project.  A town centre 
facility from which to operate a range of services targeted at women and 
accessible through a safe space.

8.2 The statistics relating to women’s access to services, health and wellbeing and 
economic activity highlight some key issues and inequalities.  Over time the use 
of a peppercorn lease arrangement on one of our town centre properties to 
enable targeted support to women will be reflected in these key statistics for the 
area.

Page 46



List of Appendices 

None

List of Background Documents:
September 2018 Full Council report, Property file, CAT policy, Asset Management Policy, 
Social Inclusion Policy, Local statistics through the Cumbria Observatory, Womens 
Access to Services project papers, Other Women’s Centre examples, Cumbria PCC vision 
for women’s centre hubs, West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership papers and 
draft business plan, Women Out West development papers and policies. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS – REVISED PROCEDURE

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services & 
Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR: Stephanie Shaw, Electoral and Democratic Services 
Manager

RECOMMENDATION FROM STANDARDS AND ETHICS COMMITTEE:                                                                              

That the procedure for dealing with code of conduct complaints, previously approved by 
Council on the 14th September 2018, be amended to include the paragraph as set out in 
paragraph 2.3 of this report.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Full Council approved the current procedures for investigating Code of Conduct 
complaints on 14 September 2018.  

1.2 Further consequential changes were made to the procedure in June 2019 to reflect 
the changes to the Committee as agreed at the Annual General Meeting on 21 May 
2019.

1.2 The Standards and Ethics Committee has been established and are operating in line 
with this procedure.

PROPOSAL

2.1 The Standards and Ethics Committee met recently to consider a complaint against a 
Parish Councillor.  In the time from the complaint being received and the meeting of 
the Committee been held, the Councillor in question had resigned from office.  

2.2 The current procedure does not cover such a scenario. 

2.3 Therefore, the Standards and Ethics Committee recommend that the current 
procedure be amended to include the following paragraph:

“That where a member is the subject of a complaint against him/her which is received 
by the Principal Authority whilst still holding office, and subsequently resigns prior to 
the determination of that complaint, that no further action be taken against that 

Page 49

Agenda Item 10



member in respect of that complaint for a period of 24 months from the date of 
resignation.  If within that period the subject is either re-elected or co-opted on to a 
council, that the complaint is resumed and will be referred back to the Standards and 
Ethics Committee for consideration; that if the subject is not so re-elected or co-
opted within that period that no further action be taken on the complaint.”

4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 The revision proposed is directly aimed at assisting the process and ensuring the 
members of the Standards and Ethic Committee are able to be effective in their role 
in considering and overseeing Code of Conduct Complaints.

5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 Legal/Monitoring Officer comments: Contained within report.

5.2 Financial comments: No financial implications arise from this report.

5.3 EIA Comments: No equality issues arise from this report.

5.4 Policy Framework: No issues arise from this report.

List of Appendices: 

Appendix A – Revised Code of Conduct Complaints Procedure

Page 50



Procedure for investigating Councillor Code of Conduct Complaints  

The Localism Act 2011 requires all relevant authorities to “promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct” by members (Section 27).

Section 28 requires authorities to adopt a Code of Conduct for members which must be 
consistent, when viewed as a whole, with the seven principles set out in the Act:

 Selflessness

 Integrity

 Objectivity

 Accountability

 Openness

 Honesty

 Leadership

1 Anyone who considers that a Member may have breached the Code of Conduct may 
make a complaint to the Council.  Complaints shall be submitted in writing to the 
Monitoring Officer via email or post (details of addresses are on the Councils 
complaints form). They shall only be accepted on the form annexed to this 
procedure.  Complaints not in that form will not be accepted. The Monitoring Officer 
will assess and enable assistance to a complainant needing support with completing 
the form.

2 The Monitoring Officer will assess each complaint to see if it falls within the Council’s 
legal jurisdiction.  The Monitoring Officer will determine whether or not the 
complaint relates to a criminal matter and if so will report it to the Police for 
investigation.  If the complaint relates to member conduct, the Monitoring Officer 
will satisfy themselves that the complaint meets the following tests:

o The complaint is against one or more named Members

o The Subject Member was in office at the time of the alleged conduct and the 
Code of Conduct was in force at the time

o The complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code under which the 
Subject Member was operating at the time of the alleged misconduct.

If the complaint fails one or more of these tests it cannot be investigated as a breach 
of the Code and the Complainant must be informed that no further action will be 
taken in respect of the complaint.  If the complaint passes these tests, the 
Monitoring Officer will deal with the complaint in accordance with the procedure set 
out in this document. 

3 The Monitoring Officer will, in consultation with the Independent Person, reject 
complaints including if a complaint is considered to be frivolous or vexatious and 
outline the reasons for this in writing to the complainant.   The Monitoring Officer 

Page 51



may facilitate a discussion and/or agreement between the Complainant and the 
Subject Member which resolves the complaint to the satisfaction of both parties.

4 Anonymous complaints or complaints not accompanied by a valid contact name and 
property address will not be accepted. Once accepted the property address will not 
be referred to any further unless related to the complaint itself.

5 A complaint will be acknowledged within 5 working days.

6 As a matter of fairness and natural justice a Member will usually be told who has 
complained about them.  A person making a complaint who provides full contact 
details as required by 1.2 may request anonymity. In this case the Monitoring Officer 
shall consider the request or refer to the Standards and Ethics Committee. The 
Monitoring Officer or if referred the Standards and Ethics Committee may grant the 
request if the release of such information might put the complainant or someone 
close to the complainant at risk of harassment, injury or damage to his property, loss 
of employment or could exasperate an existing medical condition. The decision on 
the matter from this process shall be final. If the decision is not to grant anonymity 
the complainant may withdraw the complaint if they wish. No details will be 
released from this point. Should the complainant withdraw their complaint the case 
file will be destroyed. If a request for anonymity is granted the complaint shall 
proceed in accordance with paragraph 4 with all relevant information redacted.

7 References in this procedure to an Assessment Committee mean a Standards and 
Ethics Committee of 4 elected members and, if available, the independent 
chairperson, quorate at 3 elected members, chosen from the Standards and Ethics 
Committee and accompanied by an appointed ‘independent person’ as a minimum. 
It should be noted only the elected members have a vote.  The ‘independent person’ 
is an advisory and non-voting role held by a person outside of the Council. The 
Standards and Ethics Committee shall be advised by the Monitoring Officer, and at 
their request, the Council’s Solicitor or a Director or a person nominated by the 
Monitoring Officer.

8 Complainants should bear in mind that unless anonymity is granted under paragraph 
2 above a copy of the complaint form as received (with property and email 
addresses deleted) will be forwarded to the Subject Member(s) concerned. Where 
anonymity is granted the complainant’s name, contact details and signature shall be 
deleted. The rest of the form will remain as written.

9 If a request for anonymity is referred to the Standards and Ethics Committee it shall 
be considered at the next meeting of a Standards and Ethics Committee before any 
further action is taken on the complaint. Once the question of anonymity is dealt 
with the complaint shall proceed in accordance with paragraph 6.

10. The Council shall, within 7 working days of acknowledging the complaint or granting 
anonymity, send a copy of the complaint to the Subject Member and notify the 
complainant that this has been done. Prior to writing to both parties the Monitoring 
Officer, or a nominated person, in consultation with the Independent Person, shall 
assess the complaint and what further evidence is required to enable the allegation 

Page 52



to be considered properly and may request such information from either party.  
They may also contact third parties (e.g. a parish clerk, Land Registry, Companies 
House) who might hold information and, if necessary, interview either or both 
parties if they believe this will assist the initial hearing by a Standards and Ethics 
Committee. 

11. A complaint case including the application form and any other documentation 
obtained under paragraph 8 should be taken to the Standards and Ethics Committee 
within 4 to 6 weeks or the next available committee of the complaint being received 
or of a decision being made on anonymity.   (Standards and Ethics Committee will be 
deemed to be at full capacity if 6 complaints are scheduled in the session, the 
committee members can refuse to hear any more than this in one sitting. The 
decision to hear more is at the discretion of the Standards and Ethics Committee and 
may increase the target time for hearing where complaint levels are high.)

12. The Standards and Ethics Committee shall meet, elect a chairperson from their 
number and deal with the following issues:

(a) whether the matter should be considered in public or private. The papers will 
have been released in private by the proper officer on the basis that 
paragraphs 1 -3 of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 are likely 
to apply. The Sub-Committee can decide to hear the matter in public if they 
are satisfied that there will be no release of confidential information or if, 
despite one of the categories of exempt information applying, that the public 
interest of considering the matter in public outweighs it being considered in 
private;

(b) dealing with an application for anonymity.  Once dealt with, the matter shall 
stand adjourned to the next hearing of a Standards and Ethics Committee to 
enable steps 6 to 9 to be carried out;

(c) to understand the complaint, assisted by the Subject Member and the 
Complainant if the latter is present;

(d) to consider what further evidence is required to enable a proper 
determination to be made on the complaint, who can provide such evidence 
and the timescale for obtaining such evidence. The Standards and Ethics 
Committee, if it feels it is necessary, may appoint an external investigator to 
investigate the matter. It is likely that such power will be reserved for 
complex cases;

(e) if the Standards and Ethics Committee does not have sufficient evidence at 
the preliminary hearing to make a decision it shall adjourn the matter to the 
next Standards and Ethics Committee hearing. This does not guarantee the 
same panel of members considering the case. A Standards and Ethics 
Committee can reserve a case to themselves in which they shall specifically 
re-convene on a date set by the Standards and Ethics Committee. If it does 
not reserve the case to itself then the next Standards and Ethics Committee 

Page 53



meeting shall consider the matter and commence its consideration of the 
matter by ensuring that it has sufficient evidence; and

 (f) At the point when a Standards and Ethics Committee considers that it has 
sufficient evidence to make a decision it may choose one of the following 
options – (1) dismiss the complaint on the basis that the Subject Member was 
not acting in the capacity of a councillor or the code did not apply to them at 
the time of the alleged breach; or (2) refer the matter to the Audit and 
Governance Committee for a hearing or (3) make a determination on matter 
or (4) Adjourn whilst further evidence is obtained indicating when they wish 
the complaint to be presented again to committee.

(g) Paragraph 10(e) shall apply to preliminary assessments as it does to hearings.

13. Where a Standards and Ethics Committee hears a complaint the following procedure 
shall apply:

 (a) The Subject Member and the Complainant shall be entitled to be 
accompanied by a legal adviser or friend;

(b) At the beginning of the hearing the chairperson shall explain to the parties 
the procedure which it proposes, to follow at the hearing;

(c) A hearing shall take the form of a discussion led by the Standards and Ethics 
Committee and cross-examination shall not be permitted unless the 
Standards and Ethics Committee considers that it is necessary to consider the 
complaint as the case may require;

(d) A Standards and Ethics Committee must allow both parties sufficient length 
of time to present their case;

(e) A Standards and Ethics Committee may require any person attending the 
hearing who in their opinion is behaving in a disruptive matter to leave the 
hearing and may (i) refuse to permit that person to return; or (ii) permit that 
person to return only on such conditions as the authority may specify; but 
such a person may, before the end of the hearing, at the agreement of the 
Standards and Ethics Committee, submit to the Standards and Ethics 
Committee in writing any information which they would have been entitled 
to give orally had they not been required to leave;

(f) A Standards and Ethics Committee in considering the complaint and 
representation made by a party take into account documentary or other 
information produced by a party in support of or in defence to the complaint; 
information not relevant to the complaint will be disregarded;

(g) Members of the Standards and Ethics Committee may ask questions at any 
time;

(h) In concluding the discussion the Subject Member shall be entitled to speak 
last.

Page 54



(i) The Standards and Ethics Committee will then consider their decision. They 
may find that there has not been a breach of the code and if so shall state 
this to the complainant and Subject Member. If they find that evidentially a 
breach of the code has occurred they shall then proceed to consider whether 
it is the public interest to proceed further.  In determining such matter the 
Standards and Ethics Committee shall consider the following points and if any 
apply may conclude that it is not in the public interest to proceed:

(1) the complaint appears to be politically motivated.

(2) ‘tit for tat’ complaints.

(3) repeat complaints, other than new instances of the same alleged 
infringement, not raising anything new.

(4) vexatious complaints.

(5) taken together with other complaints pending or being processed the 
Standards and Ethics Committee takes the view, acting reasonably, 
that the time being spent on processing code complaints is 
unreasonably time consuming and interfering with the proper 
conduct or functioning of other Council business;

(6) the complaint is minor and no sanctions are likely to be applied;

(7) the member has put forward mitigation which means that no 
sanctions are likely to be applied.

(8) dealing with the complaint would have a disproportionate effect 
(compared with the likely sanction to be applied) on both officer and 
members’ time and other financial costs which may be incurred.

(9) the matter is better dealt with elsewhere e.g. under a council’s 
complaints procedure or by insurers.

(10) the matter is already the subject of private litigation and proceeding 
with the complaint might prejudice that litigation.

(11) the complaint concerns a matter where the member was advised 
incorrectly by an officer and it was reasonable for the member not to 
doubt that advice.

(12) the circumstances have changed so much that nothing or little is to be 
 by proceeding.

(13) the Subject Member has offered the Complainant an apology or 
appropriate alternative resolution or conclusion to the matter              

(j) If the Standards and Ethics Committee find a breach and that it is in the 
public interest to proceed the Standards and Ethics Committee will then 
determine whether any further action should be taken in respect of the 
breach and shall make one or a combination of the following decisions:

Page 55



(1) That there has been a breach of the code but they do not feel that any 
further action should be taken in respect of the matter;

(2) That the Subject Member should be issued with a conditional warning 
in respect of future behaviour and specify a period that such warning 
will last up to a maximum term of 2 years provided that this shall not 
be later than the expiry of the Subject Member’s term of office at the 
respective Council. This shall mean that if a further complaint is 
received against the Subject Member which is substantiated that any 
sanction imposed for that breach will take into account the present 
breach as well;

(3) State that there has been a breach of the code of conduct and the 
Subject Member should be censured – an expression of strong 
disapproval or criticism - and that such censure will be in writing, 
copied to the leader of any relevant group and, if a parish member, 
copied to the parish clerk and chairman of the parish council;

(4) there has been a breach of the code of conduct and, in addition to 
(j(2)) the matter should be reported to Full Council and noted by Full 
Council or if a parish member recommending to the parish clerk that 
the matter is referred to a parish council meeting for noting; 

(5) there has been a breach of the code of conduct and, in addition to 
(j(2)) and possibly (j(3)), the breach is so serious that a 
recommendation should be made to a relevant group leader or, if a 
parish member, the parish clerk and/or chairman that the member 
should be removed from relevant committees or the executive or 
outside bodies;

(6) that appropriate training should be arranged for the Subject Member 
by the Council’s solicitor or if a parish member, the parish clerk;

(7) if the breach relates to the use of a Council computer, laptop, phone, 
etc. or web sites maintained or associated with the Council that the 
member should be prevented from using such equipment or making 
entries on such sites; and

(8) if the breach relates to a possible offence under the Localism Act 2011 
whether additional to any sanction imposed, a copy of the decision of 
the Standards and Ethics Committee should be sent to the chief 
officer of police.

14. The Standards and Ethics Committee may adjust the above procedures if it considers 
it reasonable to do so to facilitate the consideration of the matter and it is in the 
public interest; and

15. The decision of the Standards and Ethics Committee (but not preliminary assessment 
decisions) shall be confirmed in writing to the Complainant and the Member within 
10 working days of the hearing.

Page 56



16. The decision of the Standards and Ethics Committee shall be placed on the Copeland 
Borough Council web site within 1 month of issue to the complaint and member.

17. If the Member or the Complainant fails to attend a hearing, the Standards and 
Ethics Committee may proceed in their absence unless it feels that it is the public 
interest to adjourn the hearing to a specified date. Where a hearing is adjourned the 
Council shall notify the parties forthwith of the date, time and place for the resumed 
hearing.

18. A Complainant may withdraw a complaint at any time with permission of the 
Monitoring Officer in liaison with the Independent Person. Permission will normally 
be granted unless the complaint is of a serious nature and the matter can proceed, 
evidentially, without input from the Complainant.

19. Where a member is the subject of a complaint against him/her which is received by 
the Principle Authority whilst still holding office, and subsequently resigns prior to 
the determination of that complaint, that no further action be taken against that 
member in respect of that complaint for a period of 24 months from the date of 
resignation.  If within that period the subject is either re-elected or co-opted on to a 
council, that the complaint is resumed and will be referred back to the Standards 
and Ethics Committee for consideration; that if the subject is not so re-elected or co-
opted within that period that no further action be taken on the complaint.

20. A Standards and Ethics Committee’s decision shall be final.  A dissatisfied 
Complainant or Member may be entitled to seek judicial review of the decision but 
should seek legal advice before doing so.  A complaint to the Local Government 
Ombudsman may also be made.

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



BI-ANNUAL MONITORING OFFICER REPORT

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore, Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and 
Corporate Services

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services & 
Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)

REPORT AUTHOR(S): Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services & 
Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)

RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                              

The Standards and Ethics Committee recommended that this report be brought to Full 
Council for noting.  

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report provides an overview of Monitoring Officer issues and involvement since 
the Council’s Annual Meeting in May 2019

1.2 This report sets out the Monitoring Officer’s statutory responsibilities and provides an 
overview of the work of the Monitoring Officer and the general governance 
arrangements within the Council during the last three months.  

2. THE ROLE OF THE MONITORING OFFICER      

2.1 The role of the Monitoring Officer derives from the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989.  

2.2 The Act requires local authorities to appoint a Monitoring Officer. 

2.3 The Monitoring Officer has a broad role in ensuring the lawfulness and fairness of 
Council decision-making, ensuring compliance with Codes and Protocols, promoting 
good governance and high ethical standards of behaviour. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 11



2.4 A Summary of the Monitoring Officer’s role and responsibilities are as follows: 

Description Source
Report on contraventions or likely 

contraventions of any enactment 
or rule of law

Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Report on any maladministration or 
injustice where the Ombudsman 
has carried out an investigation

Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Appoint a Deputy. Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Report on sufficiency of resources Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Maintain the Constitution The Constitution
Consulting with, supporting and advising 
the Head of Paid Service and Chief 
Finance Officer on issues of lawfulness 
and probity

The Constitution

Advise on whether Executive decisions 
are within the budget and policy 
framework

The Constitution

Provide advice on vires issues, 
maladministration, financial impropriety, 
probity Budget and Policy Framework 
issues to all members.

The Constitution

Establish, publish and maintain the 
Register of Members’ interests.

Localism Act 2011

Promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct.

Localism Act 2011

Undertake the assessment of complaints 
that a member may have breached the 
Code of Conduct.

Localism Act 2011

Advisor to the Standards Committee 
when carrying out a local Determination 
Hearing

Localism Act 2011

Issuing Dispensations to Members 
regarding disclosable pecuniary interests

Localism Act 2011

Page 60



3. CONSTITUTIONAL REVIEW

3.1 The Constitution sets out how the Council operates and how decisions are made.  It 
contains the procedures which are followed to ensure that these decisions are 
efficient, transparent and that those who make the decisions are accountable to local 
citizens.  

3.2 The Monitoring Officer is the guardian of the Council’s Constitution and is responsible 
for ensuring that the Constitution operates efficiently, is properly maintained, and, 
that it is adhered to.

3.3 The Council’s Constitution has been infrequently updated with minor amendments 
since it was adopted; it is largely in the same format as originally presented following 
the implementation of the Local Government Act 2000.  

3.4 A full review of the Constitution is currently ongoing to ensure it is fit for purpose.  

3.5 The proposed changes will be presented, with recommendations, to the Standards 
and Ethics Committee, as per the Committee’s terms of reference, before approval is 
sought from Full Council.  

3.6 It is anticipated that the full Constitution review will be completed by Q3, 2019/20.

4. PUBLISHING AGENDAS, REPORTS AND MINUTES

4.1 The publication and distribution of committee agendas, reports and decisions is 
central to good governance.  This includes:

4.1.1 Publishing and distributing all agendas within five clear working days of the 
meeting date and ensuring that all agendas are compliant with the access to 
information rules, and, exempt information marked up accordingly;

4.1.2 Advertising public meetings at least five clear days before the meeting date;

4.1.3 Ensuring that papers are available to the public either through the Council 
website or from council offices;

4.1.4 Publishing minutes as soon as practicably possible following meetings, in 
particular any Executive Decisions taken which are published within three 
clears days following the meeting;

4.1.5 Ensuring that petitions are handled in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution

Page 61



4.1.6 Ensuring that meetings are accessible to the public.

4.2 Between 21st May 2019 to 9th August 2019, the following meetings were serviced by 
Democratic Services:

Name of Committee
Date of 
Meeting

Agenda 
Issue Due 

Date

Date 
Agenda 
Issued

No of 
Part II 

Reports

No of 
Late 

Reports

Date 
Supplementary 
Agenda Issued

Annual Meeting 21/05/2019 13/05/2019 13/05/2019 0 0 n/a
Strategic Nuclear & 
Energy Board 04/06/2019 24/05/2019 24/05/2019 0 0 n/a
Planning Panel 05/06/2019 28/05/2019 28/05/2019 0 0 n/a
Licensing Committee 13/06/2019 05/06/2019 05/06/2019 0 0 n/a
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 13/06/2019 05/06/2019 05/06/2019 0 0 n/a
Executive 24/06/2019 14/06/2019 12/06/2019 0 0 n/a
Personnel Panel 25/06/2019 17/06/2019 17/06/2019 1 4 20/06/2019
Council 25/06/2019 17/06/2019 17/06/2019 1 2 20/06/2019
Planning Panel 26/06/2019 18/06/2019 18/06/2019 0 0 n/a
Electoral Review 
Panel 11/07/2019 03/07/2019 26/06/2019 0 0 n/a
Executive 22/07/2019 12/07/2019 12/07/2019 0 0 n/a
Planning Panel 24/07/2019 16/07/2019 16/07/2019 0 0 n/a
Standards and Ethics 
Committee 31/07/2019 23/07/2019 23/07/2019 4 4 24/07/2019
Electoral Review 
Panel 06/08/2019 29/07/2019 29/07/2019 0 0 n/a
Audit Committee 08/08/2019 31/07/2019 31/07/2019 0 0 n/a

4.3 This represents 15 meetings, which compares with 18 meetings during the same 
period in 2018.

4.4 The volume of meetings represents a substantial commitment of both Councillors and 
Officers time and resources. 

4.5 It is of great importance that meetings constitute an effective use of time and 
resources, and, that they add value to corporate effectiveness and facilitate the aims 
and objectives of the Council.

Page 62



5. MEMBERS ATTENDANCE AND TRAINING

5.1 Of the 15 meetings set out in 4.2 above, the following illustrates the attendance 
record for those meetings:

Description Date Quorum Members 
expected

Members 
attending

Members 
submitting 
apologies

Members 
not 

submitting 
apologies

% 
Attendance

Annual 
Meeting

21/05/19 9 33 32 1 0 97%

Strategic 
Nuclear & 
Energy Board

04/06/19 3 7 6 0 1 86%

Planning Panel 05/06/19 3 11 8 2 1 73%
Licensing 
Committee

13/06/19 3 11 10 1 0 91%

Overview & 
Scrutiny C’ttee

13/06/19 3 11 10 1 0 91%

Executive 24/06/19 3 5 5 0 0 100%
Personnel 
Panel

25/06/19 3 7 5 1 1 71%

Council 25/06/19 9 33 25 6 2 76%
Planning Panel 26/06/19 3 11 9 2 0 82%
Electoral 
Review Panel

11/07/19 3 7 5 1 1 71%

Executive 22/07/19 3 5 5 0 0 100%
Planning Panel 24/07/19 3 11 11 0 0 100%
Standards and 
Ethics 
Committee

31/07/19 3 7 6 1 0 86%

Electoral 
Review Panel

07/08/19 3 7 5 2 0 71%

Audit 
Committee

08/08/19 3 11 4 2 1 57%

5.2  Following the elections in May, a member induction programme was drawn up for all 
Members.  This training was designed and intended to introduce the Council, 
Constitution, processes and its services to all Members to ensure they are equipped 
with the knowledge and understanding needed to undertake their role.

5.3 The Member Induction training programme is now complete, with a total of 15 
training sessions being delivered.  

Page 63



5.4 The following is a list of the training provided and the numbers in attendance:

Training Delivered No of Councillors invited 
to attend

No of Councillors in 
attendance

Data Protection All 33 members 15 Members
IT & Cyber Security All 33 members 15 Members
Communications
 & Social Media

All 33 members 17 Members

Introduction to
Local Government Finance

All 33 members 17 Members

Introduction to 
services

All 33 members 19 Members

Introduction to 
Local Government

All 33 members 16 Members

HR, Allowances 
and Health & Safety

All 33 members 16 Members

Introduction to 
Nuclear

All 33 members 13 Members

Planning Panel Training 11 Members of Planning 
Panel

11 Members

OSC Training All 33 members 22 Members
Fraud, Corruption 
& Money Laundering

All 33 members 20 Members

Copeland Direct All 33 members 12 Members
Revenue & Benefits All 33 members 12 Members
Housing Services All 33 members 12 Members
Standards and Ethics 
(external training)

7 Members of Standards 
and Ethics Committee

6 Members

Audit 7 Members of Audit 
Committee

3 Members

5.5 The following is a breakdown of the attendance at the above training sessions:
Attendance rate between 90% > 100 %  1 Member
Attendance rate between 75% > 89 %  5 Members
Attendance rate between 50% > 74 %  16 Members
Attendance rate between 25% > 49 %  3 Members
Attendance rate between   0% > 24 %  8 Members

5.6 Two members attended none of the training sessions provided.

5.7 Thirteen, or 39% of Members, attended 49% or less of the available training.

5.7 From May 2019, mandatory training was introduced for all Members appointed to 
the Planning Panel prior to attendance at a first Panel meeting.

Page 64



6. MEMBER UPDATES – IT EQUIPMENT/MOBILES

6.1 From May 2019, elected Members have been given a choice to receive Council 
updates and Committee papers by paper (printed hardcopy), or, electronically via a 
Council issued tablet.  The choice made by a Councillor will stay in force for a 12 
month period at the end of which, a further choice for the subsequent 12 months will 
be given.

6.2 For those Members electing for electronic communication as a preference, Members 
Tablets have been ordered and are currently being set up (installation and security 
checked) by our ICT team and should be ready for issue by the end of August 2019.  

6.3 All Councillors receive a Council issued mobile phone.  Despite several reminders, a  
small number of Councillors have yet to collect their new mobile phones from 
Member services.

6.4 All Members must sign the Council’s IT Acceptance User policy at the point of their 
first electronic device collection.  The Council is acutely aware of IT security risk and 
implications, and expect Members to observe IT user rules and guidance at all times 
in order to ensure collective Corporate cyber safety.

7. TOWN AND PARISH COUNCILS

7.1 A number of Town and Parish Clerks across the Borough have sought advice on issues 
relating to regulatory compliance e.g. declarations of interest, Member standards, 
governance and other procedural matters.

7.2 At the present time, it has been brought to the Monitoring Officer’s attention four 
resignations across two Parish Councils, for which vacancy notices will be published 
shortly.

8. STANDARDS AND ETHICS

8.1 Code of Conduct Complaints

8.1.1 There have been four formal complaints made to the Monitoring Officer in regard to 
breaches in Code of Conduct since May 2019.  All four of these complaints involve 
several members of Parton Parish Council.

8.1.2 Two complaints have already followed the Code of Conduct process and decision 
notices issued and published; the remaining two are due to be heard by the 
Standards and Ethics Committee scheduled for 20th August 2019.  

Page 65



8.1.3 The Council appoints Independent Persons to assist it in determining any outcomes of 
an investigation and Code of Conduct hearing.  Copeland currently has three 
appointed I.P.s., one of whom has been in attendance when the Standards and Ethics 
committee convened.

8.2 Register of Councillors disclosable pecuniary interests

8.2.1 All Councillors have completed their register of disclosable pecuniary interests.  

8.2.2 The register of disclosable pecuniary interests is now published and available for 
public inspection.

8.2.3 A number of councillors have already made amendments to their entries due to 
changes in circumstances.  Members are advised to update their forms as and when 
required via Member services.

9. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS 

9.1 The Freedom of Information legislation gives individuals and companies the right to 
ask public authorities whether they hold certain information and, if they do, the right 
to be given that information, subject to certain statutory exemptions.

9.2 If a public authority refuses to disclose the information, the applicant can ask for an 
internal review by the Monitoring Officer.  If the requester is unhappy with the 
outcome of the internal review he/she can appeal to the Information Commissioner.

9.3 The volume of requests are set out below:

2019 No of 
requests
Received 

Number 
granted in 

full

Number 
refused in 

full 

Number 
refused in 

part

Appeals 
to ICO

1 May – 31 July 175 168 5 2 2

9.4 This compares with the following for the same period in 2018:

2018 No of 
requests
Received

Number 
granted in 

full

Number 
refused in 

full 

Number 
refused in 

part

Appeals 
to ICO

1 May – 31 July 254 230 20 4 Not 
known

Page 66



10. MALADMINISTRATIONS

10.1 There has been no occasion where the Monitoring Officer had reason to believe that 
there was a likelihood that the Council was about to take a decision that would be 
unlawful or give rise to maladministration. Consequently, no reports have been 
issued to the council under Section 5(2) of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989.

10.2 There have been no advised findings received from the Local Government 
Ombudsman with regard to maladministration

11.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

11.1 Monitoring Officer comments: Contained within the Report

11.2 Financial comments: No financial implications arise from this report.

11.3 EIA Comments: No equality issues arise from this report.

11.4 Policy Framework: No issues arise from this report.

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Council 090919

Constitution Changes- Planning. Report of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

LEAD MEMBER: Councillor John Kane
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive 

Communities
REPORT AUTHOR: James Young, Scrutiny Officer

SUMMARY:
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviewed the proposed changes to the 
Constitution at request of Council. Their comments and recommendations are 
contained within this report.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) Adopt the changes to the Copeland Borough Council Constitution in relation to           
Planning subject to the changes outlined in section 2 of this report.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 At the meeting of Council on 25th June 2019 the Council asked the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (OSC) to scrutinise the Constitution changes relating to 
Planning.

1.2 A special meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee was held on 19th 
August 2019 to discuss the proposed changes. All councillors were invited to 
attend the meeting to comment on the proposals and ask questions of the 
report author.

1.3 The OSC reviewed the document prepared by the Planning Development 
Manager, attached as Appendix A to this report, and made comments and 
recommendations based on this document. 

2. PROPOSALS

2.1 The OSC agreed with the proposed changes to the Amendment to Scheme of 
Delegation section.

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



2.2 The Committee propose that all changes to the Member’s Site Visit section are 
rejected. Therefore, the section will remain as it is currently in the Copeland 
Borough Council Constitution.

2.3 The OSC propose the removal of point 1 in the Public Speaking Procedure and 
accept points 2 and 3.

2.4 The Committee propose accepting the Minded to Decisions section subject to a 
reference to site visits being added.

2.5 The Members Protocol was rejected by the Committee as it agreed that it 
needed further discussion. The OSC will create a Member’s Protocol Task and 
Finish group to undertake this work.

3. CONCLUSIONS

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee welcomed the opportunity to review the 
changes to the Constitution and make recommendations upon them.

3.2 The OSC shall report to Council with the recommendations from the Member’s 
Protocol Task and Finish Group.

4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 Legal Comments are: At the OSC meeting members were advised that the 
presence at site visits of objectors (whether they be parish council 
representatives or statutory objectors) created a risk of appearance of bias. As 
explained at the last Council meeting an applicant for planning permission 
viewing this gathering of people from a distance and seeing Planning Panel 
members talking to objectors, which he had not been invited to, might then 
consider the members not to be impartial. In challenging a decision it is only the 
appearance of bias that is relevant – there does not have to be actual bias. In law 
the test is “whether the fair-minded and informed observer, having considered 
the facts, would conclude that there was a real possibility that the tribunal was 
biased” – Porter v McGill. The preferred option is for the Panel to attend site 
visits alone with no objectors present other than statutory objectors clarifying 
technical issues. If members insist on some objectors being present then it is 
important that a protocol is devised which sets out the procedure at site visits, 
its purposes and what can and cannot be discussed. The OSC is to undertake the 
review of the members’ planning protocol. It is recommended that this review 
by OSC is extended to include how site visits are managed and discussion at site 
visits.

Page 70



4.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: The requirement of updating the 
Council’s constitution is relevant at this time with ongoing work, and, Planning 
updates play an important part. I strongly support the legal comments made 
insofar as seeking clarity, transparency and integrity of site visits, the proposal 
for objectors to be excluded reduces the possible exposure and opportunity for 
bias or pre-determination to arise during the planned visit.

4.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: There are no financial implications 
arising from these recommendations.

5. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

5.1 The proposed changes do not result in any additional resource implications.

6. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE MANAGED?

6.1 The Constitution will be reviewed regularly by the Standards and Ethics 
Committee.

7. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 
REPORT?

7.1 The proposed changes will ensure that the current constitution is up to date with 
current policy and legislation and will reinforce the importance and integrity of 
the functions of the Planning Panel in determining planning applications.

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – Summary of Changes
Appendix B – Constitution Changes relating to Planning

List of Background Documents:

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Area of Change Proposed Change Issues Raised Revisions Reason For Change

Amendment to 
scheme of 
delegation

1. The removal of the requirement for 
all schemes that fall within the 
definition of major development to 
be automatically reported to the 
Panel for determination. Major 
planning applications are defined in 
planning legislation as any housing 
scheme that comprises 10 or more 
units or covers more than 0.5 
hectares of land and on any other 
non-residential scheme proposals 
that would result in the creation of 
more than 1000 square metres of 
floor space or cover an area of 
more than 1 hectare  

2. The inclusion of delegated powers 
to allow Stop Notices, Temporary 
Stop Notices and Notices under 
Section 215 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act to be issued 
by the Planning Development 
Manager/Solicitor without 
reference to the Planning Panel.

This change reduces the 
opportunities to a 
democratic process for 
objectors to be involved 
in the planning process.

No revisions 
proposed. 

The existing 
Constitution includes 
a Members “call in” 
procedure for 
decisions to be made 
by the Planning 
Panel, a requirement 
for decisions to be 
made in accordance 
with the adopted 
Development Plan, 
and any applications 
where there is a 
substantive objection 
from either a 
statutory consultee 
or a Parish Council to 
be referred to the 
Planning Panel for 
determination. 

To ensure that the process is 
efficient and ensures that 
resources are concentrated 
on the contentious or more 
complex development 
proposals. This will also help 
to enhance performance 
against national targets. 

P
age 73



Minded to 
Decisions

At the meeting following a ‘minded to’ 
decision, the Planning Development 
Manager (or representative) will 
present an Addendum report covering 
any further information/update and 
advising Members on the material 
planning considerations relevant to the 
case. The only further representations 
that will be permitted at the following 
meeting from those who spoke at the 
earlier meeting will be restricted to the 
reasons put forward by the Members 
or the contents of the Planning 
Development Managers Addendum 
report.  Each speaker will be only be 
allocated 3 minutes to make their 
representations. The applicant or their 
agent will be given the opportunity to 
respond. 

Members who were not present at the 
original meeting when the ‘minded to’ 
decision was made, will not be 
permitted to take part in the discussion 
and voting in the following meeting 
where the application is determined, 
unless that Member has listened to a 
recording and/or read a full transcript 
of the original meeting and has signed a 
declaration to the effect that they are in 

Recording of the 
Planning Panel meeting 
should be openly 
available to members of 
the public without 
having to go through a 
FOI process.

Will each Member be 
asked to give clear and 
concise reasons on 
occasions when they go 
against Officer 
recommendation after 
they have voted? 

This restriction limits 
the right for objectors 
to raise new 
information. 

The previous revision 
permits the original 
speakers to make 
further 
representations 
based on the reasons 
put forward by the 
Members of the 
contents of the 
Planning 
Development 
Managers Addendum 
report. 

To ensure that the meeting 
is focussed around the 
reasons for refusal/approval 
and avoids repetition.
It is important that decisions
are made in an open and
honest way, based on
credible evidence and are
sufficiently robust.  

P
age 74



possession of the full evidence relevant 
to the case.  

Public Speaking 
Procedure

1. The introduction of a maximum 
limit of 5 speakers in support or 5 
speakers in opposition to any 
planning application. Spaces will be 
allocated on a first come first 
served basis although speakers will 
be encouraged to work 
collaboratively.

2. The restriction of the opportunity 
to speak to one meeting only to 
prevent repetition.

3. A requirement for any information 
that a speaker wishes to circulate 
to the Planning Panel such as 
photographs or written statement 
to be submitted 6 working days 
prior to the meeting.

The restriction to a 
small number of 
speakers reduces the 
democratic rights of the 
community and makes 
it harder for objectors 
to be heard. This is not 
transparent and 
contravenes the 
provisions of the 
Localism Act. 

There is no clear 
guidance on when the 
Chair will exert their 
discretion to allow 
additional speakers

What procedures will 
be put in place to avoid 
early planted objections 
that raise non material 
planning objections 
taking up the 5 
allocated spaces? This 

The number of 
speakers above the 
limit of 5 will be 
allowed at the Chairs 
discretion.

To ensure that the meeting 
is focussed around material 
planning considerations and 
avoids repetition.
It is important that decisions
are made in an open and
honest way, based on
credible evidence and are
sufficiently robust.  P

age 75



would restrict the right 
of people with valid 
material objections to 
be heard.

The limitation of 
numbers is designed to 
limit good honest 
representation to the 
Planning Panel from the 
public and it gives 
Planning Officers more 
control of the process. 

The limits to the 
number of speakers is 
not appropriate for 
large scale controversial 
planning applications 
such as the 370 houses 
proposed at Harras 
Moor. This does not 
allow for sound 
representation to be 
made by the 
community affected by 
the proposal.  

P
age 76



How is the allocation of 
the 5 spaces to be 
controlled? 

Members Site 
Visits

1. If a site visit is recommended by 
the officer’s report the following 
people shall be invited to attend:- 

a. The Council’s Planning Officers
b. Members of the Planning Panel 
c. Technical Officers of Statutory 

bodies, giving technical evidence 
where necessary e.g. Highways 
officer.

 
2. No other person shall be in 

attendance at the site visit. This 
includes Parish Councillors, Ward 
Councillors, and County 
Councillors. Should the 
Parish/Town Council require a site 
visit in order to inform their 
comments on any particular 
planning application that is to be 
the subject of a Members site visit 
then a separate site visit can be 
facilitated by the Planning 
Development Manager (or 
representative) with prior notice. 

3. Members’ attendance at a site visit 

Clarification on whether 
the Parish Council will 
be excluded from the 
site visits has been 
sought. 

How will low numbers 
of Members turning up 
at site visits affect the 
validity of the decision 
making process, 
especially as the 
quorum for the 
Planning Panel is only 3 
Members?
Would the Panel 
meeting be deferred if 
insufficient numbers 
were present to allow 
an additional site visit 
to take place?

How would the 
deferment be dealt with 
in terms of timescales 

No further revisions 
proposed. 

The proposal as 
amended offers the 
Parish Council an 
opportunity for a site 
visit with the 
Planning Officer 
separate to the 
Members site visit to 
allow their comments 
to be informed by 
site specific 
information. Parish 
Councils also have 
the opportunity to 
attend the Planning 
Panel meetings and 
make their 
observations in 
person. 

Site visits are for the benefit 
of Members of the Planning 
Panel and are useful to 
provide an understanding of 
the local context of the site 
and its surroundings, the 
development proposed and 
seeks any clarification from 
Officers that Members may 
have. The current procedure 
where Parish/Town Councils 
and Ward and County 
Councillors are invited 
results in the unacceptable 
lobbying of Members which 
introduces bias into the 
process and leave the 
Council open to legal 
challenge. 

The requirement that 
decisions are only made by 
those Members who attend 
the site visit is important to 
ensure that decisions are 
made in an open and honest 

P
age 77



is to be in line with the procedure 
set out in the Protocol for Planning 
Panel Members.

for the determination of 
planning applications? 

way, based on credible 
evidence and are sufficiently 
robust.  

Members 
Protocol

Introduction of a new protocol for 
Members of the Planning Panel which 
sets out requirements relating to 
attendance, training, expectations, 
decision making, communication and 
declarations of interest

No comments received. No revisions 
proposed

This protocol is considered 
necessary to promote and 
maintain high standards of 
conduct and behaviours at 
the Planning Panel as 
required by the Localism Act 
and to make the decision 
making process more robust 
and reflect current policy 
and legislation.

P
age 78



 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO COUNCIL CONSTITUTION RELATING TO PLANNING  
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor David Moore  
LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Head of Governance 
REPORT AUTHOR: Nick Hayhurst, Planning Development Manager 
 
 
SUMMARY: 
This report and the attached appendices sets out the proposed changes to the Council`s 
Constitution with regards to the Planning function of the Council. It is the first phase in 
the planned review of the Constitution.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                               
 
Full Council is recommended to:- 

1. Approve the proposed amendments to the scheme of delegation with regards to 
the criteria for planning applications to be reported to the Planning Panel for 
determination and the extension of delegated powers to enable specified 
enforcement notices to be issued 

2. Approve the proposed amendments to the procedures for decisions contrary to 
Officer recommendation 

3. Approve the proposed amendments to the public speaking procedure at 
Planning Panel 

4. Agree to the introduction of a Protocol for Members who sit on the Planning 
Panel 

 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Currently Chapter 10 of the Council`s Constitution sets out the rules relating to 

the Regulatory functions of the Council. The Regulatory Committees deal with 
Planning and Licensing matters.    
 

1.2 The current Constitution relating to Planning has not been reviewed for a 
number of years and it is considered timely to implement some changes to make 
the decision making process more robust and reflect current policy and 
legislation. The operation of the Planning Panel has been subject to intense 
scrutiny over the past two years due to the nature and scale of the proposed 
developments considered, the level of public interest in these developments and 
the changing policy position. This has placed greater pressure on both Members 
and Officers.  

Page 79



1.3 It is important that decisions are made in an open and honest way, based on 
credible evidence and are sufficiently robust.   

 
 
 
2. PROPOSALS 
 
2.1 It is proposed Chapter 10 of the Council`s Constitution will set out the term of 

reference of the Planning Panel and includes the scheme of delegation for 
determination of planning and other applications, decisions contrary to Officer 
recommendation and the public speaking procedures. 

 
2.2 It is proposed to include the following changes to the scheme of delegation:-   
 

- The removal of the requirement for all scheme that fall within the definition 
of major development to be automatically reported to the Panel for 
determination. Major planning applications are defined in planning 
legislation as any housing scheme that comprises 10 or more units or covers 
more than 0.5 hectares of land and on any other non-residential scheme 
proposals that would result in the creation of more than 1000 square 
metres of floor space or cover an area of more than 1 hectare   

- The inclusion of delegated powers to allow Stop Notices, Temporary Stop 
Notices and Notices under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act to be issued by the Planning Development Manager/Solicitor without 
reference to the Planning Panel  

 
2.3  It is proposed to include the following changes to the procedures for decisions 

contrary to Officer Recommendation:- 
 

- On minded to decisions, following the month “cooling off” period no further 
representations will be permitted from objectors, supporters, Parish 
Councillors, Ward Councillors or County Councillors when the application is 
reported back to the Planning Panel for determination 

- Members who were not present at the original meeting when the “minded 
to“ decision was made will not be permitted to take part in the discussion 
and voting on that item  at the following meeting at which the application is 
to be determined unless that Member has listened to a recording and/or 
read a full transcript of the original meeting and has signed a declaration to 
that effect   

 
2.4 The proposed changes to the public speaking procedure are as follows:- 
 

- The introduction of a maximum limit of 5 speakers in support or 5 speakers 
in opposition to any planning application. Spaces will be allocated on a first 

Page 80



come first served basis although speakers will be encouraged to work 
collaboratively 

- The restriction of the opportunity to speak to one meeting only to prevent 
repetition 

- A requirement for any information that a speaker wishes to circulate to the 
Planning Panel such as photographs or written statement to be submitted 6 
working days prior to the meeting 

 
2.5 It is proposed to introduce a Protocol for Members of the Planning Panel into 

Chapter 10 of the Council`s Constitution as set out in Appendix B. The protocol 
covers requirements for attendance, training, expectations, decision making, 
communication and declarations of interest. This protocol is considered 
necessary to promote and maintain high standards of conduct and behaviours at 
the Planning Panel as required by the Localism Act.  

 
 
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 The proposed changes and the introduction of the Members Protocol are 

considered to be essential to ensure that the Panning Panel operates in a fair 
and open manner and Members are fully accountable for their decision making. 
It is designed to reinforce the integrity of the decision making process and will 
ensure a defined and satisfactory standard of performance.  

3.2  Full Council is recommended to support and endorse the proposed changes to 
the scheme of delegation, decisions contrary to Officer recommendation and the 
public speaking procedures as set out in 2.2 to 2.4 of the report and also to agree 
to the introduction of a Protocol for Members who sit on the Planning Panel as 
set out in Appendix B. 
 

 
4.      STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1       The Monitoring Officer’s/Legal comments are: 

All legal issues arising are contained within this report of the procedure 
 

 
4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: 
 There are no financial implications arising from these recommendations. 
 
 
5 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
5.1       The proposed changes do not result in any additional resource requirements. 
 

Page 81



6      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS    
GOING TO BE MANAGED? 

 
6.1 Chapter 10 of the Councils Constitution relating to Planning will be reviewed 

with the Head of Governance and Commercial and the Council`s Solicitor on an 
annual basis to ensure that it reflects current policy and legislation and is fit for 
purpose.   

 
7       WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT? 
 
7.1 The proposed changes will ensure that the current constitution is up to date with 

current policy and legislation and will reinforce the importance and integrity of 
the functions of the Planning Panel in determining planning applications.  

 
 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A – Revised Chapter 10 - Scheme of Delegation and Public Speaking Procedure 
Appendix B – Protocol for Planning Panel Members 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
Chapter 10 of the Council Constitution 

Page 82



2019 – 2023 COMMERCIAL STRATEGY

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Steven Morgan, Portfolio Holder for Commercial   
                                                     Development

LEAD OFFICER: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services & 
Commercial Strategy (& Monitoring Officer)                  

REPORT AUTHORS: Sarah Pemberton

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?

This Commercial Strategy 2019-23 is a review of the past four years and considers the 
progress the Council has made towards commercialisation. Importantly, it is a refresh and 
rewrite of our Commercial Strategy for the coming four years in order to position and 
support the Councils strategic outcomes, and as such, key in helping us to achieve our 
mission and vision set out in our Corporate Strategy.

The Commercial Strategy 2019-23 explores those options to become financially self-
sustaining without compromise to frontline services, to adopt recognised best practice from 
progressive and successful commercial activities and alternative environments, and, to 
deliver Council ambition and aspirations by responding to public expectations and demand. 

The strategy looks to consolidate the Council’s existing commercial operations and provide a 
framework, with defined objectives, for new commercial projects and for the delivery of 
future commercial activity.

WHY HAS THE REPORT COME TO FULL COUNCIL? 

This is a key document to drive and shape the future of the Council.  Full Council is 
requested to formally endorse the approach and sign off the draft Commercial Strategy 
2019-23 document ready for adoption.

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Council are requested to: 

a) Agree and approve the Commercial Strategy (2019-23) as a means of enabling  
              the Council to deliver a key ambition with strategic outcomes. 
             

Page 83

Agenda Item 13



1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The impact of change and challenges brought about by central government funding 
reductions to local government are faced uniformly across the country.

1.2 Copeland Borough Council acknowledges the challenges that it faces, but also views 
the current funding picture as an opportunity to affect fundamental changes to how 
we do business, which will result in improvements to services we deliver as a result.

1.3 The “age of austerity” has been instrumental in Councils challenging themselves, and 
the pressures caused are a requirement to seek to do things differently. 

1.4       To bridge the financial gap and become a sustainable Council protecting frontline      
      services, the Council recognises incremental change will no longer suffice, and    
      wholesale change and a different model of operation is required. 

2 PROPOSALS  

2.1 This new Commercial Strategy (2019-23) looks to consolidate the Council’s existing 
commercial activity and provide a framework, with defined objectives and tools, for 
new commercial opportunities and for the delivery of all future commercial activity.

2.2   This will be delivered through a programme of work that includes a process for  
               identifying potential opportunities, applies methodologies to further develop those  
               opportunities, has a structure in place to ensure those fledgling opportunities are  
               nurtured and supported, and has the resources and capacity to successfully deliver  
               the outcomes of the strategy.

2.3 The strategy will be key to develop clearer commissioning intentions and medium 
term delivery outcomes across all major service areas e.g. by seeking more 
innovative approaches to delivery, challenging existing approaches and painting a 
picture of what the Council will look like in 2023.

2.4 The strategy lays out the Council’s need to have a clear understanding of risk 
appetite.  This should be viewed as a risk aware approach – opportunities assessed in 
terms of proportionality and fit to our Council status i.e. a small rural district council 
with clear challenges but also unique opportunities.  It is recognised that avoiding all 
risk would result in no achievement, no progress and no reward.

2.5 Taking the approach outlined in the strategy, complements steps already being 
taken to corporate modernisation.  These will include:

2.5.1 Transforming service provision, reviewing the efficiency and effectiveness of    
           services and developing a vision built around sustainable delivery models. 

Page 84



2.5.2 Carrying out full service diagnostics including understanding true unit costs,       
          demand led pressures and performance levels that can be benchmarked.

2.5.2 Conducting robust service planning to ensure outcomes, priorities and  
                        commercial objectives remain clearly aligned to core Council plans and  
                        priorities.    

2.6   In order to make the Council’s commercial strategy a reality, it is recognised that a    
               commercial culture is at the heart of a commercial council.  Copeland leadership   
               will facilitate cultural shift based on consensus that can enable a flexible, dynamic  
               and commercially aware culture to flourish.

2.7        The draft document highlights the commercial core focus areas that will drive the   
commercialisation agenda, those being primarily: commissioning and procurement, 
assets and investments, income generating services, traded services and trading
companies.  A blended portfolio will give short-term wins, sustainability, risk 
diversity and long term financial returns.

2.8        Governance, management and performance of partnerships and contracts will be 
robust to ensure that the Council adheres to its statutory responsibilities and that 
public money continues to be appropriately used.

2.9        To ensure the success of our approach it is critical that robust governance is in place 
       that is inclusive and reflects the intrinsic value of commercialisation to the Council. It 

is proposed that a new Commercial Board will be created to provide oversight of 
strategy, commercial opportunity selection, operational delivery and leadership 
working with the services.   

2.10 The overarching aim of the strategy is to deliver a financial return which contributes 
to the Council’s overall efficiency and revenue generation, and which will be 
essential to safeguard frontline services.  The successful delivery of this strategy will 
contribute significantly towards the Council becoming financially self-sufficient.

3 CONCLUSIONS

3.1       The Commercial Strategy 2019-23 does not stand-alone but is intrinsically linked and 
complements other key documents that contribute to the overall success of 
Copeland Council.  However, it is a pivotal document in supporting, providing
momentum and moving forward commercialism within Copeland Borough Council, a 
key ambition of the Corporate Strategy.  

   
3.2 This commercialisation strategy aims to put in place measures designed to offset 

the substantial cuts that Copeland not has not only experienced, but also further 
envisages and expects during the coming years.

Page 85



3.3 The successful delivery of this strategy will contribute significantly towards the  
             Council achieving a financially self-sufficient status.

3.4        Council are requested to agree and approve the draft Commercial Strategy 
attached at Appendix A.

 
4 STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS

4.1       The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:  Contained in report. 

4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: The report recommends the approval and
       adoption of the strategy by Council.  Any specific financial implications that arise on delivery 
       of the strategy will be considered and dealt with at the appropriate time.

4.3 EIA Comments:   Major commercial schemes will require IEIAs where expansion and 
development of existing services will link with the approaches in service delivery 
already in place and assessed through the service planning process.

4.4 Policy Framework Comments:   Commercialisation is one of the four ambitions in 
the adopted Corporate Strategy.  The Strategy here will deliver impact across all 
Council strategic objectives.

5 HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE PROJECT MANAGED?

5.1 The Commercial Strategy will be delivered through the Commercial Framework 
Project which will be project managed by the Commercial Team, within the 
Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy Directorate.  

5.2   It is proposed to set-up a Commercial Engagement Group who will feed the   
                commercial pipeline for the Council, with oversight and support from a newly  
                formed Commercial Board.

5.3          A risk register is in place and all risks from activity as a result of this strategy will be 
  managed through the Council’s Risk Management Framework.  This will ensure 
  commercialisation will be considered regularly as the strategic risk register is 
  monitored by CLT, and, managed through quarterly feedback to the Audit 
  Committee alongside the quarterly performance management reporting to 
  Executive.

6 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

6.1         If the Council is to develop a commercial agenda with a corporate aim of being 
        financially self-sustaining, it is recognised there will be need for investment in 
        additional commercial skills and capacity.  A Head of Operational and Commercial 

Page 86



        Services position has already been approved and will report to the Director of  
        Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy. Recruitment is due to start in Q2 and 
       envisaged an appointment will be made in Q3.  

       As the commercial strategy gains momentum and gets traction, there may be   
additional resources required in either an increased resource capacity function,   
and/or, in a complementary function e.g. marketing and business development, 
external consultancy and technical advice, establishing a Trading Company and/or 
any other delivery models as appropriate.

6.2 It is documented in the strategy that, after due diligence and considered decision-
making, the Council may wish to make bold strategic longer term investments for a 
determined acceptable rate of return.  Such investments may require financial 
allocation and/or borrowings. It is recognised that investment in a risk aware way 
will be needed in order to grow and succeed commercially. 
 

6.3 Everyone working for Copeland Borough Council has an important part to play in 
contributing to the success of this strategy.  The development of a commercial 
culture is central to ensuring the strategy is implemented effectively at all levels, 
and, that necessary and required resources are available to achieve the desired 
goals. 

7 WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT?

7.1 We will have in place a Commercial Strategy to inform and develop commercial 
operations and activity within the Council.

7.2 The success and delivery of the Commercial Strategy will be measured through a 
series of Corporate and Strategy Key Deliverables and Performance Indicators as 
part of our Performance Management Framework to deliver our Corporate 
Strategy.

Appendices: 

Appendix A – Draft Commercial Strategy 2019-23 v.1.0

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commercial Strategy 2019–2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version: 1.0 Draft 

Author:  Sarah Pemberton 

Date:  July 2019  

Page 89



 

2 
 

Document Control  

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title Commercialisation Strategy 2019-23 

Version 1.0 Draft 

Author Sarah Pemberton 

Filename G:/Draft CBC Commercialisation Strategy 2019-23 

v1.0 Aug 2019.doc 

Owner Director of Corporate Services and Commercial 

Strategy 

Subject Commercial 

Protective Marking  

Review Date May 2023 

Note: This document is uncontrolled if printed or reproduced 

Revision History 

Version 

Reviewed 

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision 

    

 

Document Approval  

Version Approved By Date 

 Human Resources Not Applicable 

1.0 Draft  Corporate Leadership Team July 2019 

 Trade Union Consultation Not Applicable 

 Audit Committee Not Applicable 

 Executive  

 Full Council  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

3 
 

Contents 

1.0        Overview: Commercialisation 2016-20 - reviewed      4 

 

2.0        Commercialisation 2019-23: Our Vision       5 
 
3.0        Commercial Strategy 2019-23– The Fundamentals        6 
 
4.0        Commercial Strategy 2019-23: Key Drivers       7 
 
5.0        Commercial Strategy 2019-23: Key aims & objectives      8 
 
6.0        Boundaries & Principles of commercialisation incorporated     9 
 
7.0        Strategic Links          10 
 
8.0        Creating the right environment – ‘being’ commercial            11-12 
 
9.0        Corporate Modernisation – Benefits                    13 
 
10.0 Commercial Strategy Framework                    14 
 
11.0 Commercial Strategy – Core Focus                    15 
 
12.0 Identified potential opportunities              16-18 
 
13.0 Governance: Compliant Delivery                    19 
 
14.0 Governance: Commercial Board Illustration                   20 
 
15.0 Risk Management                      21 
 
16.0 Ownership                       21 
 
17.0 Priority Opportunities & Next Steps                    22 
 
18.0 Local Authority Initiatives and Successes                           23-24 

 
 

Appendix 1:   Commercialisation Strategy 2016-20                  25 
Appendix 2:   CBC key aims of the commercial strategy 2016-20          26-27 
Appendix 3:  The Legal Basis for Charging, Trading and Investing          28-29 
Appendix 4:  Supplementary Legal, Commercial and Financial Considerations              30 

  

Page 91



 

4 
 

1.0 Overview: Commercialisation 2016-20 - reviewed. 
 
This document is a refresh of the outgoing strategy (2016-20) and building on the progress made, 
lessons learned and unforeseen challenges during the period, it outlines Copeland Council’s 
approach to, and ambition for, commercialisation during 2019-23. 
 
There have been some good introductory examples within Copeland Council of revenue generation 
projects being successfully implemented, such as the waste recycling project (including the recycling 
credit subsidy) and more recently launch of the pest control service in 2019.  In addition, cost saving 
initiatives are being tackled via the procurement and contract strategy relaunch, and, there has been 
training given in the art of commercialisation to stimulate and embed the culture among service 
managers and their teams.   
 
The concentration of effort and production in the last few years has been centred around 
governance with the creation of a commercial strategy 2016-20, a commercial delivery plan, an 
“embedding a commercial culture” paper and various ancillary supporting documentation – some of 
which have been adopted, others have not.  Governance and aligning with the Corporate plan has 
played a key part, and, as could have been expected, there has been immersion in the diagnostics of 
commercial preparation producing some early re-engineering for efficiencies, and, success in familiar 
service areas. 
 
In addition to the above, a major overhaul of the Council’s staff grading and structure was carried 
out to produce a leaner, more efficient, appropriately skilled and modernised public sector 
workforce. Outside expertise and skills have been brought into the Council to strengthen a model 
which it needs to both adapt and adopt so that it can morph into an organisation fit for purpose, 
and, in an arena (notwithstanding statutory obligations) where public-private sector lines are clearly 
blurred.  This will now provide the springboard to move the organisation forward at all levels and 
within envisaged future timescales. 
 
Whilst acknowledging that a small level of commercial success has been made, there is acute 
recognition that progress to date is insufficient and will not be enough to meet the significant 
funding pressures the Council is experiencing, and, which shows no sign of abating. 
 
This Commercialisation Strategy (2019-23) aims to put in place measures designed to offset the 
substantial cuts that Copeland has not only experienced, but also further envisages and expects 
during the coming years. 
 
The refreshed Strategy 2019-23 acknowledges that during the last four years through much fact-
finding, research, awareness, deliberation and discussion there is no “one size fits all” commercial 
strategy, nor off-the shelf commodity paper or model to pick up and utilise.  
 
The lack of future commercial returns will cut existing services – to “do nothing” is a risk in itself.  In 
simple terms, commercialisation is not an alternative – it is an “as well” and commands an 
imperative. 
 
Copeland Council are not yet able to badge themselves as a commercial council, but we are 
determined to take proactive steps and build momentum to take a far more commercial approach 
and apply this to our service provision, commissioning cycle, fees and charges, procurement, 
opportunities, skills, mind-set and culture in order to achieve both cost rationalisation and revenue 
generation. 
 

Page 92



 

5 
 

2.0 Commercialisation 2019-23: Our Vision 
 

“Our vision is for Copeland Borough Council to be a resilient, engaged, innovative and 
commercially enterprising Council delivering high quality, sustainable community services,   
exceeding resident expectations and responsive to business needs.” 

 
The age of austerity has been instrumental in Councils challenging themselves, and the pressures 
caused have not only given us “permission”, but, are a requirement to seek to do things differently. 
 
Copeland will promote and harness: 
 

 a culture of services actively looking for additional opportunities without losing focus upon 
their existing customer base and the quality of service delivery;  

 
 services which will strive to be fit to compete and fit to be marketed;  

 
 a portfolio of external service offerings, with full financial analysis of where the greater 

returns lie, and the approach going forwards on how needs must be addressed. 
 

 exploring the many and varied opportunities of supply chain integration within existing and 
new services to address medium and long term issues. 
 

 driving income to raise revenues for services which understand the markets we are working 
in and apply rigorous strategy, business planning and performance management. 

 
 services which make positive financial contributions and which will increasingly be 

considered as the norm. 
 

 a lean back office which operates at increased levels of optimisation and efficiencies and 
challenges the norm of existing practices, acceptability and methodologies – a corporate 
resources support where mediocracy is not ‘okay’, and, which plays an integral part in the 
Council’s future reputation and success 

 
Our staff are involved in actively seeking out potential for reviewing services, and will have a 
reputation for being aware, willing and able, together with a customer focussed performance 
management culture. 
 
Collectively, as an organisation, we will have a comprehensive understanding of our abilities and 
aims, knowing what we can deliver and what we cannot, supported with a clear understanding of 
where it is desirable to be able to increase our capabilities, and, where we do not wish to.  
 
Copeland, in the past, current and anticipated future climate, experiences inexorable pressure on 

funding and an ever-growing demand for services; the Council can no longer be apologetic or 

defensive about the selective use of revenue generation in certain service areas.  

Fast forwarding and in years to come, those services that can stand on their own two feet by 

generating income will be the lifeblood of the Council.  To bridge the financial gap and become a 

sustainable Council protecting frontline services, the Council recognises incremental change will no 

longer suffice and wholesale change and a different model of operation is required.  

  

Page 93



 

6 
 

3.0 Commercialisation Strategy 2019-23– The Fundamentals 
 
This refreshed commercial strategy explores those options to become financially self-sustaining 

without compromise to frontline services, to adopt recognised best practice from progressive and 

successful commercial activities and alternative environments, and, to deliver Council ambition and 

aspirations by responding to public expectations and demand.  This means we will: 

1. Understand that our commercial aims are outcome driven and we will understand our 

markets and their needs led requirements. 

2. Be financially aware and astute, understanding both our financial requirements and 

constraints, while developing a financial model seated in sustainability with long-term 

growth and prosperity aims. 

3. Recognise the Council needs an investment strategy with a net acceptable return on 

investment (R.O.I.) target achievement 

4. Require agreement and delegated authority to seek out and optimise investment 

opportunities and will need to explore and secure ethically acceptable funding sources. 

5. Seek collaborative public or private sector partnerships that deliver financial benefit 

(revenue or capital). 

6. Ensure the Council’s own estate and assets are effectively and efficiently managed with a 

focussed priority to deliver improved net revenue, which, may in the short-term, realise a 

reduction in our assets prior to seeking out opportunities for suitable growth in forging a 

consolidated asset base. 

7. Work actively with staff to strengthen our commercial culture and to look at opportunities 

and solutions brought forward for revenue generation. 

8. Establish the appropriate commercial resource levels with required skills and expertise to 

deliver our aims and outcomes 

Our Commercial Strategy and approach will be ethical.  This means we will: 

 Ensure in an area of complex legislation, that we are legally and state aid compliant. 

 When evaluating the business case of projects with similar returns, in accordance with the 

Public Service (Social Values) Act, we will look to deliver those initiatives that provide the 

best social or environmental outcome, whilst paying due attention to equality, wellbeing and 

safeguarding.  

 Ensure that our service provision and partner collaborations embody our values. 

 Consider positive, and equally any foreseen negative, potential impact of our investment 

actions and service offerings to local businesses and the tiered supply chain. 

 Recognise our role in delivering our commercial priorities, may require a separation of 

decision making from those made by the Council as Local Planning Authority, to prevent 

conflicts of interest. 

Our Commercial Strategy will be risk aware – balancing risk and reward.  This means we will: 

 Aim for a balanced portfolio of commercial projects that cover a range of sectors e.g. returns 

on asset investment, increased revenue generation and reducing costs. 

 Be open minded to opportunities that could be exploited outside of the Borough, which may 

provide greater rewards without enhanced risks. 

 Work with established partners who have proven expertise in their own sector/markets. 

 Recognise that some risks may materialise and small mistakes are inevitable. 

Page 94



 

7 
 

4.0 Commercialisation Strategy 2019-23: Key Drivers 
 
The following key drivers have informed the development of this strategy: 
 

 Significant net revenue generation is required to offset reduced Government funding which 
is diminishing year on year and set to continue through to 2021 and beyond. 

 
 The Council is required each year to produce a balanced revenue budget in order to meet 

service expectations. 
 
 The Council has suffered financial decimation in the shape of the Sellafield business rates 

appeal brought about by specific legislative change, and which has had a major detrimental 
impact. 
 

 Commercial activity and revenue generation underpin the strategic objectives of the Council. 
 

 Our financial position is forcing us to look more commercially at our existing operational 
services and ensure optimum efficiency delivering great value for money 

 
 The Council has an ambition to ‘be’ more commercial, within Copeland itself, and, in 

engagement with Partners and outside bodies. 
 

 The Executive and Corporate Leadership Team recognise their significant role and 
motivational contribution to drive the culture of commercialism through the entire 
organisation. 
 

 The groundwork that has been laid, and, early successes in commercial activities have built 
confidence which we can now harness to move forward at a pace. 
 

 The organisation can no longer work within the traditional public sector “silo” confines; 
commercialisation will affect every service manager, team and area – the requirement for 
full horizontal integration for successful commercial activity is key. 
 

 An understanding that as part of our statutory role we recognise that not all public services 
will have the scope for commercialisation, but efficiencies will continue to be optimised 
wherever possible through successful application of grant funding sources and joint 
working/collaborations. 
 

 Doing nothing is an alternative – but not an option. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



 

8 
 

5.0 Commercialisation Strategy 2019-23: Key aims & objectives 
 
The overarching aims of the strategy are to deliver a financial return that protects frontline services, 
contributes to the council spending plans and helps to sustain priority outcomes in the local 
community. 
 
This will entail developing a programme of work that includes a process for identifying potential 
opportunities, applies methodologies to further develop those opportunities, has a structure in place 
to ensure those fledgling opportunities are nurtured and supported, and has the resources and 
capacity to successfully deliver the outcomes of the strategy. 
 
It is also key to develop clearer commissioning intentions and medium term delivery strategies 
across all major service areas, e.g. by seeking more innovative approaches to delivery, challenging 
existing approaches and set a picture of what the Council will look like in 2023. 
 
Further identified objectives will be to: 
 

• Deliver a financial return and contribution in order to invest in services we have to run 
where we cannot recover either adequate or any income, or to invest in new projects; 
 
• Help enable non-statutory services to at least cover all their costs including overheads (and 
potential opportunity cost) in order to reduce risk of closure and be net revenue generating 
where possible; 
 
• Actively engage in market development and market shaping where no such market 
currently exists and using insight to manage specification and demand; 
 
• Explore alternative investment models to support service delivery e.g. Local Authority 
Trading Company (LATC), Local Asset Backed Vehicle (LABV), through social investment etc.; 
 
• Invest and use our financial means to deliver an acceptable and targeted financial return; 
 
• Ensure that outcomes in the local community are delivered on a sustainable basis; 
 
• Strengthen our reputation with residents, local businesses, the Local Government sector, 
staff, other customers, partners, and stakeholders in general; 
 
• Become a services provider to new and existing customers both from within the local 
authority environment and beyond, particularly where we are uniquely placed to do so; 
 
• Use the commercial knowledge acquired through this programme to gain a competitive 
advantage and take bolder steps towards possibilities/opportunities that previously would 
have seemed out of reach. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



 

9 
 

6.0 Boundaries & Principles of commercialisation incorporated 
 
Commercialisation for Copeland can be corralled into the following areas: 
 

 Fitness of existing Trade services 

 Expansion of Trade Services – client growth through both the public and businesses. 

 New Trade service offerings 

 Increasing market share  

 Shared services 

 Financial Portfolio Investments 

 Pricing analysis – full recovery and outcomes-based 

 Fees and charges 

 Consideration of concessions – effective subsidisation 

 Improved contract & relationship management 

 Continuous improvement in procurement 

 Cost rationalising through efficiencies and productivity 

 Opportunities for Joint Ventures and Partnership projects e.g. property investment and use 
of Copeland assets. 

 Commercial Brand recognition & Digitisation 

 Recognition, respect and trust of Copeland residents and businesses 
 
This strategy advocates that the commercialisation approach is open to all services (or permissible 
elements of services).  
 
The approach initially will be to focus and centre on a small number of key and/or already identified 
opportunities.  
 
This will enable Copeland to ensure organisational learning is built up, processes are refined, and 
projects can be resourced without the need for extensive/expensive external support. 
 
The principles of commercialisation include: 
 

 Appetite for risk – being risk aware and understanding risks being taken, scale of risk 
and how it fits into overall strategy 

 Preparedness to invest now for a return in the future 

 Willingness still to take risks understanding some ideas may fail 

 Agreement that a commercial investment fund is required to capitalise on 
opportunities requiring quick turnaround of delegated decision making 

 Receptive to all options for service delivery 

 Commercial understanding, skill set and behaviours 

 Measuring success factors and learning from mistakes 

 Honesty about current service performance levels 

 A requirement for concessions to be carefully considered 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



 

10 
 

7.0 Strategic Links 
 
This Commercialisation Strategy does not stand-alone but is intrinsically linked and complements 
other key documents that contribute towards the overall success of Copeland Council. In particular, 
this strategy has been aligned to: 
 

• Copeland Corporate Plan; 
• Medium Term Financial Strategy; 
• Commercial Framework Project; 
• Copeland Procurement and Contract Management Strategy; 
• Strategic Asset Management Plan. 
 

It impacts across the whole Council; there is a ‘golden thread’ that links our Corporate Plan, Medium 

Term Financial Strategy and the Commercial Strategy to each Service Plan and our day-to-day 

working priorities.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CORPORATE PLAN M.T.F.S 

COMMERCIAL STRATEGY 

PROJECT FRAMEWORK 

SERVICE PLANS 

Treasury 

Management 

Procurement 

Strategy 

Strategic 

Asset Mgmt. 

Contract 

Standing Orders 
Corp. Fees & 

Charges 

Business & Devt Plans 

Page 98



 

11 
 

8.0 Creating the right environment – ‘being’ commercial 
 
Commercialisation is not purely about income generation and growing the organisation’s revenue; it 
is not about ‘doing’ commercial, but it is about ‘being’ commercial:  
 

“Everyone has a part to play – ‘commercial’ must be the DNA in the fabric of the Council” 
 
Copeland leadership will facilitate cultural shift based on consensus that can enable a flexible, 
dynamic and commercially aware culture to flourish. It will explore opportunities and generate 
income without sacrificing the primary function of the Council, to meet residents’ needs 
 
Careful consideration will be given to creating, feeding and encouraging the right environment 
within the organisation to be cooperative in nature, nurture innovative ideas, develop them into 
robust project proposals and bring forward solutions.  
 
 

Creating the Environment: 
 

 Have a clear understanding of the Council’s risk for appetite; the Council has in the past 
exhibited a risk averse approach.  This should now be viewed as a risk aware approach – 
opportunities assessed in terms of proportionality and fit to our Council status i.e. a small 
rural district Council with clear challenges but also unique opportunities.  

 
 Having a clear structured governance that flows from a focussed strategy, adding value to 

community needs as well as generating income; this means sound management of funding 
and risks while allowing innovation and staff creativity. 

 
 Utilise Copeland’s already adopted Project Management Framework (PMF) and therefore 

adopt a project management approach for the implementation of the programme 
 

 Exploring a Countywide commercial network to exchange positive outcomes, best practice, 
business/market intelligence and develop shared future opportunities 

 
 

Actions Identified: 
 

 Embedding a commercial culture throughout the organisation – understanding and acting 
with a commercial mind-set. This will be undertaken through further training workshops, 
engagement, forward momentum and constant reinforcement. 
 

 Design and launch a Communications campaign to draw in ideas from staff and have a flow 
of new ideas generation; to encourage a solutions engaged, as opposed to a suggestions 
orientated, workforce. 

 
 Establishing a Commercial Enterprise Group (CEG) drawing from identified commercial 

enabling officers, Executive, CLT and Members to meet regularly in order to promote 
horizontal integration and thinking, chart progress, identify needs, and perpetuate 
momentum and to formulate business plans for new and alternative commercial 
opportunities.  This group will feed the commercial pipeline and ensure commercial strategy 
can be translated operationally, and, projects will be successfully delivered. 
 

Page 99



 

12 
 

 Set up a Commercial Board (CB) drawing from a small Executive and CLT pool to oversee the 
work of the Commercial Enterprise Group, ensure governance and procedural rigour and to 
monitor and report on commercial projects, progress and aims. The Board will also ensure 
new proposals submitted are robustly and consistently assessed and provide the needed 
support and encouragement. 
 

 Identify the appropriate level of commercial resources required within the overall corporate 
structure. The Council’s commercial strategy will deliver the commercialisation ambition, 
this cannot happen until there are appropriate skilled and dedicated officers with proven 
capabilities from both within public and private sector, and the option to draw upon 
additional specialised consultancy and advice. 

 
 Capturing, feeding back and incorporating lessons learned, as and when encountered. 

 

 
 
Creating a Commercial Culture: 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMERCIAL 
CULTURE

Leadership & 
Aims

Resources & 
Structure

Training, 
Reinforcement 
& Momentum

Innovation & 
Creativity

Horizontal 
Integration

Networking, 
Comms & 

Engagement

Page 100



 

13 
 

9.0 Corporate Modernisation - Benefits 
 
Taking the approach outlined within this strategy is believed to be the most appropriate for 
Copeland Council as it offers a number of key benefits, many of which have already been covered 
elsewhere within this strategy and is complementary to the steps already taken to Corporate 
modernisation, the aligning of which will: 
 

 Transform service provision, reviewing the efficiency and effectiveness of services and 
developing a ‘vison’ built around sustainable delivery models and clearly linked to the 
current medium term financial plan and beyond. 

 
 Carry out full service diagnostics including understanding true unit costs, demand led 

pressures and performance levels, each of which can be benchmarked against similar 
organisations. 

 

 Conduct robust service planning to ensure outcomes, priorities and commercial 
objectives remain clearly aligned to core Council plans and priorities 

 

 Ensure that rigorous commercial contract management processes are embedded within 
each service, including in relation to procurement, contract negotiations, and managing 
the ongoing supplier relationship ensuring performance matches expectations. 

 

 Exploit skills, knowledge and expertise.  Through the ‘Aim High’ process introduced in 
Jan 2019 the Council has committed to continuous personal development, training, 
succession planning and investment in our staff. 

 

 Enable residents/businesses to become more independent and allow us to channel shift 
away from high cost transactional services, recognising that through streamlining and 
greater use of technologies we can create financial and non-financial benefits and 
efficiencies. 

 

 Encourage the opportunity to develop shared services between Copeland and other 
organisations and support relationships between the Council, voluntary and community 
sectors. 

 

 Allow the Head of Commercial to fully engage and support service managers and key 
revenue generating teams to embed a commercial culture and allow smooth horizontal 
integration of commercialisation. 

 

 Acknowledge that staff will need a lot of support and time to develop an entrepreneurial 
mind-set.  Cultural change means winning the internal hearts and minds battle that 
commercialisation is fundamentally a positive, directional change. 

 

 Recognise equally that small quick commercial wins hold as much importance as bold, 
brave investment initiatives. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

14 
 

10.0 Commercial Strategy Framework 
 
This strategy has four key, inter-related principles that will drive a focussed and “One Council” 
approach to delivering the Council’s commercialisation agenda.  The key elements and activities of 
the commercial strategy are illustrated below: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Asset return & 

challenge 

Regeneration & 

Development 

focussed 

Ethically sourced 

funding 

Local Asset 

Backed Vehicles 

Joint Ventures & 

collaborative 

Partnerships 

Investment fund 

Targeted R.O.I. 

 

INVESTMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES 

Economic Growth   

Development link 

to Local Plan 

Business Rates 

retention 

Employment & 

Skills 

Enabling 

Wellbeing 

Housing 

“Smart City” 

Thinking 

Energy 

investment 

opportunities 

Inward 

Investment 

Green investment 

Social investment 

funding & 

inclusion 

ECONOMY & 
REGENERATION 

Fees & Charges 

Full Cost 

recovery 

Zero based 

budgeting 

Demand 

Management 

Tradeable 

services 

Digitisation 

Shared Services 

L.A. Trading 

Company 

Procurement & 

Contract 

Management 

eProcurement 

Treasury 

Investments 

 

REVENUE 
GENERATION 

Commercial skills 

& culture 

Performance & 

Productivity 

Identifying 

markets 

Robust service 

planning 

Horizontal 

integration 

Benchmarking 

Branding & 

Reputation 

Marketing/Busine

ss Intelligence 

Efficiency & 

Effectiveness 

Alternative 

delivery models 

Risk Awareness 

 

CORPORATE 
MODERNISATION 

COMMERCIAL STRATEGY 2019-2023 

Page 102



 

15 
 

11.0 Commercial Strategy – Core Focus 
 
The core focus of the strategy is to bring about a new way of thinking and working that will help 
create and capture the opportunities and expand the ways the Council can secure income, explore 
new ideas and implement alternative ways to acquire and use available resources to be more 
effective in both meeting and delivering needs in Copeland. 
 
This strategy impacts on all departments and services across the council but it is recognised that no 
one approach can be applied to all and consequently different actions and areas of improvement can 
be expected. 

 

 
 
The successful adoption of the strategy will deliver multiple benefits including: 
 

 Ensuring our resources are used sustainably to deliver the outcomes our residents need. 

 Providing positive social, economic and environmental outcomes. 

 Developing new, robust and measurable income streams to support services and rebalance 
       the budget. 

 Initiate an environment where staff think collaboratively and imaginatively to deliver new 
ideas and solutions. 

 Increasing the robustness of the organisation and its collective acumen to ensure long term 
       organisational modernisation, evolution and prosperity. 

 Providing a robust and inclusive approach to support decision-making processes that will 
drive future council ambitions. 

 Create a deeper, more effective understanding of our assets and their future applications. 

 Inspire staff by embedding a forward thinking, opportunity focused mind-set that can drive 
       wider culture shift and make a positive difference. 

 Increase transparency and accountability as to how we do business. 

 Forging successful and trusted relationships with external partners on successful co-
investments 

 Build organisational strength by investing in the skills and resilience of our own workforce to 
reduce costs incurred from seeking external support. 

 
 

Page 103



 

16 
 

12.0 Identified potential opportunities 

 
During 2016-19, the Council developed its first Commercial Strategy and drew up a list of aims.   
Extracts from the strategy can be seen in appendices 1 & 2. 
 
Looking ahead, it is recognised that commercial activities can fit into a number of classifications: 

a) Expanded existing activity 
b) Enhanced existing activity 
c) New tradeable service 
d) Collaborations and Joint Ventures 
e) Revenue generating services 
f) Asset utilisation & investments 
g) Procurement & contract management cost saving 
h) Efficiencies & process re-engineering 

 
In this refreshed Commercial Strategy 2019-23, the following are identified as enablers for net 
revenue generation and/or potential commercial opportunities.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

          Due to the 2017, cyber-attack and resources spent on recovery & rebuild, 

Copeland is lagging behind in the service and operational improvements available 

through improved digital services and technology advancements. 

The “golden” resident record has already been identified as being hugely 

beneficial and the opportunity for self-service through online portals. 

A new website will drive the commercial agenda through online facility for trade 

services, CBC commercial branding, growing reputation, capturing marketing 

data for new & improved service offering, include use of developed apps & give 

opportunities for advertising and sponsorship revenue. 

    A new procurement and contract management strategy was approved by 

Council Q4 2018.  Copeland’s contract register is now actively managed and 

published quarterly.  There is no further opportunity for an automatic rollover 

that usually results in detrimental terms for the Council.  Quality and value for 

money is at the heart of Copeland new tenders and contracts now; commercial 

awareness, challenge and negotiating on price will become the new norm.  Service 

managers will consider each contract on it’s merit, performance and useful 

contribution to Council operational activities.       

  Recent improvements to procurement have already identified savings in excess 

of £120,000 with significant further opportunities to be explored. 

Digitisation 

Page 104

https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwj444iDr83iAhUNrxoKHTlWDaoQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https%3A%2F%2Fhackabu.com%2Fservices%2Fdigital-transformation&psig=AOvVaw34dqQpOW8PWqGD1dvLkmQR&ust=1559653105525023


 

17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

                

   The Council spends £ms each year with third party organisations as part of  the 

supply chain for either front line services or in middle and back office support. These 

contracts are vital to ensure a good quality service to our residents. Managing these 

contracts effectively is critical to ensure high quality service provision, whilst ensuring 

that the Council is receiving value for money in line with contractual terms.           

            This approach is providing insight into potential service improvements and 

efficiencies as well as ensuring the Council is only paying for services that it requires 

and that are delivered by the supplier.  

        

       

The Council must ensure high commissioning standards whilst facing a challenging 

financial environment & uncompromising yield on service delivery.  

The objective of commissioning is to ensure that CBC is allocating resources to 

outcomes that support it’s strategic plan, and not wasting resources delivering 

unnecessary or unwanted outcomes. 

It is relevant to consider the pragmatic step of shared corporate services outwith the 

borough and potentially further afield. Joint commissioning will deliver enhanced    

negotiation opportunities, broader competitive choice, economies of scale, maximum 

efficiencies and better contribution to covering overheads. 

   

                

    The Council successfully delivers a number of traded services; applying the            

principles of commercialism it is intended to establish where the needs and requirements 

of our residents and businesses lay, and, how we can both improve and expand our 

service offering – this will inevitably see the introduction of new services, some of which 

have already been identified e.g. Handyman services and MOT offering.  

Not every Service will have the opportunity to trade, but through the CEG, a review will 

be conducted in order to identify and develop opportunities which might exist, together 

with the bidding for resources if required, to implement the trading activity.   

           Objective of trading will be to introduce net profit into the Service revenues.    

           

Page 105



 

18 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

          There are a variety of ways in which the Council can generate income by            

capitalising on existing assets, utilising resources more efficiently, realising 

opportunities readily available but overlooked for generating revenue, deploying 

good marketing intelligence, making time for business development, ensuring fit for 

purpose IT service as a corporate enabler, and, re-engineering back office process 

and procedures.  When the Council works with empowered staff and an embedded 

commercial culture the pipeline for commercial innovation and activity will flourish. 

Examples of where the Council could gain added value/revenue include:      

thorough review of all fees and charges, an aligned car parking strategy, charging of 

refuse bins to developers,  increased revenues from The Beacon, 

functions/conferencing revenue at The Portal, and, utilising Copeland Direct for 

marketing of Council Services. 

                Local authorities’ powers and responsibilities have traditionally been defined 

by legislation that has often led to excessive caution and Council inaction.   

The Govt. ended this inertia in 2012 with the inclusion of a ‘general power of 

competence’ for local authorities in The Localism Act that gives local authorities the 

legal capacity to do anything that is not specifically prohibited. The Council has greater 

freedom to work collaboratively in new ways to drive down costs, to be creative & 

innovative to meet resident needs. 

During 2019/22, nationally Councils forecast 61% of commercial revenue will be 

generated through Council owned trading companies (LATCs). 

       CBC will explore the opportunity of an LATC / LABVand identify Council services 

that can be sold to either public or private sectors. 

 

              Whitehaven is undergoing the single largest regeneration scheme in decades.  

The Council has an opportunity to be a financial supporter and investor to 

demonstrate commitment and play an instrumental role in place shaping and 

sustainability for future generations. The borrowing of funds at attractive rates and, 

for example, the signing to a long term operating lease (or outright purchase) of a 

major piece of infrastructure would yield above average return and feed financial 

reserves for years to come.    

The key to investment will be robust due diligence, sound commercial advice, taking 

account of lifetime costs and identifying a long-term strategy. A diversified portfolio 

is essential and does not preclude the option to invest outwith the Borough.  The 

scope, if this is done right, is enormous and itself could provide a significant        

amount of the required annual finances for not only sustainability, but also Council 

self-sufficiency. 

Page 106



 

19 
 

13.0 Governance: Compliant Delivery 
 
This strategy spans many service areas and covers a wide range of initiatives which feed into the 
overall delivery of the Commercial Strategy and it will be the responsibility of the Commercial  
Director to co-ordinate, report and ensure the delivery of an agreed priority action plan.    
 
Broadening the commercial culture within the Council involves empowering staff to be innovative; 
to embrace new flexible and agile ways of working; as well as looking for opportunities to trade or 
sell our services.   
 
Opportunities will be evaluated ensuring that business cases are supported by appropriate market 
research and the Council develops opportunities based on expertise and knowledge that we hold.  
 
The principle focus will be on investing in services, projects and schemes that will generate some 
form of financial return for the Council. Delivering efficiencies, helping communities to become 
more resilient and independent, managing demand and changing ways of working remain part of the 
solution and will be embedded as part of the commercial strategy.    
 
Governance, management and performance of partnerships and contracts will be robust to ensure 
that the Council adheres to its statutory responsibilities and that public money continues to be 
appropriately used.   
   
The Council will be mindful that:  
“Local authority investment powers are for any purpose relevant to its functions and for the purposes 
of the prudent management of its financial affairs. As with all local authority powers they must be 
used reasonably and in accordance with the authority’s primary function as a service provider”  
 
The Council by reference to future CIPFA guidance will ensure that the Council’s approach to 
investments is consistent with the requirement of fiscal sustainability, prudence and affordability.  
  
To ensure the success of our approach it is critical that robust governance is in place that is inclusive 
and reflects the intrinsic value of commercialisation to the local authority. 
 
A new Commercial Board will be created to provide oversight of strategy, commercial assessment 
and selection, operational delivery model and leadership working with the services. 
 
It is proposed that any identified potential opportunities, and those that are developing in the 
commercial pipeline, together with emerging proposals to support new approaches to service 
delivery will form commercial projects to span future years and be delivered via the commercial 
stream of the already adopted project management framework.  
 
The Board will meet quarterly and be responsible for ensuring the strategy is delivered throughout 
the organisation. Updates on commercial progress will be assessed via the Commercial Board and 
delivered through quarterly financial reporting, scrutiny of the budget and reports to Executive and 
Council as appropriate. 
 
 The Board will scrutinise proposals and decide whether they are approved, referred for further 
development or not accepted. Where new projects are escalated to the Commercial Board, a 
defined project development and business case approach will have been completed.   

 

Page 107



 

20 
 

14.0 Governance: Commercial Board Illustration 
 
A summary of the approach to considering commercial proposals is set out below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commercial Board 

Not Agreed  Conditionally  

Agreed 

Agreed 

Agreed 

Proceed to formal 

sign off 

Implementation 

Monitoring & 

Reporting 

Evaluation 

Re-Work Required  

Re-presented to  

Commercial Board  

  Yes   No 

Proceed to formal sign 

off  

Evaluate by Directorate 

/ Service Team  

Lessons learned  Implementation  

Monitoring & 

Reporting  

Evaluation  

Evaluate by Directorate 

/ Service Team  

Lessons learned  

Commercial 

Engagement  

Group 

Page 108



 

21 
 

15.0 Risk Management. 
 
It is established that Copeland BC needs to move from a risk averse position to an informed risk 
aware position; it is recognised that avoiding all risk would result in no achievement, no progress 
and no reward. 
 
Risk management is the systematic process of understanding, evaluating and addressing these risks 

to maximise the chances of objectives being achieved and ensuring organisations, individuals and 

communities are sustainable. Risk management also exploits the opportunities uncertainty brings, 

allowing organisations to be aware of new possibilities. Essentially, effective risk management 

requires an informed understanding of relevant risks, an assessment of their relative priority and a 

rigorous approach to monitoring and controlling them. 

 Operational risk – this will be assessed by the Commercial  Board on a project-by-project basis 

and will be managed by the assigned commercial project manager through the commercial 

project risk register. 

 Strategic risk – this will be assessed and managed by CLT when considering recommendations 

to Executive and Council regarding a specific commercial project. 

All commercial projects will need to identify and assess associated risks, including any mitigation 
measures that can be implemented. The Commercial Engagement Group will maintain a strategic 
and project-level risk register that will be regularly reviewed by the Commercial Board. 
 
Additionally, Copeland has a Capital Strategy that includes a number of reporting requirements 
specific to commercial investments that will be included in any decision-making process. This 
inclusion was driven through evidential commercial investments made by Local Authroities, which 
failed to provide Members with sufficient information on the level of risks they were entering into: 
 

Revised reporting is required for the 2019/20 reporting cycle due to revisions of the MHCLG 
Investment Guidance, the MHCLG Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Guidance, the CIPFA 
Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code.  The primary reporting changes 
include the introduction of a capital strategy, to provide a longer-term focus to the capital 
plans, and greater reporting requirements surrounding any commercial activity undertaken 
under the Localism Act 2011. 

 

16.0  “Ownership” 
 
 

Developing and realising commercial propositions is a joint endeavour and requires a collaborative 
approach across the organisation: the commercial engagement group, the relevant operational 
service, multiple support services which may include property, planning, legal, procurement, finance, 
ICT and HR amongst others.  Clarity of roles and responsibilities, and the appropriate level of 
ownership are however key to success.  
 
Typically, following initial scoping a Project Implementation Document (PID) should be produced by 
the Commercial Engagement Group in consultation with relevant stakeholders and then formally 
agreed by the Commercial Director and the relevant Operational Director.  This will define and 
articulate the way in which the project is to be run as well as ownership of key work packages and 
products. It will also define the handover point between the Commercial Team and the Operational 
Service. 

Page 109



 

22 
 

17.0 Priority Opportunities & Next Steps  
 
In view of the potential opportunities already identified, our intention is to move at pace with the 
implementation of this strategy. The imminent next steps can be categorised below: 
 

Commercial Culture 
 

 Bring forward commercial training via CIPFA for all service managers and key 
identified/entrepreneurial staff which will be addressed at the start with the Mayor’s focus 
on commercial activity as a key ambition 

 
 Promote commercial within the Council with visual aids and prompts and regular 

engagement and feedback sessions. 
 

 Develop a framework for horizontal commercial integration and ensure that the Council’s 
service plans for 2020 fully reflect agreed targets and key outcomes 

 

Commercial Structure 
 

 Review Commercial structure and resources required within the Council acknowledging that 
there is insufficient level of dedicated resource in this area and a lack of commercial 
experience operationally and for development purposes in order to drive the ambition. 

 
 Set up a CBC Commercial Engagement Group (CEG) with key stakeholders to meet regularly 

and feed the commercial pipeline by driving the momentum of commercial ideas, agenda 
and ambitions. 

 
 Set up a countywide commercial strategy board that will meet to share ideas and successes, 

support, explore common problems and solutions etc. 
 

Commercial Governance 
 

 Set up the Commercial Board and introduce the governance framework approach for 
strategic overview and reporting to Executive and Council. 

 
 Identify Constitutional changes and CSO updates required for Copeland to act in an efficient 

and responsive manner towards longer-term investment goals.  These will include delegated 
authority to Executive and CLT and the introduction of a capped investment fund. 

 
 Explore availability of ethical funding through Government available options, e.g. PWLB and 

inward investment funding for major regeneration projects and a step up in required trading 
services. 

 

Commercial Essentials 
 

 Devise a framework for a Council wide approach to reviewing and setting fees and charges in 
readiness for the 2020 Budget Council 

 
 Identify commercial opportunities and services that would be served better via a L.A. 

Trading Company (LATC) and explore the opportunity for setting up such a company of 
Copeland BC in readiness for Budget 2020. 

Page 110



 

23 
 

18.0 Commercial Strategy – Local Authority Initiatives and 
Successes 
 

1. Investment in Energy Sources 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Renovation of dilapidated housing stock  
 
 
 
 

[Grab your reader’s 

attention with a great 

quote from the document 

or use this space to 

emphasize a key point. To 

place this text box 

anywhere on the page, just 

drag it.] 

 
 

3. Councils investing in commercial property 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Swindon BC set up a wholly owned subsidiary “Public Power 

Solutions” or PPS Community Solar Farms by using Council owned 

unproductive former landfill sites.  They did this by utilising a 

variety of funding models: UK’s first ISA and UK’s first Council 

backed solar bond.  This was a community lead engagement, 

investment opportunity and funding projects whilst given good 

returns on investment. 

Great Yarmouth has launched a £2m scheme to buy up 

dilapidated flats and bed-sits and renovate them for sale or rent.  

The scheme will be cost neutral and address the town’s 

challenges of low property values, low rental income, 

economically unviable guesthouses and streets in conservation 

areas needing uplift, and where there is lack of private 

investment. Purchases will be on a case-by-case basis, and once 

renovated will be offered for sale as affordable homes or at full 

market rents. 

Councils have emerged as significant owners of commercial 

property with almost £4bn spent in recent years. Almost half was 

on the acquisition of office space, and over a quarter on retail, 

shopping centres and warehouses.  Investment has been 

facilitated by access to affordable credit, but the regeneration 

vision or masterplan will ensure investment potential is fully 

utilised and deliver both long-term income and social benefits, 

while allowing a role in actively shaping urban environments.  JVs 

are seen as the preferred funding models for regeneration 

projects. 

Page 111

https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiuoJ3xlrniAhU1A2MBHbkBBoEQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https%3A%2F%2Fdumielauxepices.net%2Fwallpaper-1101546&psig=AOvVaw1CzzBd-5cE7HmRHq1xMS3f&ust=1558959453577761
http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwif-ZHImrniAhWLFxQKHQhtCYIQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=%2Furl%3Fsa%3Di%26rct%3Dj%26q%3D%26esrc%3Ds%26source%3Dimages%26cd%3D%26ved%3D2ahUKEwj55LbDmrniAhXVBGMBHSKnAbMQjRx6BAgBEAU%26url%3Dhttps%253A%252F%252Fwww.taconsulting.org%252Fexperience.html%26psig%3DAOvVaw0gvQEfQNjRDAi2WkVGUkG1%26ust%3D1558960461387148&psig=AOvVaw0gvQEfQNjRDAi2WkVGUkG1&ust=1558960461387148
http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwi7vbvlnrniAhXQAGMBHRu7AFgQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=%2Furl%3Fsa%3Di%26rct%3Dj%26q%3D%26esrc%3Ds%26source%3Dimages%26cd%3D%26ved%3D2ahUKEwj82KjcnrniAhWdDWMBHXaaAC4QjRx6BAgBEAU%26url%3Dhttps%253A%252F%252Faspenwoolf.co.uk%252Fstudent-property-investment-infographic%252F%26psig%3DAOvVaw3T6Q238BxIiHvhQmWyhaM4%26ust%3D1558961526960643&psig=AOvVaw3T6Q238BxIiHvhQmWyhaM4&ust=1558961526960643


 

24 
 

Commercial Strategy – Local Authority Initiatives and Successes (cont) 

 
4. Unlocking Low Carbon Finance  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Shared Services Agenda 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

6. Financial Management and Initiatives 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Many L.A.s are developing innovative solutions to reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions and help residents living in fuel 

poverty.  Budgets may be tight but it makes good long-term 

economic sense; however, many are stuck in the 

conceptualisation or feasibility stage and need a push towards full 

commercialisation. Leeds are using their own PIPES District 

Heating Network which uses heat generated waste at the 

council’s recycling and energy recovery facility.  It is projected to 

reduce energy bills by at least 10% each year for every household 

connected to it. 

 

A three way agreement between Wychavon, Worcester City and 

Malvern Councils to combine revenues and benefits departments 

has produced £3m+ savings over 5 year term whilst safeguarding 

jobs.  The partnership now serves other authorities and not only 

generates income, but also offers improved, streamlined 

services.  After success with Revs. & Bens., the shared services 

offering was expanded to also include IT and internal audit 

functions. 

Warrington BC raised a £150m CPI indexed bond that supported: 

 Loans to registered providers delivering a return via 

arrangement fees and margin on interest rates 

 A new LA Mortgage Scheme (LAMS) which has realised 

over 200 loans in Warrington, lending over £5.5m 

 Investment in solar farms to reduce fuel poverty but also 

provide a long term income 

 Digitising a range of trading services, benefiting from 

admin efficiencies, revenue growth and winning business 

Page 112

https://www.google.com/imgres?imgurl=http%3A%2F%2Fblog.heartland.org%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2013%2F11%2Flightbulb.jpg&imgrefurl=http%3A%2F%2Fblog.heartland.org%2F2013%2F11%2Fgreen-energy-the-rotary-dial-phone-of-the-future%2F&docid=4nEb84KtKL5SkM&tbnid=8wDVffHiKzn9pM%3A&vet=10ahUKEwijmYrz5rniAhUVonEKHXYRC6wQMwiKASg7MDs..i&w=283&h=401&bih=650&biw=1366&q=green%20energy%20bulb%20ideas%20for%20the%20future&ved=0ahUKEwijmYrz5rniAhUVonEKHXYRC6wQMwiKASg7MDs&iact=mrc&uact=8
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiBrsKN0r7iAhU2AWMBHegHBdUQjRx6BAgBEAU&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.indiamart.com%2Fproddetail%2Fhr-shared-services-7544952073.html&psig=AOvVaw3e_JOHx5mdMAvrjBPonH6s&ust=1559147195040625
https://www.google.com/imgres?imgurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.businesshaunt.com%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F11%2F158480-OWTUAH-54-300x228.png&imgrefurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.businesshaunt.com%2Fprinciples-of-financial-management%2F&docid=838IFFNaDWukWM&tbnid=AjpZ456WIsvmhM%3A&vet=10ahUKEwi4lqGH1L7iAhXVqHEKHVP8AgwQMwimASgcMBw..i&w=300&h=228&bih=962&biw=1920&q=financial%20management&ved=0ahUKEwi4lqGH1L7iAhXVqHEKHVP8AgwQMwimASgcMBw&iact=mrc&uact=8


 

25 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

Commercialisation Strategy 2016-2020 
 
1.0 Extracts from 2016-20 strategy – scene setting 

 
1.1.1 The impact of changes to central government funding offers increased risks 

but also potential opportunities arising from the localisation of business 

rates and an expectation that Council Tax will not significantly change.  The 

challenges of the reduction in funding to the Council are those faced by local 

government across the country. 

 

1.1.2 Copeland Borough Council acknowledges the challenges that it faces, but 

also views the current funding picture as an opportunity to affect 

fundamental changes to how we do business; with improvements to services 

we deliver as a result. 

 

1.1.3 The Mayor has since taking office set out a vision for the Council: “Copeland 

Borough Council is a commercially-focused organisation with a national 

reputation for high quality services”. 

 

1.1.4 The vision is achieved through a series of four “Ambitions”, one being 
Commercial, and five “Strategies Outcomes” each of which contribute to the 
success of Ambitions. 

 
1.1.10  This strategy (2016 – 20) will look to consolidate the Council’s existing   
             commercial activity and provide a framework, with defined objectives,   
             for new commercial projects and for the delivery of future             

                                         commercial activity. 

 

 

2.1.1 Commercialism forms a cornerstone of the MTFS and the underlying financial 

principles are as follows: 

 

 Move towards becoming a financially self-sufficient Council by 2021 through 

an active commercial agenda 

Consider any appropriate trading opportunities supported by robust business 

plans and financial risk assessments and developed in the context of the wider 

Council MTFS 

 Establish a trading company to develop the commercial opportunities for 

Copeland 

 Encourage a climate where trading and charging powers of the authority are 

maximised 

 Review the Income Collection Policy so that payments are made in advance of 

Council services being provided where possible 

Page 113



 

26 
 

APPENDIX 2 
 

CBC key aims of the commercial strategy 2016-20 

 

Short term goals (2016) Medium term goals 
(2017 – 2019/20) 
 

Long term goals (2020 
onwards) 

GENERAL 
 

Commercial Strategy to be 
adopted by Copeland Borough 
Council 

Continue to develop 
commercial and investment 
opportunities to impact on 
annual efficiency targets 
 

Financially self-sufficient by 
2021.  

INCOME GENERATION 
 

Income Generation Strategy to 
be adopted by Copeland 
Borough Council  
 

Continue to develop 
commercial opportunities in 
line with this strategy 

 

Business cases to be 
developed around all existing 
and potential income 
generating services 

Attempt to exceed increased 
income generation targets as 
part of Delivering Differently 
programme whilst still 
delivering efficient, effective 
services 
 

Reinvest income generated to 
improve the services we 
deliver 

Develop Advertising and 
Sponsorship Policy along with 
standard terms and conditions  
 

Contribute towards efficiency 
targets through advertising 
and sponsorship 
 

Increase Advertising and 
Sponsorship income year on 
year 

CREATING A COMMERCIAL CULTURE 
 

Identify Council’s current 
cultural state and develop plan 
on how we can achieve 
desired future cultural state 

Implement plan using 
organisational change model 
to align resources behind 
achieving a common goal 
 

Council to have adopted 
appropriate positive culture 
aspects and behaviours 
associated with commercial 
organisations 
 

COPELAND OPEN FOR BUSINESS 
 

Develop marketing plan to use 
existing CO4B channel to 
promote existing services, 
achieving greater market share 
 

Continue to promote existing 
services whilst bring online 
new income generating 
services 
 

Increased awareness 
throughout the borough of the 
services the Council can 
provide 

Develop plan to utilise CO4B 
channel to help attract 
investment, industry and jobs 
to the area 
  

Review plan periodically to 
ensure it is fit for purpose and 
achieving targets set through 
KPIs 

Ensure wealth generated in 
Copeland stays in Copeland 

Page 114



 

27 
 

Develop plan to provide 
business support and advice 
through CO4B channel 

Review plan periodically to 
ensure it is fit for purpose and 
achieving targets set through 
KPIs 

 

DELIVERY MODELS 
 

Develop a robust business case 
for an energy company 

Commence trading through 
the energy company 
 

Provide low cost energy to 
businesses and residents of 
Copeland whilst driving 
income generation within the 
Council 
 

Establish a trading company to 
develop commercial 
opportunities for Copeland 

Continue to develop and 
explore commercial 
opportunities 

Establish successful external 
trading company that 
contributes profits annually to 
be reinvested in Council 
services 
 

Complete back-office service 
reviews to assess if current 
delivery model used is most 
effective and cost-efficient 
 

Review services to periodically 
to ensure assertions in service 
reviews are still applicable 

To become a commercially 
focused organisation with a 
national reputation for high 
quality services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



 

28 
 

APPENDIX 3 
 

The Legal Basis for Charging, Trading and Investing 
 

This section is about the legal aspects of charging, trading and investing, what resources the council 
has in order to do this and other capabilities. The legal basis for charging and trading is set out in 
various legislation, the core of which are: 
 
Local Authorities (Goods and Services Act 1970): 
Under the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) Act 1970 councils have the power to enter into 
agreements with each other and other certain other types of public bodies for the performance of 
certain services. 
 
Local Government Act 2003: 
The Local Government Act 2003 added further possibilities by giving councils the power to: 

1. Charge for services on a cost recovery basis. Charging: 
 
a. Only applies to discretionary services (that the council has the power to provide but not a duty) 
b. Cannot be used where charging is specifically prohibited by other legislation 
c. Cannot be used where another specific charging regime applies 
d. Is limited to cost recovery 
The recipient of the discretionary service must have agreed to pay for the provision of such services. 
 
2. Trade in activities related to their functions on a commercial basis. Trading: 
 
a. Must be exercised through a company which has a business plan for operation 
b. Can be delivered by participating in an existing private trading venture providing that this is a 
company within the relevant definitions (limited partnership and limited liability partnerships are 
not acceptable structures for local authority trading) 
c. Can be used with a view to make a profit – in a company wholly owned by a local authority, profits 
can be returned to the council through a dividend or service charge to hold down council tax or be 
reinvested 
 
The Localism Act 2011 
 
Local authorities’ powers and responsibilities have traditionally been defined by legislation. In simple 
terms, we could only do what the law says we can. This has often led to excessive caution and in 
some cases inaction as councils are wary of doing something new - even if they think it might be a 
good idea - because they are not sure whether they are allowed to in law, and are concerned about 
the possibility of being challenged in the courts. 
 
The Government took the view that we need to turn this situation upside down. Instead of being 
able to act only where the law says they can, local authorities should be free to do anything - 
provided they do not break other laws. The Localism Act includes a ‘general power of competence’ 
for local authorities in England and this was brought into effect when the Secretary of State signed a 
Commencement Order on 17 February 2012. The power of competence gives local authorities the 
legal capacity to do anything that an individual can do that is not specifically prohibited. They will 
not, for example, be able to impose new taxes as an individual has no power to tax. The new general 
power gives councils more freedom to work together in new ways to drive down costs. It gives 
increased confidence to do creative, innovative things to meet local peoples’ needs. 
 

Page 116



 

29 
 

The general power of competence does not remove any duties from local authorities – just like 
individuals they will continue to need to comply with duties placed on them. The Act does, however, 
give the Secretary of State the power to remove unnecessary restrictions and limitations where 
there is a good case to do so, subject to safeguards designed to protect vital services. 
 
Other considerations 
As well as this statutory framework council decision-making is also limited by certain well known 
principles including obligations to act rationally and fairly and to exercise powers for their proper 
purpose. This means that the council cannot use a power given to it for one purpose in order simply 
to generate income. It also means that in charging for discretionary services it will have to have due 
regard to the rationality of imposing the charge and its impact on individuals as well as its ability to 
generate income. 
 
  

Page 117



 

30 
 

APPENDIX 4  
 

Supplementary Legal, Commercial and Financial Considerations 
 
There are many other important legal, commercial and financial considerations for councils in 
undertaking commercial activities, particularly through trading companies.  
 
These include: 
1. Company law issues 
2. Tax liability (corporation tax and VAT) 
3. EU procurement law 
4. Employment law (specifically TUPE and pensions) 
5. The costs associated with bidding for contracts 
6. State aid rules 
 
State Aid  
State aid rules are intended to ensure that market forces operate freely across Europe with no 
unwarranted interference through the State (national government) or an ‘organ of the State’ such as 
a local authority whilst these may be subject to change in the very near future currently these apply. 
 
State aid rules apply to organisations involved in economic activity (‘undertakings’). 
The organisation does not have to be profit-making if the activity carried out is one that has 
commercial competitors. In some instances, public and voluntary sector organisations, such as 
universities and charities, could be classified as undertakings, as can the State itself. 
 
All of the following five questions must answer ‘yes’ in order for an activity to be classed as state aid. 
If the answer to one or more of the question is no, state aid does not apply. 
a. Is the activity granted by the state or through state resources? The answer here will typically be 
yes, as it would normally be local authority resources or support. Resources can include resources 
that do not belong to the council but are under state control such as certain funding. 
b. Does it confer an advantage? This can include: 
(1) benefits that are provided free (such as grants and soft loans) 
(2) benefits provided on favourable (non-commercial) terms 
(3) relief from charges that an undertaking normally has to bear (such as a tax exemption) 
(4) favourable payment terms that a normal business would not tolerate 
c. Is it selective, favouring certain undertakings? A general measure affecting the whole of the 
state’s economy (e.g. nation-wide fiscal measures) is not considered as state aid, while aid that 
targets particular businesses, locations, types of firm (e.g.SMEs) or sectors is. 
d. Is the activity tradable between member states? The Commission’s interpretation of this is broad 
– it is sufficient that a product or service is subject to trade between member states; even if the aid 
beneficiary itself does not export to the EU. Consequently, most activities are viewed as tradable. 
e. Does the measure distort or have the potential to distort competition? If it strengthens the 
position of the beneficiary relative to other competitors then there will probably be state aid 
implications. The distortion of competition does not have to be substantial or significant, and 
includes small amounts of aid and firms with little market share. Most interventions have the 
potential to distort competition. 
 
The consequences of unlawful state aid are potentially serious, including damages payable by the 
authority to any third parties who can show they have suffered a loss as a result of the aid and 
recovery of the aid (plus interest) from the recipient. 

Page 118



Council 09/09/19

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Steven Morgan, Portfolio Holder for Commercial 
Development. 

Lead Officer: Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy.

Report author: Clinton Boyce, Solicitor.

Report summary: The report proposes the adoption of new contract standing 
orders to replace the previous 2012 version. 

RECOMMENDATION:            That (a) Council adopt, as part of the Council’s constitution, 
                                                   and in accordance with section 135 of the Local Government                                      
                                                   Act 1972, the Contract Standing Orders forming the Appendix
                                                   to this report; and

                                                   (b)  that any minor changes necessary to the said Contract 
                                                   Standing Orders, following implementation and in the 
                                                   interests of business efficacy, be delegated to the Director of 
                                                   Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy in consultation  
                                                   with the: 
                                                   Portfolio Holder for Commercial Development;
                                                   Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and
                                                   Chair of the Standards and Ethics Committee.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

A local authority is required, by law, to have standing orders in place regulating 
procurements relating to supplies of goods and materials and works. The Council last 
adopted such standing orders in 2012 where they were termed ‘contract procedure 
rules’. Those rules now need to be updated for reasons of legislation, lessons learnt, 
business efficacy and corporate modernisation.

2.0 PROPOSALS

2.1 The appendix to this report contains new draft Contract Standing Orders (“CSO’s”) 
which, it is proposed, should replace the 2012 rules. The draft CSO’s were 
considered and by the Executive on the 19th August, have been highlighted to the 
Standard and Ethics Committee and were considered by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on the 22nd August. The latter Committee asked for a summary of the 

Page 119

Agenda Item 14



proposals and this report deals with that request. Only Council can approve the 
CSO’s as they form part of the Council’s Constitution.

2.2 The CSO’s are of new format and content. The following provides a summary of their 
contents:

CSO1 These require every member and employee to comply with the CSO’s. 
They apply to all procurement decisions even if external funding is 
being used. All contracts must be let in compliance with the CSO’s 
(unless exempted) and with national legislation. They require in-
house teams to be used unless specialist advice is required. CSO1 
requires all members and officers dealing with procurement to act to 
the highest standards and requires any conflict with a potential 
supplier or contractor to be declared to the Monitoring Officer (‘MO’).

CSO2 Provides for the CSOs to be dispensed with in certain circumstances. 
These mirror the exemptions set out in the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and include contracts placed through frameworks 
(where another public authority has already invited tenders and it is 
specified in the invite that other local authorities might be using the 
framework); specialised contracts e.g. water, energy, design contests, 
legal and financial ad hoc services; contracts with other public 
authorities; employment contracts, etc.

In cases of procurement urgency a dispensation will be given if there 
is extreme urgency caused by unforseeable events, for example, a 
localised flooding emergency is declared. 

If none of the specified exemptions apply and the proposed contract 
is below the EU procurement thresholds the Council’s Director of 
Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy (“the Director”) may 
exempt the contract from the requirements of the CSO’s, either 
wholly or partially, if, to do so, is justified by other special 
circumstances.

CSO3 This requires budget to be confirmed as being in place at the outset of 
a procurement procedure and the Section 151 Officer to confirm 
such. This is a strengthening of the budget approval and spend 
process and highlights the managers’ responsibility prior to any 
procurement.

CSO4 This states how the value of the contract should be determined. This 
is normally the total estimated value including the value of any 
possible extension. 

CSO5-10 These CSO’s set out what is required, by value. In summary:

Page 120



Below £500 Service Manager can authorise provided value for 
money (“VFM”) is obtained; standard purchase order 
used.

£500 - £9,999 Service Manager can authorise but should ensure that 
value for money is being obtained and s/he can prove 
VFM e.g. by desktop enquiries, quotes, tenders, 
catalogue prices, evidence from other authorities, etc; 
standard purchase order used.

£10,000 Three quotes should be invited to ensure value for 
-£24,999 money is being obtained. Service Manager can 

approve.

£25,000 - Three quotes should be invited via The Chest (the
£49,999 Cumbria wide procurement system which cascades 

invitations onto the Government’s Contract Finder 
system; advertising on the Finder for contracts above 
£25,000 is a legal requirement where the Council seeks 
invitations). Service Manager recommends supplier to 
the Director who will make decision. Form of contract 
to be carefully considered – purchase order terms 
might still be satisfactory; otherwise consider national 
form or standard form of services contract.

£50,000 – (The higher figure is the EU threshold for service 
£181,302 contracts meaning that service contracts above 

that value must be advertised in the Official Journal of 
the EU (“OJEU”). It is an appropriate threshold value as 
different rules apply for above £181,302). The Director 
may approve. Form of contract as previous threshold 
but Solicitor should be consulted.

Above If a service contract the matter must be advertised in 
£181,302 OJEU; similarly if it is a works contract above 

£4,551,413. This CSO requires all contracts above 
£181,302 to be subject to formal tendering. Decision to 
award can be made by the Mayor on recommendation 
from the Director but such decision is subject to call in 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. This is new, 
previously all contract awards were handled by 
officers. Decision on form of contract will lie with the 
Solicitor.

CSO11 This allows framework agreements to be used and states how they 
can be used.

Page 121



CSO12 – 14 These deal with what should be contained in an invitation to quote or 
tender (e.g. description of works, evaluation criteria, terms and 
conditions, etc.). If a joint procurement exercise with another 
authority is undertaken they require one of the authorities CSO’s to 
be followed. 

CSO14 deal with contents of the contract and in addition to requiring 
the obvious matters (price, length of contract, etc.) it also requires 
fundamental provisions relating to freedom of information requests, 
bribery and anti-money laundering, Modern Slavery Act requirements 
(avoiding a person being held in slavery or servitude or requiring 
another person to perform forced or compulsory labour), 
whistleblowing and issues arising from the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act 2012 (requirement to consider how what is proposed to be 
procured might improve and secure the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of the relevant area). CSO14 also requires  
information to be requested through the tender process regarding a 
prospective supplier’s position on apprenticeship employment and 
also payment of the voluntary living wage.

CSO15 – 18 These deal with the opening, evaluation and award of contracts and 
the issue of whether performance bonds and/or parent company 
guarantees should be required.

CSO19 This Order strengthens the avoidance of conflicts of interest, bribery 
and corruption and seeks to keep the process free of officers and 
members who might have an interest, pecuniary or otherwise in the 
matter.

CSO20 Contract variations are permissible within the scope of the Public 
Contracts Regulations. These allow an extension in certain restricted 
circumstances and must be approved by the original approving 
officer. The Regulations allow a 15% (works) or 10% (services) 
increase of the original contract value provided the increase is below 
EU thresholds. There are also powers to extend where the additional 
works/services could not have been foreseen and the increase does 
not exceed 50% of original value or where a change of suppliers (e.g. 
either forced or by novation) would cause significant inconvenience or 
duplication of costs again subject to a 50% increase limit. In these last 
two cases notice of extension must be sent to the EU publications 
office. In any event the new CSO provides clear limitations on when 
contracts may be extended.

CSO21 and 22 Deal with post contract monitoring and maintenance of the contract 
register.

Page 122



CSO23 This deals with land transactions. Changes are made in this case to 
align the approval process with the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) Regulations 2000. These Regulations specify, by 
default, that contract and land functions are Executive functions. The 
Regulations operate by listing all decisions (running to 12 pages) 
which cannot be made by the Executive and then states that any 
other decision must be made by the Executive. Contract and land 
functions are not specified and so therefore are Executive functions. 
However there is an important exception. The Executive (either 
through a meeting, the mayor or officers exercising an executive 
function) cannot make a decision if it is outside approved budgets and 
(if is outside approve budget) they are not otherwise authorised to 
make the decision by Council.

As Executive decisions they are subject to call in by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee if the call in scheme allows.

At the moment transactions below £10,000 or leases less than 15 
tears are delegated to the solicitor; those up to £50,000 or up to 25 
years are delegated to the solicitor in consultation with the section 
151 officer; Up to £100,000 or leases in excess of 25 years to the Chief 
Executive; up to £250,000 the Executive; above that figure then 
Council. Community asset transfers are dealt with in a similar manner 
meaning that, given the low value, most of those transfers is 
delegated to the Solicitor.

It is proposed that the following requirements apply:

Transaction Delegated to OSC role

Leases where annual rent 
is less than £10,000 or the 
lease period is less than 
15 years; sales/purchases 
where transaction is less 
than £10,000; landlord’s 
consents under existing 
leases, variations within 
the above threshold, etc.

Solicitor. None as they 
relate to largely 
routine and 
operational 
matters.

More than the preceding  
thresholds but up to 
£50,000 or less than 25 
years; sales/purchases 
less than £50,000; 
variations within those 
thresholds.

The Director in 
consultation with 
section 151 officer.

None as they 
relate to largely 
routine and 
operational 
matters.

Page 123



Transaction Delegated to OSC role

More than the preceding 
thresholds but for leases 
up to £100,000; 
sales/purchase up to 
£250,000 and variations 
within that threshold.

The Director in 
consultation with 
the Portfolio 
Holder or the 
Mayor.

Director will issue 
minded to 
decision which is 
subject to call in 
by OSC.

Transactions above the 
above thresholds.

Executive, 
provided it is 
within the budget 
previously 
approved by 
Council; if not then 
Council.

Decision subject 
to call in by OSC.

Community asset 
transfers.

As above 
depending on 
value.

All decisions 
subject to call in 
by OSC; officers 
will make a 
minded to 
decision allowing 
OSC to review the 
proposed 
decision.

There is an exception in respect of purchases by auction (CSO23.12) 
where a more speedier response can sometimes be required. This 
allows the Director to submit a bid in consultation with the Mayor and 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee if less than £250,000;  
with their agreement if the bid price is to exceed £250,000; and 
subject to the overall caveat that if it is outside budget that Council 
approval will first be required.

Ward councillors will continue to be consulted prior to a disposal 
being started provided it is not an operational/routine matter (e.g. 
garage lease).

There is slight change to the CSO’s previously approved by the 
Executive on the 19th August. This is in respect of 23.15 which did 
state that land would only be sold at auction in exceptional 
circumstances with the Director’s consent. The Property and Estates 
Manager has asked for ‘exceptional circumstances’ to be removed 

Page 124



given that disposal by auction is now a well-recognised and viable 
method of disposal. The Director’s consent will still be required.

Procurement This form provides a single document for recording all the approvals.
Request It starts with the section 151 officer approving the budget position;
Form It then allows the Director to authorise a waiver in accordance with 

the rules; it then deals with approvals within the various thresholds 
requiring relevant approving officers to sign. In respect of those above 
the EU service threshold it requires the Procurement Officer to certify 
CSO’s have been complied with; the section 151 office to confirm the 
final budget position; the Solicitor to approve the form of contract 
and then for those approving to sign. Whilst detailed it allows all the 
final checks to be made, and certified, prior a contract being entered 
into. The form provides an audit trail of through process decision 
making.

 
3.0 CONTINUING REVIEW

3.1 Assuming Council approves the CSOs it is likely that some minor amendments will be 
needed once they start to be implemented. It is recommended that these are 
delegated to the Director of Corporate Resources and Commercial Strategy in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Commercial Development and the Chairs 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Standards and Ethics Committee.                                          

3.2 The Orders, once adopted, will be kept under review by the Standards and Ethics 
Committee. The Council is required to keep its Constitution under review and it is 
expected that these Orders will be reviewed annually to ensure that they are up to 
date and support the Council’s commercial strategy. Any changes proposed by the 
Committee must be endorsed by Council.

3.3 In terms of ‘Brexit’ this will not have any immediate impact on the current position if 
it does occur. The EU position is already embodied in the Public Contract Regulations 
2015 which is UK law. The legislature may in due course decide to change those 
Regulations in a substantive way. For the time being Regulations have been made, 
effective from Brexit/exit day which make minor tweaks, e.g. using sterling rather 
than euros; changing OJEU to UK e-notification service; requiring notifications to be 
sent to the Cabinet Office if requested; etc. As the thresholds are set in euros these 
transfer into sterling every two years where they are fixed for two years and do not 
fluctuate with currency rates. Post Brexit the new regulations require the Minister 
for the Cabinet Office to review the thresholds every two years to verify whether 
they correspond with the thresholds established for those purposes in the General 
Procurement Agreement made in 1994 by parties to the World Trade Organisation. 

4.0 STATUTORY OFFICER AND OTHER COMMENTS

4.1 Section 151 Officer: There are no value for money or resource implications arising 
from the recommendations.

Page 125



4.2 Monitoring Officer: The Contract Standing Orders update forms part of the 
Constitution’s current review in order to ensure the Council’s governance is fit for 
purpose and compliant with regulations.  Amendments as detailed in the appendix 
strengthen the way the Council operates, aims to eliminate grey areas and conflict, 
and ensure responsibilities are clearly observed. The proposed Orders will ensure 
process is adhered to without impeding the Council’s operational requirements and 
aims.

4.3 Solicitor:  Is report author. The report and appendix address the legal principles 
arising. The main legislation is the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 which are 
detailed. The proposed Orders require consultation with various officers during a 
procurement process to ensure that all detailed legal issues are observed and in 
cases of risk – conflict and extensions – decisions are made by the Monitoring 
Officer.

4.4 Policy:  The new Orders support the Council’s draft Commercial Strategy.

4.5 Equalities:  The new Orders, at CSO 14.3, require equality issues to be addressed in 
the terms and conditions of a contract.

5.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND APPENDICES

Appendix: Proposed contract standing orders.

Page 126



Appendix

Contract Standing Orders
(approved by Council on the [9th September 2019] and effective 

from that date)

Page 127



Page 2 of 34

2
Document Control 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council
Title Contract Standing Orders
Version Draft 0.3
Author Clinton Boyce, Leanne Birkett , Caroline 

Adams
Filename
Owner Sarah Pemberton
Subject Contract standing orders
Protective Marking
Review Date 9th September 2021

Revision History

Version 
Reviewed

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision

Document Approval 

Version Approved By Date
3 Corporate Leadership Team 07.08.19

Executive
Standards and Ethic 
Committee
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee
Full Council

Document Distribution

This policy is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council 
and placed on the Council’s Intranet Site. 

Contributors
Name Title

Page 128



Page 3 of 34

3
Contents
SO. No. Title Page

Purpose 4
Introduction 4
Scope 4

1 Compliance 5
2 Exemptions 6
3 Budgetary provisions and approvals 8
4 Detemining Contract Value and Duration 9
5 Contracts valued up to £499 10
6 Contracts valued £500 to £9,999 10
7 Contracts valued £10,000 to £24,999 11
8 Contracts valued £25,000 to £49,999 11
9 Contracts valued £50,000 to below OJEU Service Threshold 12
10 Contracts valued in excess of OJEU Service Threshold 13
11 Framework Agreements and Preferred Supplier list 14
12 Content of invitation to quote or tender 15
13 Collaborative procurement 16
14 Form and content of contracts 16
15 Submission and Opening of Quotations and Tenders 17
16 Evaluating Quotations and Tenders 18
17 Award notification and entering into a contract 19
18 Performance Bonds and Parent Company Guarentees 20
19 Conficts of Interest , Bribery and Corruption 20
20 Contract Variations 21
21 Contract Performance Monitoring 22
22 Maintenance of the Contract Register 22
23 Land transactions 23

Appendix 1 - Procurement Request Form 28
Appendix 2 - Managers Quick Guide 36

 

Page 129



Page 4 of 34

4
Purpose

Procurement operates in a complex legal framework set by the European Union and the UK 
Government. All local authorities are required by section 135 of the Local Government Act 
1972 to make standing orders for the supply of goods and materials or for the execution of 
works aimed at securing competition and for regulating the manner in which tenders are 
invited. The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 set out detailed procurement rules for supply, 
works and service contracts. These Regulations are UK law and will remain in force if the UK 
leaves the European Union. Regulations have been drafted (the Public Procurement 
(Amendment etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019) to deal with consequential amendments of 
leaving the Union.

This document updates and supersedes those processes set out in the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules 2012. The document should be read alongside the Council’s Procurement and 
Contract Management Strategy 2018-2021 which was approved by the Council’s Executive on 
the 6th December 2018.
 

Introduction

By following Contract Standing Orders (“CSO’s”), in dealing with the Council’s procurement, 
officers can be sure that they have acted in an appropriate manner and are protected from any 
accusation of corruption, fraud, illegality or misuse of public funds. 

These CSO’s provide the framework for the procurement of all works, goods and services and 
for transactions relating to property and must be complied with by all members, officers, 
consultants and other external agents appointed to act on behalf of the Council in 
procurement matters. 
 
They are broadly sequenced to follow the Procurement process to help the user navigate more 
effectively to the relevant section.  

The Council’s Procurement Officer will provide advice to officers on CSO considerations as well 
as best practice procurement relative to the specific project being planned.    

All monetary values referred to in these orders are total contract values, not annual values, 
and exclude VAT unless otherwise stated. They cover expenditure contracts and income 
generating contracts.  

Scope

In line with the Procurement and Contract Management Strategy 2018-2021, this document 
describes and outlines processes to be used for the whole of the procurement lifecycle as 
illustrated in the diagram below.

Page 130



Page 5 of 34

5

CONTRACT PROCUREMENT

SO.1 Compliance

1.1.  Every member and employee of the Council must comply with these CSO’s.  Any Officer 
can contact Internal Audit if he/she believes that the provisions of these CSOs are not 
being followed.

1.2.   Any other person who is engaged in the letting, management or supervision of a 
contract on behalf of the Council must comply with these CSO’s as if s/he were an 
employee of the Council. This applies to a contractor who wishes to employ a sub-
contractor whether nominated or not.

1.3. These CSO’s apply to all procurement decisions, regardless of the source of funding, or 
the status of the contractor (i.e. they apply equally to selection of both main 
contractors and nominated sub-contractors or suppliers). Where external funding is 
being used cognisance of any grant funding conditions must also be had which impose 
additional procurement requirements. 

1.4. Every contract must be let in compliance with these CSO’s and also the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 with applicable European and domestic legal requirements.  

1.5. Where the Council has an established in-house team with suitable capacity, whether it 
be direct works (engineering, building, grounds maintenance, etc.) or professional 
services (accountancy, legal, surveying, etc.) all relevant works and services shall be 
delivered by that team except where specialist advice is required. 

Page 131



Page 6 of 34

6
1.6  All members and officers involved in the procurement, award and management of 

Council contracts shall act with the highest standards. At all times during the 
procurement process all members and officers shall consider and implement the 
principles of non – discrimination, equal treatment and transparency. 

1.7 Particular attention is drawn to SO.19 which relates to conflicts of interests. If an officer 
involved in a procurement is related to or knows a potential supplier then this should 
be declared to the Monitoring Officer at the outset so that appropriate measures can 
be put in place to avoid conflict and maintain impartiality. Regulation 24 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations is quite clear when it states that ‘contracting authorities shall 
take appropriate measures to effectively prevent, identify and remedy conflicts of 
interest arising in the conduct of procurement procedures so as to avoid any distortion 
of competition and to ensure equal treatment of  all economic operators’ and that ‘the 
concepts of conflict of interest shall at least cover any situation where relevant staff 
members have, directly or indirectly, a financial, economic or other personal interest 
which might be perceived to compromise their impartiality and independence in the 
context of procurement procedure’. Whilst this Regulation only applies to contracts 
about the EU thresholds the Council takes the view that it should apply equally to all 
contracts regardless of value.

1.8 These CSO’s are supplemented by a quick summary (Appendix D) outlining processes to 
follow for each of the Councils Procurement Thresholds.

1.9 No works, services or supplies procured shall commence until these Orders have been 
complied with, insofar as they are not waived, particularly the requirement to have a 
written contract or order signed and in place prior to work starting. The Monitoring 
Officer may grant an exception to this where extenuating circumstances apply.

 
SO.2 Exemptions

2.1  The Council considers the following exemptions to be special circumstances allowing a 
contract to be exempt from the requirements of these Orders relating to inviting 
quotes or tenders:

(a) contracts placed through a framework agreement established by a central or 
regional purchasing body to which the Council is a named party;

(b) contracts falling within the ‘exclusions’ contained within regulations 7 to 17 of 
the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 where the specific requirements of those 
regulations are satisfied. These are, using the relevant regulation number:

7.  Contracts in the water, energy, transport and postal service sectors;
8. Specific exclusions relating to electronic communications;
9. Public contracts awarded, and design contests organised, pursuant to 

international rules;
10. Specific service contract exclusions – broadcasting, arbitration services, 

specific legal and financial services, loans, civil defence and protection 

Page 132



Page 7 of 34

7
services, public passenger transport services and political campaign 
services;

11. Service contracts awarded on the basis of an exclusive right;
12. Public contracts between entities within the public sector;
13. Subsidised contracts;
14. Research and development services;
15. Defence and security;
16. Mixed procurement involving defence or security; and
17. Public contracts and design contests involving defence or security 

applying international rules.

(c) contracts of employment (excluding temporary use of agency staff);

(d) contracts awarding grants to external organisations provided that no works or 
services are provided direct to the Council in return for the grant;

(e) in respect of land transactions only CSO23 shall apply;

(f) where, following compliance with these CSO’s no tenders, no suitable tenders, 
no requests to participate or no suitable requests to participate have been 
submitted in a response to an invite provided that the initial conditions of the 
contract are not substantially altered;

(g) where the works, supplies or services can only be supplied by a particular 
economic operator for any of the following reasons:

(i)   the aim of the procurement is the creation or acquisition of a unique 
work or art or artistic performance;

(ii)   competition is absent for technical reasons and no reasonably 
alternative or substitute exists and the absence of competition is not the 
result or artificially narrowing down of the parameters of procurement; 

(iii)  the protection of exclusive rights, including intellectual property rights; 
and no reasonably alternative or substitute exists; and the absence of 
competition is not the result or artificially narrowing down of the 
parameters of procurement;  

(h) where works, supplies or services are required by reasons of extreme urgency 
brought about by events unforeseeable by the Council (and not in any event 
attributable to the Council) and the time limits for inviting tenders or obtaining 
quotes cannot be met. In this case the procurement must be limited to those 
works, supplies or services necessary to overcome the extreme urgency. If the 
Council’s Corporate Leadership Team declares an emergency this exemption 
shall automatically apply;

Page 133



Page 8 of 34

8
(i) if the contract is one of supply where either (a) the products involved are 

manufactured purely for research, experimentation, study or development 
purposes but not to include quantity production to establish commercial 
viability or to recover research and development costs; (b) for supplies quoted 
and purchased on a commodity market; (c) for the purchase of supplies or 
services on particularly advantageous terms from a supplier winding up business 
activities or a liquidator, etc. (d) for additional deliveries by the original supplier 
which are intended either as a partial replacement of supplies or installations or 
as the extension of existing supplies or installations where a change of supplier 
would oblige the Council to acquire supplies having different characteristics 
which would result in incompatibility or disproportionate technical difficulties in 
operation and maintenance provided that in respect of (d) to the total length of 
the contract does not exceed 3 years unless exceptional circumstances exist;

(j) design contracts awarded under design procurement rules;

(k) where new works or services are a repetition of similar works or services 
provided that they are in conformity with a the original contract which was 
awarded following a tendering process, were envisaged by the original contract 
and is used within 3 years of the date of the original contract; e.g. a three year 
contract with an option to extend for a further two years.

If a Service Manager wishes to use any of the above exemption s/he must obtain the 
consent of the Council’s Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy to the 
use of such exemption using Section 1 of the Procurement Request Form (Appendix 1).

2.2 If none of the above exemptions apply and the proposed contract is below the EU 
procurement thresholds the Council’s Director of Corporate Services and Commercial 
Strategy may exempt the contract from the requirements of these CPR’s, either wholly 
or partially, if, to do so, is justified by other special circumstances.

SO.3 Requirement for Budgetary Provision and Initial Approval 

3.1 No exemption under SO2 above shall be granted, no quotation or tender shall be 
invited nor shall any order be placed unless there is sufficient approved budgetary 
provision in place. It is the Service Manager’s responsibility to ensure that such budget 
is in place prior to proceeding. 

3.2 The existence of sufficient budget must be established at the outset and the Service 
Manager should complete section 2 of the Procurement Request Form (Appendix 1) 
and have this countersigned by the Section 151 Officer.

3.3 In completing section 2 of the Procurement Request Form (Appendix 1) the Service 
Manager should also confirm that approval to the project and/or expenditure exists. 
This may be an express minute of the Executive or Council or it may be the exercise of 

Page 134



Page 9 of 34

9
delegated authority. Either way the provision relied on should be clearly identified. The 
Solicitor can advise on this as appropriate.

3.4 Particular care must be taken with contracts committing the Council to long term 
expenditure. The Council’s medium term financial strategy identifies and approves 
expenditure currently up to three years in advance. The Service Manager should 
ensure, in obtaining the Section 151 officer’s counter-signature that the Section 151 
Officer is fully aware of ongoing expenditure outside budget already approved by 
Council.

SO.4 Determining the Contract Value and Duration

4.1 At the outset it is necessary to calculate the estimated value of a procurement. This will 
be the total amount payable, net of VAT, including the value of any form of option or 
renewal as set out in the procurement documents.

4.2 The principles of valuation are as follows:

(a)   The estimated value shall be calculated at the moment the call for competition 
is sent;

(b)  A procurement shall not be structured with the intention of it excluding it from 
all or any of these CSO’s;

(c) A procurement shall not be subdivided with the effect of preventing it from 
falling within these CSO’s unless justified by objective reasons;

(d) All monetary values referred to in these CSO’s are total contract values, not 
annual values, and exclude VAT unless otherwise stated. The contract value 
should be the summation of the whole life costs of the contract on offer e.g. the 
complete life cycle from start to finish. 

(e)  Contract Value = Initial non – recurring elements (e.g. materials, supplies, 
training, set up costs) + Recurring costs over the contract duration (e.g. 
materials, parts, annual licences, upgrading, disposal)

(f) Calculating Contract Value: 

(i) If the contract is a one off purchase then the total value will be quite 
easy to estimate based on “should cost” or benchmarked comparisons.

(ii) If the contract is spread over a number of years (i.e. 3 years + 2 years 
optional extension) the contract value is the total life cost value over the 
maximum contract duration.

(iii) If it is intended to buy similar goods or services year on year but the 
length of contract is unknown or not defined, an estimate based on the 
value of purchasing over 4 years will be used as the contract value.

Page 135



Page 10 of 34

10
(g)   Contracts over 5 years duration should be approved by Legal Services in 

conjunction with Procurement. Single supplier / multi supplier Framework 
Agreements cannot exceed 4 years duration. Provision should be made for long 
term agreements whereby an extension period beyond the initial term may be 
beneficial to the Council in the future.

4.3 Contracts must be packaged appropriately to achieve maximum value for the Council.  

4.4 In respect of contracts through a staffing agency the Service Manager should consult 
with the Procurement Officer prior to making such appointment. The Council is looking 
toward developing an approved list of agency suppliers whose agency fees have been 
compared and tendered.

SO.5 Contracts valued up to £499

5.1  Requirements: A manager should ensure that they are receiving value for money 
in respect of contracts up to £499. 

5.2 Authority: Service Manager can authorise.

5.3  Forms: No requirements.
 
5.4 Contract: Use standard purchase order via the Total system. 

5.5 Retention: Retain purchase order form electronically for 12 months provided 
receipt of payment issued; otherwise 6 years.

SO.6 Contracts valued £500 to £9,999

6.1 Requirements: Where the value of a contract is likely to be £500 to below 
£10,000 a Service Manager should adopt the procedure that is 
most appropriate to provide best value to the Council. This can 
be done by obtaining prices or quotes from three suppliers or 
undertaking an internet comparison of prices charged by 
competitive providers, information from other local authorities 
who have may have procured similar items or from recent 
benchmarking data prepared by reliable sources. 

6.2 Authority: Service Manager can approve.

6.3 Forms: Manager to complete sections 2 and 3 of the Procurement 
Request Form.

6.4 Contract: Use standard purchase order via the Total system. 

Page 136



Page 11 of 34

11
6.5 Retention: The Procurement Request Form and the order should be retained 

electronically for 6 years.

SO.7 Contracts with a value £10,000 to £24,999

7.1 Requirements: A Service Manager should obtain a minimum of three quotations 
allowing at least one week for suppliers to make a quote.  

7.2 Authority: Service Manager can approve.

7.3 Forms: Manager to complete sections 2 and 3 of the Procurement 
Request Form.

 
7.4 Contract: Use standard purchase order via the Total system. 

7.5 Retention: All documentation should be retained for six years.

SO.8 Contracts with a value £25,000 - £49,999

8.1 At £25,000 chapter 6 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 is engaged. This states 
that where an authority decides to advertise a procurement the information must also 
be published on the Cabinet Office’s web based portal for advertising opportunities 
(‘Contracts Finder’). If a procurement is advertised on ‘the Chest’ (the Council’s 
procurement portal) this automatically places the opportunity on Contracts Finder also.

8.2 The Council, for the purposes of the Regulations, advertises an opportunity if it does 
anything to put the opportunity in the public domain or brings the opportunity to the 
attention of suppliers generally or to any class or description of suppliers which is 
potentially open-ended. However, if the opportunity is only available to a number of 
suppliers who have been selected for that purposes (whether ad hoc or by virtue of 
closed category membership) then this will not be deemed to be advertising an 
opportunity.

8.3 Requirements: Where the estimated value of a works, goods or services contract 
is £25,000 to £49,999 suitable suppliers for a restricted quotation 
should be nominated by the Service Manager and confirmed with 
the Procurement Officer. That Officer will then invite quotations 
via The Chest portal. However, the option to convert from 
restricted to open advertising will be used if a wider supplier 
search would benefit the Council or the Service Manager is 
unable to nominate suppliers. 

8.4 Forms: Prior to the invitation being made on the Chest the a decision 
should be made by the Procurement Officer on the documents 
necessary to invite quotes. This is likely to include the matters 
referred to in SO12. The Procurement Officer may seek advice 

Page 137



Page 12 of 34

12
from the Solicitor on the form of documentation, particularly the 
contract conditions.

The Service Manager should complete sections 2 and 4 of the 
Procurement Request Form.

8.5 Authority: The Service Manager should make a recommendation to the 
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy who will 
consider and, if appropriate, make the appointment.

8.6 Contract: This will depend on the nature of the works or services being 
procured. The use of a purchase order may still suffice although it 
is likely that the Council’s position may be better protected by 
using the Council’ standard form of contract or a national form of 
contract e.g. JCT minor works contract. This decision will be made 
by the Procurement Officer following consultation with the 
Solicitor.

8.7 Retention: The signed contract and Procurement Request Form should be 
retained for 6 years. 

SO.9 Contracts with a value £50,000 to below EU Threshold for Services (as at 
1st January 2018 - £181,302)

9.1  Requirements: Where the estimated value of a works, goods or services 
contract is £50,000  to below the EU threshold for services (as at 
1st January 2018 - £181,302) tenders should be invited via the 
Chest portal. 

9.2 Forms: Prior to the invitation being made on the Chest the a decision 
should be made by the Procurement Officer on the documents 
necessary to invite tenders. This is likely to include the matters 
set out in SO12. The Procurement Officer may seek advice from 
the Solicitor on the form of documentation, particularly the 
contract conditions.

The Service Manager should complete sections 2 and 5 of the 
Procurement Request Form

9.3 Authority: The Service Manager should make a recommendation to the 
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy who will 
consider the recommendation and, if appropriate, then make the 
appointment.   

9.4 Contract: This will depend on the nature of the works or services being 

Page 138



Page 13 of 34

13
procured. The use of a purchase order may still suffice although it 
is likely that the Council’s position may be better protected by 
using the Council’ standard form of contract at Form 3 or a 
national form of contract e.g. JCT minor works contract. This 
decision will be made by the Procurement Officer following 
consultation with Legal Services.

9.5 Retention: The signed contract and Procurement Request Form should be 
retained for 6 years. 

SO.10 Contracts with a value in excess of the EU Service Threshold (as at 1st 
January 2018 - £181,302)

10.1 Where the estimated contract value for a works, goods or services contract exceeds the 
relevant EU public procurement threshold for services (as at 1st January 2018 - 
£181,302) any contract must be issued by the Procurement team via The Chest in 
compliance with the relevant legal requirements, in particular the Pubic Contracts 
Regulations 2015 and these CSO’s. 

10.2 If the contract value exceeds the threshold for advertising in Europe the Procurement 
Officer will arrange for the issue of a Contract Notice (advert) in the OJEU (Official 
Journal of the European Union) and to be followed by an invitation to tender using one 
of the mandated procedures set out in the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (namely; 
open; restricted; competitive dialogue; competitive procedure with negotiation; or 
innovation partnership). Procurement will advise on the most appropriate procedure to 
be followed. 

10.3 Where there is a conflict between legislation and these CSO’s, the legislation will 
prevail.

10.4 Where the contract is for services or services and supplies then consideration should be 
given to the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. This Act applies to all service 
contracts and frameworks to which part 2 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
apply. It is our duty to consider “(a) how what is proposed to be procured might 
improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of the relevant area, and
(b) how, in conducting the process of procurement, it might act with a view to securing 
that improvement”. This needs to be considered for each contract and taken into 
account. 

10.5 Requirements: If the type of contract exceeds the EU thresholds the 
procurement will be advertised in OJEU, the Portal and Contracts 
Finder. Contracts in this category are likely to be for supplies and 
services. Contracts for works will only be advertised in OJEU 
should the estimated value exceed £4,551,413 and therefore the 
procurement will be advertised on the Portal and in Contracts 
Finder.

Page 139



Page 14 of 34

14
10.6 Forms: Prior to the invitation being made on the Chest the a decision 

should be made by the Procurement Officer on the documents 
necessary to invite tenders. This is likely to include the matters 
set out in SO12. The Procurement Officer may seek advice from 
the Solicitor on the form of documentation, particularly the 
contract conditions. The documentation should be prepared in 
advance of the first advertisement being made.

The Service Manager should complete sections 2 and 6 of the 
Procurement Request Form.

10.7 Authority: The Service Manager should make a recommendation to the 
the Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy who 
will consider the recommendation and then make an appropriate 
recommendation to the Elected Mayor. The Elected Mayor may 
make the decision him/herself or refer the matter to the 
Executive. If s/he decides to make the decision s/he shall first 
make a ‘minded to’ decision which shall be subject to call in 
under the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny scheme. If his ‘minded 
to’ decision is not called in then s/he will proceed to make a 
decision at the expiry of the 7 day call in period. If his decision is 
called in then any decision will be delayed. If the Elected Mayor 
refers the matter to the Executive then normal call-in 
arrangements will apply. 

10.8 Contract: This will depend on the nature of the works or services being 
procured. A purchase order should not be used. The value 
dictates that a formal contract should be in place either using the 
Council’ standard form of contract or a national form of contract 
e.g. JCT, ACE, etc. This decision on form of contract will be made 
by the Solicitor.

10.9 Retention: The signed contract and Procurement Request Form should be 
retained for 6 years or 15 years if the contract is under seal. 

SO.11 Framework Agreements and Preferred Suppliers List.

11.1 Framework Agreements can be used in preference to an open/restricted selection 
process for contracts above £10,000.

11.2 The term of the Framework Agreement must not exceed 4 years and, while an 
Agreement may be entered into with one provider, where an agreement is concluded 
with several organisations, there must be at least 3 in number.

11.3 Contracts based on Framework Agreements shall be awarded by either:

(a)  Applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement (where such terms 

Page 140



Page 15 of 34

15
are sufficiently precise to cover the particular call off, including hourly rates, 
activity costs, product prices, etc.) without re-opening competition; or

(b)  where the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement are not precise 
enough or complete for the particular call off, by holding a mini competition 
based on a written specification of the Council’s requirements in accordance 
with the following procedure:

(i)  Inviting organisations within the Framework Agreement which are 
capable of executing the subject of the contract to submit written 
quotes or formal tenders;

(ii)  Fixing a time limit which is sufficiently long to allow written quotes or 
tenders for each specific contract to be submitted, taking into account 
factors such as the complexity of the subject of the contract;

(iii)  Awarding each contract to the Tenderer who has submitted the best 
written quote of formal tender on the basis of the award criteria set out 
in the specifications of the Framework Agreement.

11.4 A number of bodies have framework agreements in place (e.g. the Government 
Procurement Service (Cabinet Office), ESPO and Crown Commercial)  have in place 
various Framework Agreements that have already been established in accordance with 
EU Procedures. These may be used by the Council in place of advertising projects and 
without the need for re tendering . You can seek advice and guidance from the 
Procurement Officer, Solicitor or Section 151 Officer. Details can also be found on the 
OGC website: https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/ 

SO.12 Content of Invitations to Quote or Tender
 

All Invitations to Quote or Tender should be submitted on the Portal’s templates. 
Procurement will oversee the contents of all invitation to tender or requests for 
quotation to ensure they include:

(a)    A detailed description of the works, goods or services being procured;
(b)   A detailed specification indicating the outcome required;
(c)  An outline of the Procurement timetable;
(d)  Confirmation of contract duration including possible extensions;

 (e)   Confirmation of contract value;
(f)  Specific terms and conditions of contract and confirmation of contract to be 

used, if not standard terms;
 (g) The evaluation criteria including any weightings; 

(h) The cost (pricing) mechanism and instructions for completing the tender sum 
response;

 (i) The quality and service requirements and associated response form; 

Page 141

https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/


Page 16 of 34

16
(j)  Where there is a potential transfer of employees, the Council’s view on whether 

TUPE will apply; 
(k) If external funding is being used to fund the project and conditions required by 

the external funder in the grant funding agreement; and
(k) The form and content of any method statements to be provided. 

SO.13 Collaborative Procurement 

13.1 Where procurement is undertaken in collaboration with one or more other public 
authorities the contract standing orders of one of the other authorities may be used in 
place of these Orders. 

13.2  An invitation to tender or to submit quotations may be made for supply to other 
authorities (including town and parish councils in Copeland) in addition to the Council 
on similar terms.   

SO.14  Form and contents of contracts

14.1  The choice of contract terms applicable for a procurement project should be decided at 
the start of the process by seeking advice from Procurement Officer and/or the 
Solicitor. A range of standard contract type templates can be provided by Legal Services 
to suit need.  Contracts for works are usually based on national trade contracts.

  
14.2  The decision whether the contract should be sealed or just signed should be discussed 

and agreed with Legal / Procurement. The decision will depend upon the use of 
statutory limitation period. A contract signed under hand provides 6 years limitation 
from the end of the contract term.  A contract executed as a deed and sealed provides 
12 years limitation from end of contract term.  Contracts exceeding the relevant EU 
procurement thresholds must be entered into as a deed and sealed by Legal Services, 
thus giving the Council greater protection. Generally, other contracts should be signed 
under hand. Signing must be undertaken in accordance with CSO17.  

14.3 Contracts will be appropriate to the nature of the services, goods or works being 
acquired. For low value contracts purchase order terms should suffice. For works a 
national form of contract is likely to be more appropriate. For services generally the 
Council’s standard form of contract will be used. As a minimum a contract must address 
the following matters:

The parties, ensuring that the supplier has legal status;
A full and accurate description of what is to be supplied;
The standard of workmanship and carrying out the work;
Performance indicators;
Price and payment details;
Insurance requirements and indemnities;
Assignment provisions;
Default provisions;

Page 142



Page 17 of 34

17
Termination for insolvency, etc.;
Health and safety issues specific to the type of contract;
Equality requirements;
Freedom of Information Act issues;
Data protection/GDPR issues;
Adjudication requirements;
Modern Slavery Act provisions
Bribery and anti-money laundering (CSO 19); 
Any issues arising the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012; and
Whistleblowing.

14.4 The following clauses should also be considered for inclusion in a contract:

Voluntary living wage requirements - it is Council policy that every employee is 
remunerated with a Voluntary Living Wage. The Council’s vision is much wider 
and will encourage its Suppliers to pay the Voluntary Living Wage if engaged via 
the Council’s procurement process. 

 Cost savings and value improvements, if a long term contract;
Apprenticeship & local employment - the Council will encourage the employment of 

apprentices, local labour, employment and training opportunities through the 
procurement process and contract management insofar as they may be 
permitted by law; 

Performance bonds and guarantees (see below, CSO18)

14.5 Contract roll-over clauses must be avoided. If the Council is inviting quotes or tenders 
with an option to extend that is acceptable as the extension will be at the Council’s sole 
discretion. Problems arise where the Council is drawn into using a supplier’s terms and 
conditions and these include automatic roll over clauses (e.g. even though an end date 
is specified the contract is deemed to continue after that date unless and until 
terminated by the Council serving a notice). Such clauses should be deleted. 

SO.15 Submission and Opening of Tenders and Quotations 

15.1 All invitations to tender or submit a quotation must specify requirements for their 
submission.  Such requirements shall include a time by which tenders or quotations 
must be received by the Council. 

 
15.2   All quotations with an estimated value below £25,000 must be opened, recorded and 

retained by the nominated officer of the relevant Service Team (who is independent of 
the quotation process). Quotation instructions shall clearly state that the quotations 
must be returned via email only to a dedicated e mail address 
quotations@copeland.gov.uk.  

15.3 Returned quotations must be held securely and unopened by the nominated officer 
until the specified return date. The Contract Administrator (the Service Manager 

Page 143

mailto:quotations@copeland.gov.uk


Page 18 of 34

18
organising the procurement or a person nominated by him/her) must supply the details 
of the suppliers that have been invited to quotation to the nominated officer prior to 
the quotations being received. 

15.4    All quotations and tenders with an estimated value in excess of £25,000 will be held on 
The Chest and must be opened by Procurement. Audit history of the opening process 
will be maintained by The Chest. 

15.5  Any quotations / tenders received after the specified opening date whether by post or 
email should not be opened or included in the evaluation.  

15.6 In the case of quotations / tenders received via the e-procurement system Procurement 
and Legal Services can agree to accept a late quotation / tender response received via 
the e-Procurement system in exceptional cases where the fault is caused by errors 
within the e-procurement system. 

15.7 If a quotation or tender exercise fails to return more than one bid response, then the 
Contract Administrator and Procurement Officer should decide whether the bid 
represents value for money and delivers the specification in full.  A decision to proceed 
to award based on single bid OR suspension of the procurement exercise should be 
agreed, documented and approved via the Procurement Request Form. If the 
procurement exercise is suspended a decision to (a) revise the project and re-tender OR 
(b) abandon the whole project should be set out in the Procurement Request Form.  

15.8 Quotations and tenders must be received by e mail or The Chest portal only. Any 
request for submissions to be made by post will be assessed by Legal and Procurement 
who can approve this method by exception.

 
15.9 All Suppliers to the Council providing Quotations or Tenders shall adhere to the 

following rules:

 They shall not communicate the amount of the proposed tender to anyone except the 
Council.

 They shall not receive details of a proposed tender from any other Contractor.
 They shall not adjust the amount of the proposed tender as a result of an arrangement 

with any other person other than the Council
 They shall not agree with any other person:

a. the amount of the proposed tender;
b. not to tender.

SO.16 Evaluating Quotations and Tenders

16.1 Tenders and quotations will be evaluated as per the agreed evaluation criteria set out 
in the quotation or tender documentation. Procurement provides an evaluation matrix 
(spreadsheet) for this purpose.

Page 144



Page 19 of 34

19
16.2 The Procurement Officer must ensure that evaluation of tenders takes place involving 

suitably experienced officers to form “the evaluation panel” of at least 3 people. Such 
panel must only comprise of officers who do not have a conflict of interest in the 
particular procurement process. The results of the evaluation must reflect the 
consensus of the panel and be approved by the appropriate Service Manager. Minutes 
of the evaluation panel meeting shall be kept for transparency and audit purposes.

16.3  It is permissible to use consultants to assist with tender evaluation, but the final 
decision must be made by a Council officer with delegated authority.

16.4  If during the evaluation of tenders (over the contract value of £25,000) the panel 
requires post-tender clarifications from any or all of the tenderers, this must be 
communicated via The Chest messaging function by the Procurement team).

16.5 The results of the evaluation must be retained for the period of the limitation period 
from the end of the contract. A copy of the approved evaluation matrix will be provided 
to Procurement to store electronically (along with the award decision letters and final 
contract documents). 

SO.17  Award Notification and Entering into Contracts

17.1 Signing and entering into contracts must be undertaken by the Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy or the Solicitor or their nominees. Nominees must 
have appropriate knowledge of contract and procurement provisions.

17.2  The notification of the outcome of a desk-top quotation for contracts below £25,000 
will be administered by the relevant Service Manager. Service Manager, Director or 
Mayoral approval, as set out above, to award the contract is required. All tenderers 
(successful and unsuccessful) will be notified on the same date along with details of 
their evaluation scores. Template letters are available from Procurement.  

17.3 The notification of the outcome of a quotation or tender for contracts issued and 
received via The Chest will be administered by Procurement.  All tenderers (successful 
and unsuccessful) will be notified along with details of their evaluation scores using the 
official notification letter template.

17.4 Suppliers / Contractors are required to hold and maintain appropriate levels of 
insurance during the period of any contract awarded by the Council. Evidence of the 
insurance cover held must be confirmed prior to the award of contract. This must be 
reviewed and confirmed annually for multi-year contracts 

17.5 An official purchase order will be issued (unless otherwise agreed with Procurement) to 
awarded supplier(s) to call-off goods or services, cross referencing the Councils contract 
number and awarded suppliers quotation number (if available).  Works orders will be 
instructed as set out in the works contract documents, with payment certificates used 

Page 145



Page 20 of 34

20
to authorise payments. The terms and conditions of contract will be as set out in the 
quotation / tender pack

SO.18 Performance Bonds & Parent Company Guarantees

18.1 As part of the evaluation of short-listed tender responses the Contract Administrator 
will request from Procurement an independent financial appraisal report.  The financial 
appraisal provides the Council with an overall financial risk score (referred to as failure 
score) used to assess the applicant’s financial standing. The failure score ratings (0 poor 
to 100 good) are matched to a pass/fail result as detailed below:

• Score of 0 to 10 will mean automatic "FAIL" and the suppliers will be excluded from 
the procurement process.
• Score of 11 to 50 will be a "PASS - SUBJECT TO" provision of a performance bond or 
parent company guarantee if/when deemed appropriate. 
• Score of 51 and over is a "PASS" meaning the Council will not request a performance 
bond or parent company guarantee (although this can be overruled on a case by case 
basis and may be required in respect of large works contracts).

18.2 A performance bond (PB) or parent company guarantee (PCG) provides the Council 
with a financial guarantee, typically limited to 10% of the contract price to protect 
against losses and/or damages as result of the Contractor failing to perform its 
contractual obligations up to practical completion. A performance bond is a tripartite 
agreement between the Contractor, its surety (a bank / insurer) and the Council. 
Likewise, a parent company guarantee is a tripartite agreement between the 
Contractor, its Parent Company and the Council.

18.3 The decision to seek the assurance of a performance bond (PB) or parent company 
guarantee (PCG) will depend on the risk factors related to the specific contractor and 
proportionate to the contract value and cost to the Council of the assurance.  Advice 
from Procurement, Accountancy and Legal should be sought by the Contract 
Administrator where a contractor’s financial appraisal highlights concerns. 

SO.19 Conflicts of Interest, Bribery and Corruption 

19.1 All officers involved with the award of contracts must comply with the Council's Anti-
Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy.

 
19.2  No gifts or hospitality, other than simple refreshments, shall be accepted by officers or 

members from any tenderers to any contract being let by the Council, either before or 
after a contract has been awarded. 

19.3 No contract can be wholly awarded or managed by an officer who has other interests in 
the arrangement. 

Page 146



Page 21 of 34

21
19.4 If it comes to the knowledge of a member or officer of the Council that a contract in 

which s/he has a pecuniary interest has been or is proposed to be entered into by the 
Council, s/he shall immediately inform the Monitoring Officer.   

19.5 An officer shall not participate in a procurement process if he is related to or knows a 
potential supplier without the approval of the Monitoring Officer (SO 1.6 refers).

CONTRACT MANAGEMENT

SO.20 Contract Variations

20.1 Under Public Contracts Regulations 2015, a modification to an existing pre-tendered 
contract may be possible, without the need to re-advertise or retender, under the 
following circumstances:

20.2  The Contract Administrator, following legal advice, has included a modification (or 
review) clause in the original contract providing the possible options for a modification 
(or variation) to the contract (if required) based on quantity, time or monetary value. 
Any such modification clause must be clear, precise and unequivocal and must not alter 
the overall nature of the contract. Legal approval is required to invoke any modification 
clause. 

20.3  Where no modification clause was added at tender stage, a modification to the 
contract may be undertaken in the following circumstances:

(a) the value is below EU thresholds and the additional costs incurred are below 
15% (if Works) or 10% (if Goods/Services) of the original contract value; or 

(b) Where additional works services or supplies have become necessary, were not 
included in the initial procurements and where to change suppliers cannot be 
made for economic or technical reasons such as requirements of 
interchangeability or interoperability with existing equipment, services or 
installations procured under the initial procurement and would cause significant 
inconvenience or substantial duplication of costs for the Council  and the 
increase is not greater than 50% of the value of the original contract; or

(c) where the need for modification has been brought about by circumstances 
which the Council, acting diligently, could not have foreseen, the modification 
does not alter the overall nature of the contract and any increase in price does 
not exceed 50% of the value of the original contract; 

In respect of (b) and (c) if the original procurement was above EU thresholds a notice of 
the extension must be provided to the EU publications office 

20.4 Certain other factors may also permit contract modifications, such as for minor changes 
or as a result of corporate restructuring. Please seek advice from Legal Services. 

Page 147



Page 22 of 34

22
20.5 Gaining approval for modification of a contract:

 Any modification to an existing pre-tendered contract must be documented by 
amendment of the original Procurement Request Form by completing section 7 of that 
form. 

 The Contract Administrator will document the reason for the modification and under 
CSO clause 20. 

 The Procurement Request Form amendment must be approved and signed by the 
Section 151 Officer to confirm the budget increase and by the person who approved 
the original procurement (Service Manager/Director of Corporate Services and 
Commercial Strategy/Mayor).

 
 The amended Procurement Request Form should be scanned and sent to Procurement 

to store alongside the original documents in the Contract Register.

 The contract variation between the Council and the supplier / contractor can then be 
arranged by the Contract Administrator.

SO.21  Contract Performance Monitoring
  
21.1  The Contract Administrator should establish regular reviews with the awarded 

supplier(s) to monitor the performance of the contract and ensure the cost, service and 
quality elements of the supplier offer meet (or improve upon) the tendered 
specification. The contract monitoring regime should be commensurate and 
proportionate to the contract and should include the use of simple and effective 
performance measurement. The proposed arrangement to mobilise and monitor the 
contract throughout its lifetime should be set out in the contract award proposal & 
approval. 

21.2 Service Managers are accountable for ensuring the performance monitoring regime for 
awarded contracts is maintained in line with the contract documents and the 
Procurement Request Form.    

21.3 Service Managers must ensure a performance checklist is completed for contracts over 
a 12-month contract duration. The checklists must be kept by the Service team for 
audit and continuous improvement purposes. Service Managers will be required to 
report on performance.

SO.22  Maintenance of the Contract Register  

22.1 Under Government Transparency Law the Council must publish and maintain details of 
ALL “live” contracts.  In order to achieve this requirement, Procurement will add details 

Page 148



Page 23 of 34

23
of all contracts on the contract register accessible via a link on the Councils website for 
enquiries.  

22.2 Copies of all Procurement paperwork and documentation for contract procurement 
over £5,000 will be forwarded to the Procurement Officer.

22.3 The unpublished electronic contract register allows for “private” documents to be 
stored.  Procurement will add an electronic copy of the final signed / sealed contract 
and any relevant documents. This will be accessible to Council officers linked to the 
procurement.  

22.4 A contract number (pre-fixed with C) must be requested from and be issued by the 
Procurement Officer.

22.5 All original sealed deed contract documents must be held centrally by Legal Services for 
the term of the contract (including any agreed extension periods), plus the statutory 
limitation period (12 years for sealed deeds). They must be referenced back to the 
Contracts Register. Hard copies be stored in a secure strong room.

 
 22.6 All original signed under hand contracts must be held by the relevant Service unit for 

the term of the contract (including any agreed extension periods), plus the statutory 
limitation period (6 years for contracts under hand). They must be referenced back to a 
Service based register. 

22.7 Service Managers are responsible for ensuring that:

 • the original signed/sealed copies of the contract and any subsequent signed 
variations, have been stored as set out in this CSO22 and that summary details 
of any contract that has been entered into, that binds the Council to the terms 
and conditions of the contract plus a pdf copy of the signed / sealed contract is 
provided to Procurement to be entered on the Contracts Register administered 
by Procurement;

• an electronic copy of the contract and any subsequent variations to the contract 
that are entered into during its lifetime are stored in their service filing areas 
(working copy);

• Procurement will maintain the online Contracts Register to ensure the Council 
complies with the obligations of the Local Government Transparency Code 
(2015).  

SO.23 Land transactions
  
23.1 Prior to the commencement of a land transaction the Council’s Property and Estates 

Manager shall carry out a written initial valuation of assets to be transacted (or 
exchange of land where the disposal is part of an exchange). This will include an 
assessment of the expected economic benefits of the disposal.  

Page 149



Page 24 of 34

24
23.2 Prior to any disposal being taken forward ward councillors will then be consulted on the 

proposed transaction. This shall include all land transactions other than routine lease 
relating to allotment sites, garage sites, pigeon lofts, etc. In addition to ward councillors 
being consulted the Section 151 officer shall also be consulted.

23.3 If the disposal is of land comprising of an open space the proposal must be advertised 
so that the general public have an opportunity to comment.

23.4 The Solicitor has delegated authority to approve: 

 the grant or surrender of a lease or licences where the annual rental or licence fee 
is less than £10,000 (or if a premium is charged the premium is less than £10,000) 
and the lease or licence is for a period of less than 15 years;

 sales, purchases and easements where the value of the transaction is less than 
£10,000;

 landlord’s consents in respect of existing leases (e.g. assignments, alterations); 

 variations to existing leases, licences and charges if the variation, licence or charge 
is within the limits set out above in this 23.4 or the variation relates to terms other 
than rental or period; 

 consents arising from previously held housing stock; and

 variation of covenants in previous land sales.

23.5 The exercise of the powers in 23.4 constitute an Executive function. As they relate to 
routine and operational transactions they shall not be the subject of call-in by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

23.6 The Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy, in consultation with the  
Section 151 officer, has delegated authority to approve:

 leases and licences where the annual rental or annual licence fee is £10,000 or 
more but less than £50,000 per annum ( or any premium is between these limits) 
or is for a period 15 years of more but less than 25 years;

 sales, purchases and easements where the value of the transaction is £10,000 or 
more but less than £50,000;

 variations to existing leases (including surrenders), licences and charges if the 
variation, licence or charge is within the limits set out above in 23.6 and new 
charges over property;

 Other transactions where the Executive or Council has given delegated authority in 
respect of specific matters. When additional delegated authority has been given, 
this must be supported by signed documentation.

Page 150



Page 25 of 34

25
23.7 The exercise of the powers in 23.6 constitute an Executive function. As they relate to 

routine and operational transactions they shall not be the subject of call-in by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

23.8 The Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder or the Mayor has delegated authority to approve:

 leases and licences where the rental or fee is £50,000 or more but less than 
£100,000 per annum ( or any premium is between those limits) or is for a period of 
25 years or more;

 sales, purchases and easements where the value of the transactions is £50,000 or 
more but less than £250,000:

 all variations to existing leases, licences and charges not delegated by 23.4 and 
23.6.

23.9 The exercise of the powers in 23.8 constitute an Executive function. They are subject to 
call in by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in chapter 8 of the 
constitution. This means that prior to making a decision the Director shall first make a 
‘minded to’ decision which shall be subject to call in under the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny scheme. If that ‘minded to’ decision is not called in then s/he will proceed to 
make a decision at the expiry of the 7 day call in period. If that decision is called in then 
any decision will be delayed pending consideration by the Committee.

23.10 The Executive must approve all other land transactions. Such decisions will be subject 
to call in by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in chapter 8 of the 
constitution. Where a decision alters the Council’s approved annual budget then the 
decision will also be subject to approval by Council.

23.11 Disposals can be made by either open market competitive tender, in the form of a 
sealed bid, by auction or by direct negotiation with prospective buyers where no 
competition is likely to exist. At all times, the Council must achieve best value by 
maximising disposal proceeds wherever possible. The way a disposal is to be arranged 
shall be subject to agreement between the Solicitor and the Section 151 Officer or 
his/her representative.

23.12 Purchases will usually by made on the open market by direct negotiation, usually via a 
real property agent, or by tender. Occasionally they may need to be made via an 
auction. In these circumstances a bid would have to be made quickly. In these 
circumstances the decision to submit a bid will be made by the Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy in consultation with the Elected Mayor and the Chair 
of Overview and Scrutiny Committee but with their agreement should the bid price 
exceed £250,000. If the purchase is outside approved budgets then the budget would 
first need to be altered by Council. 

23.13 Disposals or leases at less than market value (community asset transfers), or 
acquisitions at more than market value, as defined by the Valuer, should be approved 
in accordance with the bands set out in 23.4, 23.6, 23.8 or 23.10 except that in respect 

Page 151



Page 26 of 34

26
of 23.4 and 23.6 the decisions (not being routine operational decisions) shall be subject 
to call in by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in chapter 8 of the 
constitution. This means that prior to making a decision the Solicitor or Director shall 
first make a ‘minded to’ decision which shall be subject to call in under the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny scheme. If that ‘minded to’ decision is not called in then s/he will 
proceed to make a decision at the expiry of the 7 day call in period. If that decision is 
called in then any decision will be delayed pending consideration by the Committee.

23.14 Where the Section 151 Officer and the Solicitor decide that land shall be disposed of by 
way of a formal open market competitive tender then: 

i) The procedure for the receipt, custody and opening of tenders and for dealing 
with late bids shall be in accordance with these CSO’s, except that: 

a) a defined range of uses which may be acceptable to the Council shall be provided 
in the tender documentation; 

b) late tenders received shall be opened in the same way but the tender shall not be 
considered unless no other tenders have been submitted; 

23.15 Land shall only be disposed of at auction with the consent of the Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy who shall decide a reserve price.

23.16 Where the Section 151 Officer and the Solicitor decide that where the land shall be 
disposed of by direct negotiation with a prospective buyer then;  

 the Council shall appoint a representative with appropriate valuation expertise to 
be present at all negotiations with the prospective buyer.

 a written record of all negotiations held with the prospective buyer shall be kept, 
which must include details of all the key facts and specific issues that were 
considered to arrive at the decision(s) determining the terms and conditions of the 
disposal. 

 the approving officer/Executive/Council (as set out above) shall receive a post-
disposal report, detailing the decisions taken as part of the disposal process, the 
results of the negotiations and the expected benefits of the disposal.

 where the disposal is over £250,000 in value the Council will be represented in 
negotiations with the prospective buyer by the Chief Executive or his/her nominee 
and the Council’s Valuer or his/her representatives, 

 the approving officer/Executive/Council (as set out above) may approve the 
disposal of the land on the terms agreed by the negotiation team either directly, or 
by appointing a panel of members to consider the terms of the disposal and 
recommend approval or rejection of the terms of the sale as appropriate.

 If a member panel is appointed, the approving officer/Executive/Council shall 
receive a post-disposal report detailing the decisions taken as part of the disposal 
process and the results of the negotiations.

23.17   Where there is a proposal to dispose of or acquire land to or from a Member or Officer 
of the Council other than by a competitive tender and the disposal or acquisition is in 

Page 152



Page 27 of 34

27
the opinion of the Chief Executive not a routine disposal or acquisition, the proposal or 
acquisition shall be referred to the Executive for consideration and a full report shall be 
made by the Chief Executive on the proposal. (For these purposes persons shall be 
deemed to be related if they would be so deemed for the purposes of the officer 
employment rules of the Council. 

23.18 The Property and Estates Manager shall always consider the effect of Value Added Tax 
on the acquisition and disposal of land. Guidance can be sought from the Section 151 
Officer or his/her representative. 

APPENDIX 1
PROCUREMENT REQUEST FORM

PROCUREMENT REQUEST FORM
(for contracts with a value exceeding £500)

Contract title:

Contract reference (issued by 
Procurement Officer):

Contract summary/scope/
objectives:

Service Manager:

Project Manager (if different 
from Service Manager):

SECTION 1: APPLICATION FOR EXEMPTION FROM CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS (Delete if 
not applicable)

I apply for this Project to be exempt from the requirements of Contract Standing Orders 
on the grounds that I believe Standing Order [insert number] applies to this Project.

State reasons for belief:

Page 153



Page 28 of 34

28
Signed:    ....................................................            Dated:  .................................................
Service Manager

I agree/do not agree to the above exemption being applied in this case:

Signed:  .....................................................             Dated:   ................................................
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy

SECTION 2: BUDGET AND APPROVAL PROVISIONS

I confirm that there is sufficient budget in place for this Contract to proceed. The budget 
details are as follows:

Budget code:

Amount available:

I confirm that I have authority to proceed with this Contract, the details of such authority 
being as follows:

Delegated authority:

Executive/Council approval:

(date and minute reference)

...................................................                                     ............................................
(Signed) Service Manager                                                 Date

In respect of budget I confirm that the above is correct and that adequate budget 
provision exists in the budget specified, provided that such budget is expended by ............

..................................................                                       .............................................
Section 151 Officer/Deputy Section 151 Officer           Date

Page 154



Page 29 of 34

29
SECTION 3:  APPROVAL OF CONTRACTS LESS THAN £25,000

I confirm that I have complied with CSO6 or 7.

The quotes received are as follows:

Name of supplier Date of quote Quote price

Having considered the quotes received I believe the following person to be providing best 
value for money:

As Service Manager I have therefore appointed _______________________________ at a 
price of £_________________________ as suitable contractor to undertake this contract.

Signed:   ....................................................              Date:   .....................................................

SECTION 4: APPROVAL OF CONTRACTS £25,000 UP TO £50,000

I confirm that I have complied with CSO8.

Quotes received were from nominated suppliers/an open invitation (delete as 
appropriate)

The quotes received are as follows:

Name of supplier Date of quote Quote price

Having considered the quotes received I believe the following person to be providing best 
value for money and recommend that person as supplier:

Page 155



Page 30 of 34

30
Service Manager’s signature: ...........................................  Date:  ......................................... 

I agree the Service Manager’s recommendation

Signed:  ..............................................                                          Date: ................................
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy: 

SECTION 5: APPROVAL OF CONTRACTS £50,000 UP TO EU SERVICE THRESHOLD

I confirm that I have complied with CSO9.

Tenders received were from an open invitation.

The tenders received are as follows:

Name of supplier Date of tender Tender price

Having considered the tenders received I believe the following person to be providing 
best value for money and recommend that person as supplier:

Service Manager’s signature: ...........................................  Date:  ......................................... 

I agree the Service Manager’s recommendation:

Signed:  ..............................................                                          Date: ................................
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy: 

Page 156



Page 31 of 34

31
SECTION 6: APPROVAL OF CONTRACTS ABOVE EU SERVICE THRESHOLD

I confirm that I have complied with CSO10.

Tenders received were from an open/restricted invitation.

The tenders received are as follows:

Name of supplier Date of tender Tender price

Having considered the tenders received I believe the following person to be providing 
best value for money and recommend that person as supplier:

Service Manager’s signature: ...........................................  Date:  ......................................... 

I confirm that I am satisfied that CSO’s have been complied with:

Signed:  ...............................................                                        Date: .................................
Procurement Officer

I approve the form of contract to be entered into:

Signed:  ...............................................                                        Date: .................................
Solicitor

I confirm that the budget position remains as set out in section 1 above:

Signed: ...............................................                                         Date: .................................
Section 151 Officer

We agree the Service Manager’s recommendation:

Signed:  .............................................                                          Date: .................................
Elected Mayor

Signed:  ..............................................                                          Date: ................................
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy: 

Page 157



Page 32 of 34

32
SECTION 7: CONTRACT VARIATIONS/EXTENSIONS

I confirm that CSO20, in my opinion, applies in this case.

The proposed variation/extension is as follows:

Reason for proposed variation/extension:

The Council’s Solicitor has confirmed that a variation/extension of the contract as set out 
above is lawful.

............................................                                  ..........................................
Solicitor                                                                     Date

 
The supplier is willing to vary the contract as set out above.

I confirm that the budget position remains as set out in section 1 above:

Signed: ...............................................                                         Date: .................................
Section 151 Officer

Having considered the above I recommend that the proposed variation/extension is 
approved.

 
Service Manager’s signature: ...........................................  Date:  ......................................... 

Page 158



Page 33 of 34

33
We agree the Service Manager’s recommendation (delete if not applicable):

Signed:  .............................................                                          Date: .................................
Mayor

Signed:  ..............................................                                          Date: ................................
Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy

Page 159



Page 34 of 34

34

Page 160


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 25 June 2019
	8 Mayor's Executive Report
	9 Former Assembly Rooms, Howgill Street
	10 Code of Conduct Update
	Appendix A - Code of Conduct procedure - Full Council 9 Sept 2019

	11 Bi-Annual Monitoring Officer Report
	12 Constitution Changes Relating to Planning
	Appendix A Summary of Proposed Constitutional Changes - Planning
	Appendix B Full Council Report 25 June 2019 - Constitution Changes for  Planning

	13 2019 - 2023 Commercial Strategy
	App A Draft CBC Commercialisation Strategy 2019-23 v1.0 Aug 2019

	14 Contract Standing Orders
	Appendix Contract standing orders final draft for Council 09.09.19


